University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Neuroscience

Neuroscience

2024

EFFECTS OF PANCREATIC AMYLIN ON THE PERIPHERAL AND CNS IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MODEL OF TYPE-2 DIABETIC BRAIN INJURY

Edric Da'Shon Winford *University of Kentucky*, ewinford08@gmail.com Author ORCID Identifier: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9497-7602 Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2024.37

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Winford, Edric Da'Shon, "EFFECTS OF PANCREATIC AMYLIN ON THE PERIPHERAL AND CNS IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MODEL OF TYPE-2 DIABETIC BRAIN INJURY" (2024). *Theses and Dissertations--Neuroscience*. 32. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/neurobio_etds/32

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Neuroscience at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Neuroscience by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Edric Da'Shon Winford, Student Ann M Stowe, PhD, Major Professor Warren Alilain, PhD, Director of Graduate Studies

EFFECTS OF PANCREATIC AMYLIN ON THE PERIPHERAL AND CNS IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MODEL OF TYPE-2 DIABETIC BRAIN INJURY

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Medicine at the University of Kentucky

By

Edric Da'Shon Winford

Lexington, Kentucky

Co-Directors: Dr. Ann Stowe, Professor of Neurology and Dr. Daniel Lee

Lexington, Kentucky

2024

Copyright © Edric Da'Shon Winford 2024 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9497-7602

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

EFFECTS OF PANCREATIC AMYLIN ON THE PERIPHERAL AND CNS IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MODEL OF TYPE-2 DIABETIC BRAIN INJURY

Type-2 diabetes (T2D) is a metabolic disorder that increases the risk for cerebrovascular disease and dementia and is associated with the progression of Alzheimer's Disease; however, the mechanisms responsible for T2D-associated dementia are still poorly understood. T2D leads to alterations of the innate and adaptive immune response that contribute to its progression, but how these cells contribute to cognitive decline during T2D is unknown. As there are no approved therapeutics for T2D that modulate the immune response, it is important that we investigate how peripheral immune cells contribute to cognitive decline during T2D. Amylin is an amyloidogenic hormone synthesized and co-secreted with insulin from pancreatic ß-cells that has been shown to contribute to the development and progression of T2D, cognitive decline, and AD pathology. Amylin deposits in the brain microvasculature and leads to cerebral amylin vasculopathy. We have shown that inducing amylin dyshomeostasis in rats by pancreaticspecific hypersecretion of human amylin (HIP rats) leads to cerebral amylin vasculopathy, neuroinflammation, and neurological deficits. Here, we tested the hypothesis that neuroinflammation caused by hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral immune response that alters the immune profiles of the brain. We used HIP rats to determine the relationship between neuroinflammation and the impact of amylin on the peripheral immune response and immune cell migration into the brain. Using RNA sequencing, we found that hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin leads to altered genes in the brain involved in neuroinflammation and immune cell signaling, such as antigen presentation, B cell development, and T cell responses. Immune profiling showed a decrease in splenic immune cells that, in turn, led to a decrease in immune cell migration to the brains of HIP rats. As well as alterations in the blood. We then found that amylin led to alterations in proteins responsible for immune cell migration into the brain, such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1. To determine how amylin

acutely impacted the immune response, we injected wild-type (WT) rats with aggregated amylin. We found that amylin led to immune alterations in the spleen and blood but no changes in the brain. Next, we sought to determine a mechanism for the dysregulated immune response seen in HIP rats. To do this, we used mice that also hypersecrete pancreatic human amylin (HIP mice). In HIP mice, we were able to replicate our results seen in rats, showing a reduction in lymphocyte population in the spleen. Furthermore, we found that high levels of amylin are able to cause immune cell dysregulation by affecting hematopoiesis and B cell development, characterized by alteration of B cells and B cell progenitors in the spleen and bone marrow and an overall decrease of B cells in the brain, through the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. These data show evidence for the role of pancreatic amylin and how it contributes to type-2 diabetic pathology by altering the peripheral and neuroimmune response. This gives rise to the potential for using immunotherapy to reverse and prevent the progression of type-2 diabetic cognitive decline.

KEYWORDS: Type-2 diabetes, pancreatic human amylin, immunity, neuroinflammation, B cells, CXCL12

Edric Da'Shon Winford

(Name of Student)

2-14-2024

Date

EFFECTS OF PANCREATIC AMYLIN ON THE PERIPHERAL AND CNS IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MODEL OF TYPE-2 DIABETIC BRAIN INJURY

By Edric Da'Shon Winford

> Ann M Stowe, PhD Co-Director of Dissertation

Daniel Lee, PhD Co-Director of Dissertation

Warren Alilain, PhD Director of Graduate Studies

2-14-2024

Date

To my family, friends, and loving fiancé for their eternal support in this journey. Also, to the black and brown children coming up behind me, anything is possible.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to acknowledge and thank everyone person I have encountered during my time at the University of Kentucky, mentioned and unmentioned. If I mentioned every meaningful encounter I have had during my time here, I could write a separate thesis. I truly believe that every encounter holds value and has a meaning that contributes to a person's overall growth, and without them, I would not have made It to this point.

To Dr. Ann Stowe, my #1 Mizzou fan, since the first day we met, you have been in my corner and have supported and encouraged me to go way further than I thought I could. And for that, I will be forever grateful. You helped me develop as a scientist and always challenged me to think deeper. I couldn't imagine completing this feat without your constant encouragement. You've always made yourself available to answer my thousands of questions, and I will always remember all the random talks we had about any and everything. Despite your KU ties, you will go down as my favorite KU alum.

To the Stowe lab, I would name you all, but there are a lot of names.... never mind, this is my thesis. To Thomas, Katie, Katherine, Daimen, Annabelle, Jenny, Amanda, Jadwiga, Pavel, Murphy, and Connor, thank you for welcoming me with open arms, for all your help and support, and for letting me distract you all when I did not want to work. I will never forget all the fun we had, and you all will always be my science family. I can't wait to see the great things you all will accomplish.

To Dr. Florin Despa, thank you for helping me become a better scientist and critical thinker. I learned a great deal from you and will always be grateful for your

iii

support and time spent. To former and current members of the Despa Lab, thank you for helping me develop my laboratory skills and supporting me throughout my journey.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank my committee members, Daniel Lee, Ph.D., Sanda Despa, Ph.D., and Chris Norris, Ph.D., for their advice and help in steering my dissertation project.

I would also like to thank Dr. Adam Bachstetter for his mentorship and for allowing me to gain invaluable experience working with him during my time here. Your contribution to my scientific growth is greatly appreciated. Furthermore, I would like to thank him for allowing me to pop into his office and bounce ideas off him and ask random questions.

To all the CGPDI staff, former and current, thank you for your constant support and for providing me with a home away from home. To my many friends that I have gained through the Neuroscience department, SCOBRIC, BGPSA, CGPDI, and all over campus, thank you. We kept each other motivated and made memories that will last forever. A special shoutout to the big three, Colleen and Lucy, I don't think I would've made it through IBS years or any of these years for that manner without you two. And thanks to Colleen for not scaring her every time I came to visit her. A special shoutout is mandatory for Zel, who has kept me in line and out of trouble during my time here. I will miss all of our great talks and procrastination, there will never be another.

To Dr. Whiteheart, you no longer have to ask me," When am I getting out of here?" I am done. Thank you for all your support and wisdom.

iv

To my brothers, I have gained through the oldest and coldest fraternity of Alpha Phi Alpha: Dr. Rodney Jackson, Desmond, Tymon, Mario, and Jamaal; you are all greatly appreciated for your support and encouragement. In all transparency, it is done. Onwards and Upwards.

To my amazing, loving fiancé, Dr. Chelsea Facison, words cannot express how grateful I am to have met you through this journey. You have been a light during my dark days and an amazing support. I'm not sure how I would've made it these last couple of years without your encouragement. I love you so very much.

I want to thank my family for supporting me and for their continuous encouragement throughout this journey. To my AMAZING parents, without you guys, there is no me, so there is no Ph.D. You have pushed me to be the best version of myself and to stay the course while supporting me through it all. The words "If it was easy, everyone would do it" ring in my ears; I am not sure if it helped, but here we are. I am forever grateful. To my siblings, Kyla, Elijah, BJ, Deja, and Eli, thank you all for your constant love and support. Love you all.

My journey through graduate school has been long, it was not easy, but I grew as a person and gained invaluable experiences and skills that will allow me to overcome any obstacle I am faced with. To all those mentioned and unmentioned: Thank you.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
List of Abbreviations	xiii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Type 2 Diabetes, Amylin, and Cognitive Decline	1
1.2 Amylin: Roles in health and disease	3
1.2A Overview of amylin	3
1.2B Amylin in Satiation	4
1.2C Amylin and T2D	5
1.2C.1 Apoptosis	6
1.2C.2 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Stress	7
1.2C.3 Autophagy	8
1.2C.4 Cytokine-mediated inflammation	9
1.2C.5 Metabolism	9
1.2D Human amylin, cerebrovascular impairment, and cognitive decline	11
1.2E Amylin and Alzheimer's disease	14
1.3 Peripheral immune responses during T2D	16
1.3A Innate immunity: Monocytes/macrophages	16
1.3B Innate immunity: Neutrophils	19
1.3C Adaptive immunity: T helper cells	20
1.3D Adaptive immunity: cytotoxic T cells	22
1.3E Adaptive immunity: B cells	23
1.3E.1 B cells development and function	23
1.3E.1 B cells in T2D	24
1.4 Neuroimmune responses during T2D	26
1.4A Infiltration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS	26
1.4B T2D and the blood-brain barrier	27
1.4C T2D and other CNS cells	29

1.5 CXCL12/CXCR4 axis	
1.5A Overview of CXCL12/CXCR4	
1.5B CXCL12/CXCR4 and T2D	32
1.5B.1 Diabetic Wound Healing	
1.5B.2 Diabetic Neuropathy	
1.5B.3 Diabetic Nephropathy	34
1.5C CXCL12/CXCR4 in CNS and CNS-related disorders	34
1.5C.1 Stroke	35
1.5C.2 Multiple Sclerosis	37
1.5C.3 Parkinson's Disease	
1.5C.4 Alzheimer's Disease	
1.6 Animal models of amylin-induced T2D	40
1.6.A Mouse models of T2D	41
1.7 Conclusion	43
Chapter 2: Methods	44
2.1 Rats and Mice	44
2.2 Mice and rat tissue collection	45
2.3 Flow cytometry	46
2.4 Tissue homogenization	57
2.5 Western blot	57
2.6 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	58
2.7 Amylin Aggregation and injection	59
2.8 RNAseq analysis	59
2.9 Rt-PCR	60
2.10 Statistical Analysis	62
Chapter 3: The neuroimmune axis in T2D	63
3.1 Introduction	63
3.2 Results in HIP rats	67
3.2.1 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin alters genes important for	
neuroinflammation and immune signaling in the brains of HIP rats	67

	3.2.2 Hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral immune
	response in rats71
	3.2.3 Hypersecretion of human amylin leads to deficits in
	immune cells migration into the CNS74
	3.2.4 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human alters CXCR4 expression on CD4 ⁺ T cells in
	the spleen74
	3.2.5 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin does not alter CXCL12 in the brain
	but alters cell adhesion molecules (CAMs)
	3.2.6 Aggregate human leads to an altered acute immune response in WT rats
	3.2.7 Aggregated human immune does not induce lymphocyte cell migration into the
	brain
	3.2.8 Aggregated human amylin alters the CXCR4 expression in the periphery but not
	CXCL12 in the brain
	3.3 Results in HIP mice
	3.3.1 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral
	immune response in mice similar to HIP rats
	3.3.2 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin decreases B cell frequency in the
	brains of mice
	3.3.3 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to bone marrow failure97
	3.3.4 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to deficits in hematopoiesis .102
	3.3.5 Direct evidence of dysregulation of B cell development in HIP mice102
	3.3.6 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human leads to alters the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis on
	B cells in mice
(Chapter 4: Conclusion & Discussion
4	.1 Conclusion
	4.2 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on gene expression alterations in the
	brains of HIP rats
	4.3 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on the
	peripheral immune response in HIP rats
	4.4 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on the peripheral immune cell
	migration to the brain in HIP rats

4.5 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on lymphopenia and bone marrow	
failure in HIP mice	115
4.6 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on B lymphopoiesis in HIP mic	e116
4.7 Targeting hematopoiesis, lymphopenia, and bone marrow failure	117
4.8 Targeting Inflammation & Immunotherapies	119
4.9 Lifestyle choices as a therapeutic	123
4.10 Sex differences	124
4.11 Technical & Experimental Limitations	125
4.12 Remaining questions and concluding remarks	128
4.12A What are the phenotypes of the T and B cells?	128
4.12B What is the impact of the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin on s	skull
bone marrow and meningeal lymphatics?	129
4.13 Thesis Summary: The major findings in this work and their implications in t	he
field	130
References	133
Vita	158

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Antibodies used for rats	48
Table 2.2 Antibodies used for mice	49
Table 2.3 Antibodies used for B cell panel in mice	50
Table 2.4 qPCR Gene Primers	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 3.11: Aggregated human amylin induces acute proliferation of CD4+ T cells in the
spleen after 2 weeks of injections
Fig. 3.12: Aggregated human amylin induces acute proliferation of CD4+ T cells in the
blood after 2 weeks of injections
Fig. 3.13: Aggregated human amylin does impact immune cell migration after 1 week of
injections
Fig. 3.14: Aggregated human amylin does not impact immune cell migration after 2
weeks of injections
Figure 3.15: Aggregated human amylin does not change CXCR4 expression on
splenocytes
Figure 3.16: Aggregated human does not lead to acute changes in CXCL12 expression in
the brain94
Figure 3.17: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to lymphopenia and
alterations of the frequency of immune cells in the spleens of HIP mice96
Figure 3.18: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to decreased B cell
migration into the brain
Figure 3.19: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to sequestration of
immune cells in the bone marrow except B cells100
Figure 3.20: Hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin of HSPCs in the
bone marrow of HIP mice104
Figure 3.21: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impairs B cell lymphopoiesis in
the bone marrow of HIP mice105
Figure 3.22: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impairs B cell lymphopoiesis in
the spleens of HIP mice
Figure 3.23: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to increased expression of
CXCR4 on developing B cells HIP mice107
Figure 4.1: Mechanisms of peripheral and CNS immune alterations due to hypersecretion
of pancreatic human amylin as it related to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline132

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Definition
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
AD	Alzheimer's Disease
IR	Insulin resistance
PD	Parkinson's Disease
CNS	Central nervous system
IAPP	Islet amyloid polypeptide
PC2	Prohormone convertase 2
PC1/3	Prohormone convertase 1/3
CPE	Carboxypeptidase E
WT	Wild-type
AP	Area postrema
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CTR	Calcitonin receptor
RAMPS	Receptor activity modifying proteins
WAF1	Wildtype p53-activated fragment 1
CIP1	CDK2-interacting protein
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
СНОР	C/EBP homologous protein
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
XBP-1	X-box binding protein 1
ATF4	Activating transcription factor 4
UCH-L1	Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1

HSP90	Heat shock protein 90
LCB	Long chain base
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
IL	Interleukin
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
PPP	Pentose phosphate pathway
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid cycle
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
PFKB3	6-phosphofrcutose-2kinase/fructose-2, 6- biphosphotase 3
Αβ	Amyloid beta
HNE	4-hydroxynonenal
MDA	Malondialdehyde
UCD	UC Davis
NLRP3	NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3
АКО	Amylin-knockout
HFD	High-fat diet
FJC	Fluro-jade C
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
PS1	Presenilin 1
fAD	Familial AD
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangles
AT	Adipose tissue

Tregs	Regulatory T cells
T _h 17	T helper 17
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IFN	Interferon
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
LTB4	Leukotriene B4
CX3CL1	Fractalkine
SEMA3E	Semaphorin 3L
MIF	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor
Fcy	Fc-gamma
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NK	Natural killer
LFA-3	Lymphocyte function associated antigen-3
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
HbA1c	hemoglobin A1c
MHC II	Major histocompatibility complex class II
TCR	T cell receptor
STAT6	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
BM	Bone marrow
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
SCA-1	Stem cell antigen-1
MPP	Multipotential progenitor
LMPP	Lymphoid primed multipotential progenitor
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
EBF	Early B cell factor

TCF3	Transcription factor 3
Pax5	Paired box 5
CXCL12	C-X-X motif chemokine 12
FLT3	Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
GFP	Green-fluorescent protein
WNV	West Nile virus
CAMs	Cell adhesion molecules
NVU	Neurovascular unit
ZO-1	Zonula occludens-1
VE	Vascular endothelial
TREM1	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
PBGF	Pre-B cell growth factor
SDF-1a	Stromal cell-derived factor 1a
LESTR	Leukocyte-derived seven-transmembrane domain receptor
WHIM	Warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, immunodeficiency, myelokathexis
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
NIHSS	National Institutes of Health Stroke Scores
IL3	Innate lymphoid cell type 3
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
OPCs	Oligodendrocyte precursor cells

RHP	Repetitive hypoxia reconditioning
MS	Multiple sclerosis
EAE	Experimental autoimmune
	encephalomyelitis
SN	Substantia nigra
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
NIH	National Institutes of Health
HBSS	Hanks balanced salt solution
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
RBCs	Red blood cells
RPMI	Roswell Park memorial institute
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-
	piperazineethanesulfonic acid
MEM	Minimal essential medium
NEAA	Non-essential amino acid
RT	Room temperature
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
FMO	Fluorescence-minus-one
HSPCs	Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells
HCL	Hydrochloric acid
EGTA	Ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
ICAM-1	Intracellular adhesion molecule 1
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
SDS_PAGE	Sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

IHC	Immunohistochemistry
QUIVER	Quantitative multiplex Immunohistochemistry with Visual colorimetric staining to Enhance Regional protein localization
DE	Differentially expressed
IPA	Ingenuity Pathway Analyses
GO	Gene Ontology
DAVID	Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery
СТ	Cycle threshold
Rt-PCR	real-time PCR
SEM	Standard area of mean
DEGs	Differentially expressed genes
RT1-S3	RT1 class Ib, locus S3
RT1-A1	RT1 class Ia, locus A1
RT1-Db2	Rt1 class II, locus Db2
RT1-DOa	RT1 class II, locus Doa
Lag3	Lymphocyte activating gene 3
NOD	Non-obese diabetic
SCI	Spinal cord injury
LT-HSCs	Long term-hematopoietic stem cells
ST-HSCs	Short term-hematopoietic stem cells
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PD-L1	Programmed cell death ligand 1
IGF-1	Insulin growth factor 1
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 Type 2 Diabetes, Amylin, and Cognitive Decline

Type-2 diabetes (T2D) is a metabolic disorder characterized by high glucose levels, leading to insulin resistance and pancreatic β cell dysfunction.⁽¹⁾ It is also a risk factor for many disorders, such as heart failure, stroke, and, more recently, dementia. Globally, T2D affects over 400 million people and is in the "top 10" for mortality,⁽²⁾ making it a growing concern as studies have estimated that by 2040, there will be over 600 million individuals with T2D.⁽³⁾ Dementia, also a global health concern, is characterized by a progressive decline in cognitive abilities, the most common form of dementia being Alzheimer's disease (AD).⁽⁴⁾ AD affects more than 50 million people while costing healthcare more than \$500 billion annually.⁽⁵⁾ Studies have shown that T2D increases the risk for dementia and cognitive decline,^(6, 7) suggesting that the increase in the number of individuals with T2D will result in an increase in individuals developing dementia. Although the mechanisms responsible for T2D-associated dementia are still mostly unknown, studies have shown that some mechanisms that contribute include hyperglycemia, insulin resistance (IR), inflammation, hypertension, and microvascular disease.⁽⁸⁾

In our lab, we focus on how amylin contributes to cognitive decline and AD pathology. Amylin is a pancreatic β -cell hormone important in regulating satiety.⁽⁹⁾ In individuals with T2D, it aggregates, leading to pancreatic β -cell dysfunction and contributes to the development of T2D.^(10, 11) Histologic studies from our lab and others have shown that amylin deposits in the small vessels of the brains of patients with T2D and dementia.^(12, 13) In rats that hypersecrete human amylin in the pancreas (i.e., HIP

rats), amyloid-forming amylin leads to the accumulation of amylin deposition in the brain, neuroinflammation, defined by glial activation, and increases in inflammatory cytokines, leading to cognitive decline.⁽¹³⁻¹⁵⁾ Together, these studies suggest a pathological function of amylin in the brain and links between T2D and amylin-induced cognitive decline.

As T2D leads to inflammation and immune dyshomeostasis,⁽¹⁶⁾ the overlap of how these factors contribute to T2D-induced neuroinflammation and cognitive decline is still poorly understood. The peripheral immune response plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of T2D. We and other labs have shown that T2D leads to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline.^(13, 14, 17, 18) However, it is currently unclear how the peripheral immune response contributes to these pathologies. As studies have begun to elucidate the role of the peripheral immune response and how it modulates neuroinflammation and subsequent cognitive decline in diseases such as AD and Parkinson's disease (PD),^(19, 20) it is important to understand how the peripheral immune response is associated with T2D-induced cognitive decline to find immunotherapies for slowing disease progression caused by T2D.

The following Introduction will give a brief overview of the current knowledge surrounding T2D-induced cognitive decline in relation to amylin, including its role in pancreatic dysfunction and diabetic complications. This chapter will also discuss research on the peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) immune system during T2D and related mechanisms, specific chemokine roles in immune system development and activation during disease, peripheral inflammation as it relates to cognitive decline, as

well as what neuro-immune mechanisms have been identified known in other neurodegenerative diseases and mouse models of T2D.

1.2 Amylin: Roles in health and disease

1.2A Overview of amylin

Islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP) or amylin is a hormone peptide co-secreted with insulin by the pancreatic β -cells⁽⁹⁾. It was discovered in 1901 independently by two researchers and was initially named "islet hyalinization", due to the hyaline material found in the pancreas.^(21, 22) It wasn't until later that researchers confirmed that the hyaline substance shared the characteristics of amyloid,^(23, 24) with the peptide for amylin first isolated from T2D patients in 1987.⁽²⁵⁾ It was later named IAPP due to its secretion from pancreatic β -cells and propensity to aggregate into insoluble amyloid fibers.⁽²⁶⁻²⁹⁾ Amylin is a 37-amino acid long peptide derived from pre-pro-amylin, an 89-amino acid peptide that contains 22-amino acid N-terminal signal peptide, and two short flanking peptides. The signal peptide is removed in the endoplasmic reticulum to produce a 67amino acid pro-amylin. Pro-amylin contains cleavage sites for endoproteases prohormone convertase 2 (PC2), prohormone convertase 1/3 (PC1/3), and by carboxypeptidase E (CPE) in the Golgi to produce mature amylin peptide. Pro-amylin is fully converted to mature amylin in the β -cells secretory vesicles where insulin is also stored.⁽⁹⁾

Studies have shown that amylin is expressed in different organs throughout the body. As well as being expressed in pancreatic β -cells, amylin is also expressed in pancreatic δ -cells in rats and mice.⁽⁹⁾ Outside of the pancreas, it has been found in the rat, mouse, cat, and human gastrointestinal tract⁽³⁰⁾ as well as the kidney⁽³¹⁾. In the CNS, amylin is found in primary sensory neurons in mice and rats.⁽³²⁾ In chickens, amylin is

mainly expressed in the brain and the intestine, and smaller amounts are found in the pancreas.⁽³³⁾ While amylin is expressed in these different animal species, it does not form amyloid in rodents due to a lack of fibrollogenicity. This is mainly due to the differences in the IAPP20-29 region, where in rats/mice, there are three proline residues preventing it from being amyloidogenic.⁽³⁴⁾ Other species where amylin is amyloidogenic, in addition to humans, include cats, dogs, and monkeys.⁽⁹⁾

1.2B Amylin in Satiation

One of the first studied roles for amylin is its importance in controlling food uptake in the body, otherwise known as satiation. Through endocrine signaling, amylin regulates how much a person eats⁽³⁵⁾. Studies have shown that there is an immediate increase of plasma amylin minutes after the meal begins and food is consumed, causing a loss of appetite.^(36, 37) To determine how important amylin was in regulating appetite, studies were performed using exogenous amylin and amylin antagonism. When endogenous amylin was administered, it reduced eating by up to 50%, while amylin receptor antagonist AC187 reversed this action and increased eating and meal size.⁽³⁸⁾ To further show the importance of amylin in feeding, studies using global amylin-deficient mice were used in which the mice displayed overeating and adiposity compared to their wild-type (WT) counterparts. When these mice were given amylin endogenously, it reduced eating similarly to WT counterparts.⁽³⁹⁾

The mechanisms underlying amylin's important role in satiety are mediated by the primary site for amylin receptors in the brain: the area postrema (AP), a circumventricular organ that lacks a blood-brain barrier (BBB).⁽⁴⁰⁾ The core binding site for amylin in the AP is the calcitonin receptor (CTR). The CTR is a heterodimer with two

subtypes (A and B) plus receptor activity modifying proteins (RAMPS). Amylin specifically binds to the CTR when co-expressed with one of the known RAMPS in the same cell, RAMP1 or 3.⁽⁴¹⁻⁴⁵⁾ For amylin to bind CTRs, RAMPs confer specificity to amylin by altering CTR pharmacology from calcitonin-preferring to amylin-preferring receptors. RAMPS then regulates the transport of the core receptors to the cell surface and their glycosylation state and, therefore, influences ligand specificity.^(42, 46)

Studies confirmed that amylin activates neurons in the AP, and when amylin is exogenously administered into the AP, food intake is inhibited. ^(47, 48) The threshold at which amylin activates AP-localized neurons is near circulating blood levels, which is around 10⁻⁸ M. ^(47, 49) Furthermore, peripheral amylin induces the expression of c-Fos in the AP⁽⁵⁰⁻⁵²⁾; c-fos is a cellular activation marker that shows amylin activates cells within the AP. When AC187 is administered in the AP, the amylin-induced c-Fos expression is also inhibited. Additional studies show that lesioning the AP or injecting it with AC187 both block the effect of peripherally administered amylin to increase food intake, ^(38, 48, 49) and decrease c-fos expression. These studies suggest that functioning AP neurons are essential for amylin to mediate its effect on food intake.

1.2C Amylin and T2D

Although amylin's physiologic role is in satiety, its production also has pathological consequences. Multiple studies confirm that amylin is important in developing T2D. Individuals with T2D become insulin resistant, leading to pancreatic β cell failure due to pancreatic β -cell exhaustion.⁽⁵³⁾ As a consequence of insulin resistance and to correct it, the pancreatic β -cells increase insulin production, leading to a decrease in β -cell mass and function and subsequent IR.^(9, 54) In the pancreas, amylin is cosecreted with insulin by β -cells.⁽²⁹⁾ As the pancreas over secretes insulin, more amylin is also produced, leading to amylin deposition in hearts⁽⁵⁵⁾ and kidneys⁽⁵⁶⁾ in patients with T2D and in brains.⁽¹³⁾ Studies have shown that the increase of aggregated amylin in the pancreas contributes to β -cell dysfunction, further contributing to the pathogenesis of T2D through various mechanisms mentioned below:

1.2C.1 Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death used to regulate tissue homeostasis. It is characterized by cell shrinkage, chromatin condensation, internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, and disassembly into membrane-encircled bodies (i.e., apoptotic bodies).⁽⁵⁷⁾ In the case of T2D, there is excess apoptosis leading to increased cell death of pancreatic β -cells. Early studies in monkey-kidney COS (CV-1 simian-derived cells transformed by simian virus 40) cells transfected with the human amylin gene show that amylin is cytotoxic and causes an increase in cell death and apoptotic cells independent of insulin.^(58, 59) Studies also showed that incubating pancreatic β -cells with amylin alone also caused an increase in cell death and apoptotic cells.^(10, 60) Incubation of amylin induced the expression of apoptotic markers, including p-53, cyclin D1 (Bcl-1), and wildtype p53-activated fragment 1 (WAF1)/CDK2-interacting protein (CIP1), suggesting that the mechanism of cell death was due to apoptosis. Studies also showed that oxidative stress contributes to pancreatic β - cell apoptosis after amylin incubation as increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) were correlated with apoptosis.^(61, 62)

Although the signaling pathways responsible for amylin-induced β -cell apoptosis are not fully elucidated, studies suggest that the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway is essential. The JNK pathway is a known pro-apoptotic stress pathway in pancreatic β -

cells. In-vitro studies show that after amylin incubation, c-Jun and JNK expression was increased in pancreatic β -cells⁽⁶³⁻⁶⁵⁾ and mediated by caspases -1, -3, and -8, which are also pro-apoptotic.⁽⁶⁴⁾ Blocking these pathways and caspases significantly inhibited β -cell apoptosis. Rodent studies employing transgenic mice and rats that endogenously hypersecrete human amylin confirm its contribution to the apoptosis of pancreatic β -cells. Accumulation of amylin leads to β -cell mass and increased β -cell apoptosis and the induction of apoptotic pathways such as pathways such as the C/EBP homologoues protein (CHOP)⁽⁶⁶⁾ and receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE).⁽⁶⁷⁾ These studies confirm that the accumulation of amylin is an important mediator of apoptosis during the pathogenesis of T2D.

1.2C.2 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Stress

Another hallmark that contributes to pancreatic β -cell death during the pathogenesis of T2D is ER stress. The ER is responsible for the homeostatic control of proteins, specifically how misfolded proteins are targeted for degradation by the ubiquitin/proteasome system. The removal of misfolded proteins prevents protein accumulation that triggers ER stress.⁽⁶⁸⁾ In-vivo studies using mice that express human amylin in the pancreas showed that amylin causes an accumulation of polyubiquitinated proteins and associated ER stress markers such as X-box binding protein 1 (XBP-1), CHOP and activating transcription factor 4 (ATF-4),⁽⁶⁹⁾ although other studies report these markers are not changed in islets from human amylin transgenic mice.⁽⁶⁶⁾ Studies in HIP rats and in humans with T2D also show an accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins that were associated with a decreased expression of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1), a deubiquitinating protein that is abundant in β -cells.⁽⁷⁰⁾ UCH-L1 is required

for proteins to be targeted for degradation and released so that they can gain access to the proteasome and become monomerized. Deficiencies in UCH-L1 impair ubiquitindependent protein degradation and result in the accumulation of highly ubiquitinated proteins. Furthermore, studies show that amylin increases ER stress proteins in the heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) family, such as HSP90B1 and HSP90AA1 in human pancreatic islets.⁽⁷¹⁾ Misfolded proteins need to be removed for cellular recovery during ER stress, lest accumulation of unfolded proteins impairs the proteasome system leading to the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins and ER stress.

1.2C.3 Autophagy

Another mechanism that contributes to T2D pathology is impaired autophagy signaling. Autophagy is important in preventing cell death by removing irregular organelles and proteins. In-vitro studies show that amylin causes a formation of autophagosomes and changes of long chain base (LCB) I to II.⁽⁷²⁾ Studies in HIP rats show that in the pancreas of HIP rats, there are also increases of LC3-1 and 2 and p62, indicating an increase in autophagosomes and decreased p62 lysosomal degradation.⁽⁷³⁾ This was also shown in mice that are transgenic for human amylin. These results were also validated in-vitro using insulinoma cells. Loss of p62 made cells more vulnerable to amylin-induced cytotoxicity, and increased apoptosis marker caspase-3 and overexpression reversed these impacts and rescued cells. And increasing autophagy using rapamycin saved cells as well. Studies also show that when autophagy is decreased, T2D phenotypes are exacerbated in-vitro and in amylin mice, along with increased p62 inclusion, amylin oligomers, oxidative stress,⁽⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶⁾ whereas an autophagy enhancer helps⁽⁷⁷⁾.

1.2C.4 Cytokine-mediated inflammation

Patients with T2D exhibit an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines in both prediabetic and diabetic states. These cytokines include C- reactive protein, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1RA, and IL-1 β , ⁽⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰⁾ though most studies focus on IL-1 β as most inflammatory cytokines are IL-1-dependent and blocking IL-1 reduces inflammation.⁽⁸¹⁻⁸³⁾ In-vitro studies found that amylin can increase proinflammatory IL-1 β in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated monocytes and microglia. In addition to IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 were also induced in LPS-stimulated monocytes but no microglia.^(84, 85) In human glioma cells, amylin stimulated the production of IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-8,⁽⁸⁴⁾ showing the potential importance of human amylin in causing inflammation. In bone marrow (BM)-derived dendritic cells and macrophages, amylin activated the inflammasome and IL-1 β production again after LPS stimulation. This same study confirmed this in-vivo using mice that hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin (HIP mice) to show that induction of IL-1 β occurs directly in the pancreatic islets during accumulation of amylin.⁽⁸⁶⁾ In addition, more recent studies using ribonucleic acid (RNA)seq analysis of pancreatic islets from HIP mice identified increased gene expression for markers of inflammation similar to islets from humans with T2D.⁽⁸⁷⁾

1.2C.5 Metabolism

At the cellular level, metabolic regulation is important to generate the energy needed for cellular processes. It is well known, however, that alterations in metabolism contribute to the development of T2D in humans^(88, 89). Early studies in our lab suggest that the accumulation of amylin causes alteration in several metabolites in the heart, liver, plasma, and brains of HIP rats. Some of the key pathways altered by human amylin were

the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), and gluconeogenesis, establishing early how amylin causes alterations in metabolic functions⁽⁹⁰⁾. Other labs have shown that amylin also activates the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1α)/6-phosphofrcutose-2kinase/fructose-2, 6-biphosphotase 3 (PFKB3) stress response pathway^(91, 92). HIF-1 α is a stress response protein that has been shown to be an important regulator of metabolism in cancer, as well as foundational for hypoxiainduced signaling in peripheral and neurodegenerative disorders⁽⁹³⁻⁹⁵⁾. Studies have shown that in the pancreatic β -cells and failing hearts of patients with T2D, HIF-1 α is decreased and increasing HIF-1 α reverses the diabetic phenotype.^(96, 97) PFKB3 is a master regulator of glycolysis⁽⁹⁸⁾ that recent studies found is important for glucose metabolism, mitochondrial metabolism, glycolipid synthesis, and the PPP.^(91, 92) In the pancreatic β -cells of patients with T2D it is increased⁽⁹¹⁾ and the silencing of PFKB3 reverses the diabetic phenotype in rodents.⁽⁹⁹⁾ These studies suggest that the HIF- 1α /PFKB3 pathway has protective functions during the pathogenesis of T2D. Studies focusing on how amylin contributes to this pathway have found that in contrast to previous studies, nuclear expression of HIF-1 α is increased as the same with PFKB3 in pancreatic β -cells from patients with T2D and in HIP rats.⁽⁹¹⁾ Later studies also found that the accumulation of amylin in failing hearts in non-human primates was also associated with the upregulation of both HIF-1a and PFKB3.⁽⁹²⁾. Silencing of HIF-1a and PFKB3 in pancreatic β -cells in these studies restored amylin-mediated metabolic dysfunction by restoring glycolysis and TCA function and apoptotic stress to pancreatic β -cells, showing the importance of this pathway in the pathogenesis of amylin mediated T2D. These

studies show that the HIF1- α /PFKB3 is important in T2D and in amylin-mediated T2D, but more studies need to be conducted as there are contradictory results.

1.2D Human amylin, cerebrovascular impairment, and cognitive decline

Studies from our lab found that even in the absence of amyloid beta $(A\beta)$ pathology, amylin is still able to deposit in the brain and induce neurological deficits such as decreased exploratory drive and impaired rotarod in HIP rats. These rats also experience an increase in inflammation including TNF- α , IL-6, microglia activation, and a decrease in anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL- $10^{(14)}$. HIP rats exhibit an increase in lipid peroxidation shown by increased 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA) and IL-1 β in neurons that were positive for amylin in the brains compared to control animals⁽¹⁰⁰⁾. This was also confirmed in-vitro by incubating neurons with amylin, as they also increased lipid peroxidation and IL-1 β production. Since HIP rats exhibit hyperglycemia, we wanted to confirm that the findings were due to increased amylin and not hyperglycemia. To do this we used UC Davis (UCD) T2D rats that establish hyperglycemia but only have non-amyloidogenic rodent amylin. Lipid peroxidation and IL-1 β production levels were the same in UCD rats as compared to WT controls, confirming that human amylin was responsible for their upregulation. These data suggest that amylin is able to activate the NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3 (NRLP3) inflammasome pathway. Later studies using HIP rats show that at a later age, HIP rats still see increased neurological deficits and white matter injury shown by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Areas of neurological injury associated with cerebral microhemorrhages and astrocyte activation surrounding amylin deposition leading to a decrease in BBB integrity ⁽¹³⁾(Fig 1.1). These results were validated using amylin-

knockout (AKO) rats injected with amylin showing that these results were secondary to amylin and not T2D-related hyperglycemia.

As these studies focused on rats, although not many studies focus on brain pathology in HIP mice, we also show that mice similar phenotypes exist. When WT mice were also injected with amylin which induced an increase of lipid peroxidation and IL-1 β production confirming that amylin secretion alone directly impacts the brain independent of hyperglycemia in a second animal species.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ Mice that hypersecrete amylin in the pancreas and with a high-fat diet (HFD) display amylin accumulation in the brain starting at 6 months of age and increasing significantly by 12 months. At 12 months, these mice exhibit neural degeneration and aging in the hippocampus, as shown by increased flurojade C (FJC) positive cells and β -galactosidase staining.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ They also showed reductions of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) in the hippocampus as well as impaired cognitive deficits such as passive learning, memory, and social learning abilities⁽¹⁰¹⁾.


Figure 1.1: Mechanisms of neuroinflammation and cognitive decline due to the

hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin.

1.2E Amylin and Alzheimer's disease

Studies in our lab and others have shown that amylin also aggregates in the brain and is present in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of AD patients.^(12, 100, 102-105) Patients with T2D exhibit amylin deposits in blood vessels and perivascular spaces in the brain that are not typically found in patients without T2D. Furthermore, in patients with late-onset AD without diabetes, amylin deposition was also found in the brain, with mixed amylin and A β deposition in the plaques. Amylin-A β plaque formation in the brains of patients with AD was later confirmed^(102, 103) in addition to identification of amylin cross-seeding with A β in the brains of HIP mice injected with A β .⁽¹⁰³⁾ Collectively, these were the first studies to show that circulating amylin from the pancreas can get into brain regions with ostensibly intact BBB potentially to contributing to cognitive decline in patients with AD and T2D.

Studies in our lab also show that in patients with AD, amylin deposits directly in neurons.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ This neuronal deposition of amylin associated with an increase of peroxidative membrane injury in the pancreas of the patients and increased IL-1 β levels surrounding amylin-positive neurons, highlighting an interplay of several of the aforementioned pathologic mechanisms. We also showed that amyloid precursor protein (APP)/presenilin 1 (PS1) rats that hypersecrete pancreatic human amylin (APP/PS1/HIP rat) display increased amylin- A β seeding in cerebral blood vessels as well as perivascular spaces, both associated with increased markers for inflammatory macrophages/microglia (e.g, CD68, CD11b).⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ Furthermore, individuals with familial AD (fAD) carrying the mutation for PS1 presented with higher amounts of amylin and greater A β_{42} levels in the brains compared to cognitively normal controls.⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ This study

confirmed in APP/PS1/HIP rats that AD-like pathology is increased through amylin-A β cross seeding.

Studies also show that amylin can deposit into pericytes in patients with AD. Pericytes are mural cells that line the capillaries in the brain, which have shown to be important in BBB integrity and blood flow.⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ Loss of pericytes in mouse models of AD lead to accumulation of A β plaques, which was associated with neuronal loss and cognitive decline.⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ The accumulation amylin on pericytes was associated with altered morphology, decreased expression of pericyte markers, and pericyte cell death^(104, 105). Recent studies have also investigated the relationship between amylin and tau. Tau is a protein that becomes misfolded during AD similar to A β , that studies have also shown leads to neuroinflammation and contribute to cognitive decline.⁽¹⁰⁹⁾ As A β has been shown to interact with amylin so has tau. Including its interaction with amylin in the hippocampus of patients with AD and T2D it has also been shown to interact with amylin in the pancreas ⁽¹¹⁰⁾, suggesting that amylin may contribute to AD pathology by interacting with tau as well as A β .

While these studies focus on the interaction between amylin and $A\beta$ in the brain, studies have shown that amylin is also deposited in the retina of patients with AD. Retinal amylin deposition correlated with pericyte numbers and decreased angiogenesis in the retina,⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ suggesting that amylin can prevent the formation of new vessels in the retina. Furthermore, they found that amylin levels in the retina were correlated with amylin levels in the hippocampus and later the same lab found that retinal amylin levels correlated with neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and $A\beta$ scores^(105, 111) in patients with AD. These studies suggest that amylin is not only present in the retina but could potentially

contribute pathologically by binding with $A\beta$ and impairing retinal function, which may in fact be a highly accessible biomarker for similar parenchymal pathology in AD.

1.3 Peripheral immune responses during T2D

As highlighted above, during T2D there is an array of immune-related complications that arise, which contribute to the pathogenesis of T2D-related secondary complications. Most studies focusing on peripheral immunity in T2D are focused on obesity-associated T2D. Thus, innate and adaptive immunity are generally studied in the context of adipose tissue (AT) and hyperglycemia. During obesity-related T2D, the environment shifts from a homeostatic to a pro-inflammatory environment due to a decrease in anti-inflammatory cell types such as regulatory T cells (Tregs), Immunoglobulin M (IgM)-producing B-1 cells, and M2 macrophages. These beneficial immune subsets are replaced with pro-inflammatory cell types including CD8⁺ T cells, T helper 17 (T_h17) cells, antibody producing B-2 cells, and M1 macrophages.⁽¹¹²⁻¹¹⁵⁾ These pro-inflammatory cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines (highlighted in Section 2.3.4), which further contribute to the progression of T2D through pancreatic β-cell dysfunction, glucose intolerance, and IR.

1.3A Innate immunity: Monocytes/macrophages

Macrophages are popular due to their accumulation in AT and pleotropic functions. Macrophages are often classified as either pro-inflammatory (i.e., M1) or antiinflammatory (i.e., M2). M1 macrophages are induced by pro-inflammatory mediators such as LPS and interferon (IFN)-y and can secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-1β, inducible (i)NOS, and TNF-α. M2 macrophages are induced by cytokines (e.g., IL-4, IL-13) and secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-10, IL-1 decov receptor, arginase) to play vital roles in tissue repair, angiogenesis, and resolution of inflammation.⁽¹¹⁶⁾ However, it should be noted that studies have shown that this nomenclature should be avoided as macrophages are more complex than M1 and M2, being in most cases these markers in most cases overlap.⁽¹¹⁷⁾ To address previous studies, we will keep in line with the M1 and M2 nomenclature as described by studies mentioned. Studies in humans focusing on macrophages have shown that macrophages in AT expressed higher levels of inflammatory genes such as IL1 β , IL6, IL8, TNFA, and CCL3, displayed transcripts for T cell recruitment.⁽¹¹⁸⁾ This confirms a pro-inflammatory phenotype during obesity and T2D, but also suggests macrophages may play a direct role in initiating the adaptive immune response. The same study suggested that there was a positive association between M1/M2 ratio and $IR^{(118)}$ but other studies in non-obese humans with and without T2D show no relationship.⁽¹¹⁹⁾ Furthermore, other studies in patients with T2D show that CD14⁺ macrophages in AT were associated with obesity and IR.⁽¹²⁰⁾ Weight loss following bariatric surgery in obese subjects decreased activated macrophages and proinflammatory T cells in AT⁽¹²¹⁾ and peripheral blood,⁽¹²²⁻¹²⁴⁾ suggesting the T2D-induced pro-inflammatory immune state can be modulated by lifestyle interventions.

Studies in animal models of T2D and obesity show that macrophages are the most abundant cell type in AT, with a variety of chemokines upregulated during the inflammatory response.⁽¹²⁵⁾ In general, 40%-60% of AT immune cells are macrophages in obese mice compared to 10-15% in lean mice.^(126, 127) Control mice also exhibit an M2 phenotype while obese mice exhibit the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype.⁽¹²⁸⁾ To recruit

macrophages into AT, adjpocytes secrete chemokines that attract macrophages from the periphery. Chemokines are a class of proteins that induce chemotaxis of immune cells (detailed in Section 5). One major chemokine, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)⁽¹²⁹⁾, is increased in the AT of both obese mice and humans compared to controls, with MCP-1 upregulation secondary to the aforementioned upregulation of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-8, IL-4, and IL-6. Another chemokine important in macrophage recruitment is leukotriene B4 (LTB4). Blocking LTB4 prevented the induction of IR in obese mice on HFD, that also included a significant decrease in AT-localized macrophages.⁽¹³⁰⁾ Fractalkine (CX3CL1) and its receptor CX3CR1 have also been implicated in macrophage recruitment as it is expressed in adjocytes and increased in the AT of humans.⁽¹³¹⁾ Semaphorin 3L (SEMA3E) is also chemoattractant for macrophages, SEMA3E and its receptor plexinD1 is increased in obese mice and inhibition of this pathway resulted in decreased numbers of macrophages in the AT.⁽¹³²⁾ Finally, there is macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), a proinflammatory chemokine that studies have shown is associated with impaired insulin signaling.⁽¹³³⁾ While these studies focus on macrophages accumulating in AT, other studies have suggested that macrophages from patients with T2D also exhibit dysfunction during T2D, including defects in complement and fc-gamma (Fcy) receptors that result in an inability to phagocytosis correctly.⁽¹³⁴⁾ Furthermore, studies have shown that macrophages cultured in hyperglycemic conditions also have reduced phagocytic abilities, suggesting a pro-inflammatory cell type unable to function in its canonical capacity.⁽¹³⁵⁾

1.3B Innate immunity: Neutrophils

Neutrophils are leukocytes most known for their role for being immediately recruited to sites of infections and injury where they kill harmful substances through phagocytosis and the release of ROS and cytokines.⁽¹³⁵⁾ Furthermore, they are able to release chromatin filaments that form net/mesh like structures called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), that have antimicrobial properties and have been shown to be important in various disorders.⁽¹³⁶⁾ They are also important in regulating the immune response by being able to regulate natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells, and T cells.⁽¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹⁾ While macrophages are the most studied in adaptive immunity during T2D, studies have shown that neutrophils have their importance as well.

Studies have shown that in mice on HFD, neutrophils migrate to AT as early as 3 days preceding macrophages migration,⁽¹⁴⁰⁾ showing they are the first responders during obesity induced T2D. Furthermore, studies have shown that neutrophil elastase, a proinflammatory proteinase secreted by neutrophils is increased in AT of diabetic mice and its deletion was able to reverse the diabetic phenotype and reduce inflammation,⁽¹⁴¹⁾ providing evidence of neutrophils involvement during the pathogenesis of T2D. In patients with T2D, neutrophil counts are increased and positively associated with pancreatic β -cell function and IR.⁽¹⁴²⁾ Furthermore, studies have also suggested that high neutrophil counts can predict the incidence of T2D and could be a potential biomarker.⁽¹⁴³⁾ Neutrophil activation markers such as CD11b and CD66b are increased in patients with T2D,^(144, 145) while activation markers such as lymphocyte function associated antigen-3 (LFA-3) is decreased.⁽¹⁴⁶⁾ Despite studies showing increased migration markers, studies using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and RNA-seq have

suggested that in rodents⁽¹⁴⁷⁾ and human's⁽¹⁴⁸⁾ neutrophils have decreased migration capacity due to reduced levels of adhesion molecules, but more studies are needed to confirm this. Earlier studies have also suggested impairments in phagocytosis.^(149, 150) These studies support the idea that neutrophils are important during the pathogenesis of T2D. In the case of neutrophil NETS, patients with T2D have increased amounts of NET markers that were positively associated with glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c),⁽¹⁵¹⁾ a marker for glucose control, and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α ,⁽¹⁵²⁾ suggesting a link between neutrophil NETS and T2D. Interestingly, neutrophils isolated from patients with T2D are able to form NETS without any stimulus,^(153, 154) but fail to release NETS upon stimulation.^(151, 153) Patients on diabetic medication such as metformin, saw decreased NET formation after 12 months, suggesting that in addition to neutrophils themselves, the NETs they form also contribute to T2D.⁽¹⁵¹⁾

1.3C Adaptive immunity: T helper cells

CD4⁺ T cells recognize antigens presented by major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) molecules on various antigen-presenting cells including macrophages, dendritic cells, and B cells. Activation of these T helper cells cause them to migrate toward sites of injury/infection to help other cells activate and migrate to the site as well. CD4⁺ T cells are characterized based on the cytokines they produce: T_h1 cells express IFN-γ; T_h17 cells express IL-17; T_h2 cells express IL-4 and IL-13; and Tregs are classified by the expression of the Foxp3 transcription factor, while also expressing IL-10. T_h1 and T_h17 cells are usually pro-inflammatory while Tregs and T_h2 cells are typically anti-inflammatory CD4⁺ subsets.⁽¹⁵¹⁾ As the cytokines mentioned above are used to classify them, they are able to secrete a wide range of cytokines depending on the

environment. Studies specifically focusing on the T cell receptor (TCR) during obesity suggest that AT cells undergo clonal expansion in response to antigens, though specific mechanisms and antigen targets that are unknown.⁽¹⁵⁵⁾ Differences also exist in the restriction of TCRs in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells depending on the different types of AT when comparing obese mice to controls.⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ Mice on HFD show that Tregs are decreased in AT but remain in contact with other lymphocytes and macrophages though treatments in obese mice with IL-2 therapeutically increased Tregs to reduce macrophage infiltration and decrease TNF- α expression.^(113, 157)

Concerning specific CD4⁺ T cell subsets, studies in humans show that increases in Th2 cells in AT and blood are inversely associated with IR,⁽¹⁵⁸⁾ while other studies show only an association between increasing obesity and CD4⁺ T cells in AT.⁽¹⁵⁹⁾ As in the M1/M2 ratio for macrophages, T2D also induces an imbalance of the Th17/Treg ratio in patients.⁽¹⁶⁰⁾ It was also found that Th17 cells associated with the severity of diabetes and IR^(161, 162) though counterintuitively, studies in humans show that the Treg marker FoxP3 was increased in obese humans compared to lean subjects;^(159, 163) however, those study only show mRNA levels, not actual infiltration of Tregs in the AT. Preclinical experiments using mice on HFD show an increase of Th1 cells in AT associated with development of glucose intolerance and inflammation. This includes induction of IFN-y expressing CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ T in obese mice, though whole-body deletion of IFN-y improved IR and lowered macrophage infiltration.^(157, 164)

The adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells into Rag1 mice (i.e., a mouse strain endogenously free of lymphocytes) on a HFD improved glucose intolerance and fasting insulin through a direct increase of Th2 cells, highlighting the anti-inflammatory capacity of Th2 cells during T2D.⁽¹⁵⁷⁾ Furthermore, the same study found obese mice treated with an immunotherapeutic anti-CD3 antibody reduced Th1 cells over Tregs and reversed IR despite HFD. Lymphocyte transfer from signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT6) KO mice, which have normal Th1 but impaired Th2 signaling, did not reverse IR in Rag1 mice further supporting a protective role of Th2 cells and highlighting the potential for immune modulation as a treatment to counter T2D-induced inflammation.⁽¹⁵⁷⁾

1.3D Adaptive immunity: cytotoxic T cells

CD8⁺ T cells are essential for killing infected or foreign cells by direct cell-to-cell contact and the release of perforin and granzyme into the target cell, for the most part rendering them as a class of pro-inflammatory lymphocytes.⁽¹⁶⁵⁾ In obese humans, CD8⁺ T cells are increased in AT, but this was not associated with systemic IR as was the CD4⁺ T cell population.⁽¹⁵⁸⁾ Furthermore, in lean to moderately obese men, CD8⁺ T cells in AT did not correlate with adiposity which is surprising given the amount of IFN-y and granzyme B that CD8+ T cells are producing are increased in AT.⁽¹⁵⁹⁾CD8⁺ T cell increases precede both reductions in CD4⁺ T cells and Tregs and the increase in macrophages in AT while the loss of CD8⁺ T cells decreases M1 (but not M2) macrophage infiltration, AT inflammation, and systemic IR in obese mice. Studies also show that adoptive transfer of CD8⁺ T cells into CD8-deficient mice increased AT inflammation and IR in obese mice⁽¹⁶⁶⁾, but other studies show that blocking activation of T cells using anti-CD40L or cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)–Ig reduced activated CD8⁺ T cells and inflammatory macrophages in AT but didn't improve insulin sensitivity.⁽¹⁶⁷⁾

1.3E Adaptive immunity: B cells

1.3E.1 B cell development and function

B cells are antibody-producing lymphocytes that have also been shown to be important in various disorders including the pathogenesis of obesity and T2D. B cells are produced and develop in the BM from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC's), which are characterized by their expression of stem cell antigen-1 (sca-1) and receptor tyrosine kinase (c-kit), before migrating to the periphery. From HSCs they develop into multipotential progenitors (MPPs), and lymphoid primed multipotential progenitors (LMPPs), that give rise to other cells such as erythrocytes, megakaryocytes, and monocytes. In the BM, B cells are derived from common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) cells, which gives rise to leukocytes. The earliest stage of B cell development is called pre-pro B cells, in which they lose sca-1 and c-kit expression and gain B cell lineage markers such as B220 and CD43, but at this point are still negative for Ig. After pre-pro B cells, there is pro-B cells in which another B cell lineage marker is added such as CD19, next is pre-B cells in which they have all markers mentioned previously but lose CD43. Immature B cells are next, and this is the stage in which they gain IgM and leave the BM to mature in the spleen and become mature B cells that develop into transitional, marginal and follicular B cell (Figure 1.2).⁽¹⁶⁸⁾ There are a number of transcription factors that regulate early-stage B cell development, but some of the most impart ones are early b cell factor (EBF), transcription factor 3 (TCF3/E2A) and Paired box 5 (Pax5). The knockout of these transcription factors have shown to block stages of B cell development and also reduce early B cell survival.⁽¹⁶⁹⁾ There are also microenvironmental factors that influence B cell precursors such as C-X-X motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12), fms-related tyrosine

kinase 3 (FLT3), and IL-7. For example, the loss of CXCL12 and C-C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) resulted in a significant loss in B cell precursors such as pre-pro B cells. Studies have also shown that CXCL12 is important for allowing the migration of B cells in and out of the BM during development and maturity. FLT3L and IL-7 are also important for B cell precursors as the loss of them reduces pre-pro B cells and pro-B cells. In addition, simulation with these two leads to growth of pre-pro B cells.⁽¹⁶⁸⁾

1.3E.2 B cells in T2D

Peripheral blood-borne B cells isolated from T2D patients exhibit a proinflammatory phenotype, characterized by increased amounts of IL-8, IL-6, and TNF- α production and decreased IL-10 secretion.⁽¹⁷⁰⁾ In-vivo studies in obese mice show confirm an increase of B cells in AT, specifically class-switched mature IgG⁺ B cells,⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ while the transfer of antibodies produced by B cells such as IgG from obese mice to young mice on a HFD diet accelerated development of AT inflammation and IR.⁽¹²⁰⁾ Furthermore, B cell-knockout mice on HFD exhibit improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance compared with WT mice on HFD, as well as a decreased proinflammatory cytokines in the serum associated with concomitant increases of Tregs in the AT and spleen.⁽¹⁷⁰⁾ Other studies corroborated these results showing that B cell deficiency in mice on HFD directly correlated with a reduction of TNF- α -producing M1 macrophages in AT.⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ Furthermore, the same study showed that when mice on HFD were treated with a B-cell depleting antibody, TNF- α -producing macrophages were decreased highlighting the intricate interplay of both the innate and adaptive immune systems in the ongoing immunopathological development of T2D.



Figure 1.2: B cell development pathway in the bone marrow and spleen.

1.4 Neuroimmune responses during T2D

As described in Section 3, many T2D studies focus on the peripheral immune response in AT, though several studies in other models of neurodegeneration such as AD confirm the critical role that the peripheral immune cells play in the development and progression of cognitive decline.⁽¹⁷¹⁾ In addition to peripheral immune cells, CNS cells such as microglia, astrocytes and neurons have also been shown to be important are also important during T2D. Mechanisms that allow immune cells to cross the BBB includes are also altered during T2D, which will be discussed in this section.

1.4A Infiltration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS

Although originally thought to be immune privileged, recent studies confirm that immune cells actively survey the brain during homeostasis through niches such as meninges, brain skull marrow, choroid plexus, and CSF – with surveillance important for development and cognitive function.⁽¹⁷²⁾ Even with the gaining attention on immune cells in the CNS, studies on T2D and how the peripheral immune response contributes to cognitive decline and neuroinflammation are still poorly understood. One study found that in mice on HFD, there was an increase of green-fluorescent protein (GFP) CD45⁺ labeled peripheral immune cells in the brain.⁽¹⁷³⁾ This suggests that the diabetic phenotype can lead to increased immune cells in the brain, however the type of immune cells were not evaluated. A more recent study found that in the brains of aged rats on short term HFD, found an increase of CD8⁺ T cells in the brain that was associated with memory deficits, and the depletion of CD8⁺ reversed this phenotype.⁽¹⁷⁴⁾ However, it is important to note that in this study there was no hyperglycemia or IR. Although, these studies suggest an increase of immune cells to the CNS and diabetes is leads to the increase of immune cells in the AT as mentioned in section 3.1, early studies also show that diabetes can also impair trans endothelial cell migration and adherence of leukocytes to venules,^(175, 176) leaving immune cells unable to diapedeses into certain tissues in response to chemokine upregulation. A study focused on diabetes as a comorbidity shows similar results. For example, in diabetic mice infected with west nile virus (WNV) showed significant reductions of immune cell infiltrates into the brain as compared to controls, as well as decreased expression of cell adhesion molecules (CAMS) which help immune cells infiltrate into the brain.⁽¹⁷⁷⁾ However, in contrast, in diabetic mice that underwent a transient ischemic stroke induction showed significant increase in immune cells infiltrating the injured brains, suggesting an worsening of post-stroke severity for T2D mice,⁽¹⁷⁸⁾ an unfortunate consequence found in patient populations.⁽¹⁷⁹⁾ Although controversial, these studies provide a framework for peripheral-CNS interactions that may be occurring in the brain during the pathogenesis of T2D.

1.4B T2D and the BBB

The blood brain barrier is important for maintaining CNS homeostasis by preventing harmful substances and pathogens into the brain as well as regulating the transport of molecules in and out of the CNS. The BBB is comprised of various cells such as endothelial cells, pericytes and astrocytic endfeet, which come together to form the neurovascular unit (NVU). Under pathological conditions, the BBB leakage occurs leading to an influx of neurotoxic molecules and inflammatory cells that further degrade the permeability, eventually contributing to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline.⁽¹⁸⁰⁾ Studies have shown that in T2D, the BBB is compromised and is associated with neuroinflammation and cognitive decline.

In both mouse and rat models of T2D, studies have shown that there are decreases in tight junction proteins, which are located on endothelial cells, such as zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1), occludin, claudin 5, and vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin.⁽¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸³⁾ Tight junction proteins are crucial for maintaining the integrity of the BBB by creating a high resistance barrier. BBB disruption in other studies was associated with cognitive decline in diabetic mice.^(184, 185) Studies have also shown in diabetic mice that there is an increase of large plasma proteins such as albumin and fibrinogen in the brains, suggesting an increase in BBB permeability.⁽¹⁸⁶⁾ Although still understudied, contrasting studies exist on how pericytes are impacted during T2D, one study shows there is no difference in pericyte coverage,⁽¹⁸⁶⁾ while another shows significant decreases in pericyte coverage in the brains of diabetic mice.⁽¹⁸³⁾ More studies are needed to determine how they are impacted. Studies using radiolabeled and fluorescent tracer in diabetic mice and rats also show that BBB permeability is increased due to T2D.^(183, 187) Using novel MRI techniques in the brains of diabetic rats' studies are able to confirm that BBB permeability is increased using a quantitative vascular biomarker,⁽¹⁸⁸⁾ providing more evidence to BBB disruption during T2D. MRI studies have also been used in diabetic monkeys showing that BBB permeability is increased and is associated with reductions in ZO-1 and increased IgG levels.⁽¹⁸⁹⁾ Similar findings were observed in patients with T2D patients using imaging techniques, showcasing increased BBB permeability.⁽¹⁹⁰⁾ While astrocytic endfeet are important for maintaining BBB homeostasis, currently to our knowledge there are no studies that have investigated how they are impacted during T2D.

1.4C T2D and other CNS cells

In addition to the BBB being disrupted, studies have shown that other cells of the CNS are altered during T2D such as neurons and microglia, which have also been shown to be important in neuroinflammation and cognitive decline. Multiple studies have shown that T2D leads to neuronal death and apoptosis,^(191, 192) which in some cases were associated with cognitive decline,⁽¹⁷⁾ increased markers of oxidative stress and neuroinflammation characterized by astrogliosis and increased in inflammatory marker such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6.^(18, 184) Furthermore, studies have shown using single cell sequencing that T2D leads to the alteration of genes important and neuronal maturation and metabolism.⁽¹⁹³⁾ These studies suggest that T2D leads to cognitive decline through damaging neurons and neuroinflammation. Microglia, which are the innate immune cells in the brain, have also been shown to be activated during T2D, shown by increases in Iba-1 co-localized with MHC II.⁽¹⁸⁴⁾ Other studies have shown that M1 markers for microglia are increased while M2 markers are decreased.⁽¹⁹⁴⁾ More recent studies have found that in diabetic mice microglia exhibited an increase in lipid droplets, which is a characteristic of aging, in the hippocampus. Furthermore, this increase in lipid droplets was associated with inflammatory markers such as NRLP3 and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (TREM1).⁽¹⁹⁵⁾ Interesting in the same study, when plasma from aged patients with T2D was incubated on human microglia it also increased the formation of lipid droplets and increased the expression of TREM1. These findings highlight the impacts of T2D on neurons and microglia, providing insight into potential mechanisms underlying cognitive decline.

1.5 CXCL12/CXCR4 axis

1.5A Overview of CXCL12/CXCR4

Chemokines or chemotactic cytokines are a type of signaling protein that is secreted and signals through the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCRs) family.⁽¹⁹⁶⁾ Chemokines are secreted by various cells, including immune cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and cells of the CNS, and are most known for their role in the immune response, more specifically, orchestrating leukocyte migration and thereby directly contributing to homeostasis.⁽¹⁹⁷⁾ Leukocytes and non-leukocytic cells such as neurons, endothelial cells, astrocytes, epithelial cells, and mesenchymal cells express receptors for chemokines and contribute to maintaining homeostasis.⁽¹⁹⁸⁾ Although most studies focusing on chemokines consist of their roles in migration, studies have shown that they also play roles in development, inflammation, atherosclerosis, cancer, hematopoiesis, autoimmunity, and CNS development and disorders. Chemokines can bind to several receptors with similar affinities, and several receptors can bind to the same ligand. Chemokines are divided into four subfamilies based on molecular structures C-C, C-X-C, CX3-C and C.⁽¹⁹⁹⁾ One important chemokine-receptor axis is the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis contributes to pathological progression in multiple diseases including T2D.

CXCL12, a member of the CXC-chemokine family, was initially discovered as a pre-B cell growth factor (PBGF) and was found to be essential for embryogenesis and lymphopoiesis.⁽²⁰⁰⁾ Later, due to its constitutive expression in BM stromal cells, its name was changed to stromal cell-derived factor 1α (SDF- 1α).⁽²⁰¹⁾ CXCL12 is a highly conserved gene, having only one amino acid difference between murine, rat, and human homologs, making the actions of this chemokine very similar across species. Also, the

coding regions of the nucleotide sequences in humans and mice for CXCL12 genes are 99% identical, making it one of the highest conserved chemokines described to date.⁽²⁰²⁾ CXCL12 is an 8-kDa protein that is present in either a monomeric or dimeric form. It is considered a homeostatic chemokine produced in multiple tissues such as the pancreas, lungs, kidneys, and the brain, as well as leukocytes and monocytes.⁽²⁰³⁾ In addition to its roles in leukocyte migration, it is important in trafficking of hematopoietic cells, secondary lymphoid tissue architecture, B cell development and trafficking, and angiogenesis.^(204, 205) For example, early studies focusing on the chemoattractant potential of CXCL12 showed its ability to induce the migration of both lymphocytes and monocytes in-vitro,⁽²⁰⁶⁾ while loss of CXCL12 leads to deficits in hematopoiesis and nervous system development.^(204, 207) Furthermore, mice lacking CXCL12 showed reductions in B cell progenitors in the BM, showing its importance in B cell lymphopoiesis.⁽²⁰⁴⁾

CXCL12 is the unique and specific chemokine for the receptor CXCR4,⁽²⁰⁸⁾ originally known as leukocyte-derived seven-transmembrane domain receptor (LESTR) or Fusin.⁽²⁰⁹⁾ CXCR4 is a 7 transmembrane-spanning GPCR.⁽²¹⁰⁾ and is expressed on the cell surface of most leukocytes and is also expressed on non-hematopoietic cells including endothelial cells, fibroblast, and other tissue in the lungs, kidney, liver, and brain, including glia.⁽²⁰³⁾ CXCR4 is considered a homeostatic receptor that is expressed during development and in adult tissue. Deficiency of CXCR4 is embryonic lethal and mice exhibit defects in hematopoiesis in the nervous and cardiovascular during development.⁽²¹¹⁾ Mutations in the CXCR4 gene in humans and mice lead to warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, immunodeficiency, myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome, a

severe combined immunodeficiency disease characterized by an increase in susceptibility to viruses and infection.⁽²¹²⁾ Patients with WHIM syndrome suffer from neutropenia, B cell lymphopenia, and hypogammaglobulinemia highlighting the critical role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis during homeostasis and association with many diseases, including T2D, that will be discussed below.

1.5B CXCL12/CXCR4 and T2D

The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is important in the pathogenesis of T2D. Patients with T2D have increased concentrations of CXCL12 compared to healthy controls,^(213, 214) though their peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) have decreased expression of CXCR4,⁽²¹⁵⁾ which has also been shown in pre-diabetic patients,⁽²¹⁶⁾ suggesting that patients with T2D have defective migration and homing potential due to loss of CXCR4. Furthermore, studies have shown that CXCL12 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) genotype influences the mobilization of progenitor cells during T2D.⁽²¹⁷⁾ In-vitro studies demonstrated that CXCL12 promotes survival among insulin-producing pancreatic β cells in mice and that in response to initial injury, pancreatic β -cells upregulate CXCL12, which significantly contributes to their growth, survival, and overall viability through glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) signaling.^(218, 219) Furthermore, the overexpression of CXCL12 in pancreatic β -cells increased viability by protecting them from necrotic death.⁽²²⁰⁾ In-vivo studies using mice on HFD showed that in plasma and AT is an increase of CXCL12, that is associated with the accumulation of macrophages and the antagonism of CXCR4 reversed macrophage accumulation and pro-inflammatory cytokines.⁽²²¹⁾ Studies in obese patients confirmed that CXCR4 expression was increased

in the visceral AT.⁽²²²⁾ These findings highlight the pivotal role of CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in protecting pancreatic β -cells during the early stages of T2D pathogenesis.

1.5B.1 Diabetic Wound Healing

As T2D proceeds, however, many organs are impacted leading to damage and an array of complications such as diabetic wound healing, neuropathy, and nephropathy, with the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis implicated in all co-morbidities. In diabetic wound healing, T2D patients have decreased levels of CXCL12 in both circulation and tissue biopsy samples⁽²²³⁾ suggesting a link between the loss of a functioning CXCL12/CXCR4 axis and impaired healing. Overexpression of CXCL12 in wounds from diabetic mice lead to an increase in enhancing wound healing,⁽²²⁴⁾ while inhibition of CXCL12 slowed the rate of wound healing, emphasizing the importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in diabetic wound healing.⁽²²⁵⁾

1.5B.2 Diabetic Neuropathy

During diabetic neuropathic pain, primary sensory nerves and dorsal root ganglions (DRGs) are undergo small fiber degeneration and hyperexcitability and as a consequence pain signals become abnormal.⁽²²⁶⁾ Patients with diabetic neuropathy have increased CXCR4 expression in sural nerves and PBMCs^(227, 228) while in diabetic rats, CXCR4 expression was also increased in DRG neurons.(229) In mice on HFD, there was decreased protein expression but increased mRNA levels of CXCR4 in DRG neurons, which associated with an increase in CXCR4⁺ immune cells.⁽²³⁰⁾ This same study showed that antagonizing CXCR4 reversed neuropathic pain. In addition, deletion of CXCR4 in DRG neurons prevented allodynia and small fiber degeneration in mice on HFD.⁽²³¹⁾ Additionally, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis contributed to neuron hyperexcitability, further supporting its involvement in diabetic neuropathy.

1.5B.3 Diabetic Nephropathy

Diabetic nephropathy is a condition where the kidneys gradually fail due to a decreased capacity for blood filtration. It usually starts with albuminuria, which is the presence of albumin in the urine, followed by a decline in the glomerular filtration rate, eventually leading to renal failure.⁽²³²⁾ CXCL12 is increased in people with diabetic kidney disease, and it is positively associated with incidence of diabetic kidney disease and is an independent contributor to diabetic kidney disease.⁽²³³⁾ Studies in diabetic mice, for example, show that CXCL12 was found in podocytes and was associated with glomerulosclerosis, and that CXCL12 inhibition reduced pathology, and increased podocyte numbers and prevented albuminuria.⁽²³⁴⁾ Researchers from the same group suggested a new method to prevent glomerulosclerosis in diabetic mice by blocking the dual chemokines CCL2-CXCL12.⁽²³⁵⁾ This approach inhibited glomerular leukocyte recruitment mediated by CCL2 and loss of podocytes caused by CXCL12. Taken together, these data suggest that in the early stages of T2D increased CXCL12 expression may be beneficial and promote survival. Its chronic expression may start to contribute to T2D progression making it harmful. Blocking CXCR4 during its chronic state may be more beneficial than blocking it during its early expression.

1.5C CXCL12/CXCR4 in CNS and CNS-related disorders

As the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is important in the periphery during T2D, it is just as important in the CNS during health, and in other diseases and injuries. Both CXCL12 and CXCR4 are expressed in the developing and mature CNS and is important for the migration of neuronal progenitor cells forming complex cortical structures in the developing CNS. During development the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis also provides cues that regulate axon projection to form synaptic connections. After CNS development, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis maintains adult neurogenesis and tissue repair by guiding neural progenitor cells and contributes to regulation of neurotransmission in mature neurons. As these studies have shown the importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis during homeostasis, it is also important during pathological conditions in the CNS. *Importantly for this thesis*, studies focusing on the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in the CNS during T2D are lacking so we will discuss what is known about the axis in other CNS disorders.

1.5C.1 Stroke

A stroke occurs when a blood vessel in the brain is blocked or burst leading to loss of blood flow and subsequent neuroinflammation, cognitive deficits and potential long-term disability.⁽²³⁶⁾ In stroke patients, CXCL12 is increased in both plasma and serum,⁽²³⁷⁻²⁴⁰⁾ however whether CXCL12 is helpful or determinantal during stroke is controversial. For example, multiple studies found that CXCL12 levels are positively associated with infarct and National Institutes of Health Stroke Scores (NIHSS),^{(237, 239, ²⁴¹⁾ while another found that CXCL12 levels were negatively associated with infarct and NIHHS.⁽²³⁸⁾ Additionally, increased CXCL12 levels were seen in stroke patients experiencing recurrent strokes compared to patients that had a single stroke,⁽²⁴²⁾ associating CXCL12 with an elevated stroke risk. There is also an increase of CXCR4⁺ PBMCs in patients with stroke, which was inversely associated with Rankin scale score,⁽²³⁸⁾ which measures the degree of disability in patients with strokes. Furthermore,} CXCL12 was increased in non-survivors and patients with unfavorable outcomes poststroke.⁽²⁴³⁾ Studies using post-mortem brains samples from stroke patients identified elevated CXCL12 levels in the peri-infarct⁽²⁴⁴⁾ and increased CXCR4 expression in the infarct region.⁽²⁴⁵⁾

Mouse models of stroke focused on the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis further add controversy to whether the axis is beneficial or not. As the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is important is most known for its role in immune cell migration in the CNS, studies have found that in mouse models of stroke, CXCL12 and CXCR4 is increased in the brain and associated with an increase of T cells in the brain.⁽²⁴⁵⁾ Another study found that the CXLC12/CXCR4 axis is important in recruiting NK cells and innate lymphoid cell type 3 (IL3s) into the ischemic brain, which was associated with poor outcomes.⁽²⁴⁶⁾ Removing CXCR4 expression in NK cells led to higher behavioral deficits due to the loss of NK cells migrating to the stroke lesion, suggesting that NK cells are neuroprotective poststroke but also that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is important in recovery post-stroke. Other studies with similar finding show that the delivery of CXCL12-expressing endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) post-stroke led to reduction of brain atrophy, enhance behavioral outcomes, increased blood vessel density, preserving myelin sheath integrity, and promoting neurogenesis, angiogenesis, and proliferation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs).⁽²⁴⁷⁾ Furthermore, using AAVs carrying CXCL12 reduce brain atrophy, increase neurogenesis, angiogenesis, protection from white matter injury, and repair damage through OPC proliferation.⁽²⁴⁸⁾ Surprisingly, the same study found that AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist, reversed these effects, which is on par with other studies showing that AMD3100 treatment reduced EPCs, capillary density, cerebral

blood flow in the ischemic area, and resulted in worse behavioral outcomes poststroke,⁽²⁴⁹⁾ suggesting that the CLXC12/CXCR4 axis is needed for neuroprotection. Studies also show using repetitive hypoxia reconditioning (RHP) that CXCL12 signaling is required for post stroke protection and the blocking of CXCR4 reverse this protection.⁽²⁵⁰⁾ While these studies suggest a determinantal impact of blocking CXCR4, other studies have shown that blocking is beneficial marked by improved behavioral function, reduced infarct size, reducing immune cell infiltration and suppressed inflammatory cytokines post-stroke.^(245, 251) These studies suggest the CXCL12/CXCR4 is important during the pathogenesis of stroke, but they also add controversy to whether it is protective or harmful. This seems to depend on multiple factors such as when CXCL12 is increased or how it was delivered for therapeutic purposes, and this is the same for antagonisms. Human studies do provide a strong case for it being determinantal, but more studies are needed to fully elucidate its potential.

1.5C.2 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disorder that causes damage to myelin sheaths, leading to neuroinflammation, behavioral and cognitive deficits, and eventually death. In patients with MS, CXCL12 is increased in the CSF and CXCR4 expression is increased on PBMCs.⁽²⁵²⁻²⁵⁴⁾ MRI showed that CXCR4⁺ cells are increased in the brains of patients with MS in areas with activated microglia.⁽²⁵⁵⁾ Additionally, CXCL12 levels were increased in astrocytes and endothelial cells, correlating with inflammation in MS lesions though other studies show this was not concomitantly linked to immune cell infiltration.⁽²⁵³⁾ Histological studies in patients with MS identified a redistribution of CXCL12 from the parenchymal to the luminal side of cerebral vessels that associated

with infiltrating mononuclear cells expressing CXCR4.⁽²⁵⁶⁾ This loss of abluminal polarity correlated with the severity of MS. Studies in the mouse model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), also show increased CXCL12 expression in the brain produced by astrocytes, which was associated with myelin and neuronal repair processes.⁽²⁵⁷⁾ In the spinal cords of mice with EAE, there was an increase of CXCR4 expression, along with increased CXCR4⁺ T cells in lesion sites.⁽²⁵⁸⁾ In this same study, inhibiting CXCL12 reduced EAE severity and immune cell infiltration. Other studies showed that CXCL12 was found on astrocytes and microglia, alongside increased CXCR4 expression on OPCs. Loss of CXCR4 hindered OPC maturation and impeded remyelination processes.⁽²⁵⁹⁾ These studies emphasize the importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in immune cell migration and potentially how the axis impacts MS severity. Similar to the section in stroke the upregulation or antagonism of this axis can be both beneficial and detrimental.

1.5C.3 Parkinson's Disease

PD is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by the abnormal deposition of αsynuclein in the brain also leading to neuroinflammation and cognitive behavioral deficits. In patients with PD, there is an increased expression of CXCR4 in the substantia nigra (SN), while CXCL12 and CXCR4 expression was increased in the SN in tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive cells.⁽²⁶⁰⁾ Patients with PD also had increased CXCL12 in the serum and plasma, with increased CXCR4 expression on PBMCs.⁽²⁶¹⁾ Postmortem studies in PD patient brains confirmed increased CXCL12 and CXCR4 in the SN, which colocalized with microglia,⁽²⁶²⁾ suggesting a mechanism for microglia migration to SN during PD. More recent studies showed that CXCL12 is increased in the CSF and plasma

of patients with PD, accompanied by CXCR4⁺ CD4 T cells, which was associated with neurodegeneration.^(263, 264) As in the case with MS, CXCL12 colocalized with the cerebrovasculature and CXCR4⁺ T cells were found in the meninges.⁽²⁶³⁾ In mouse models of PD, CXCR4 – but not CXCL12 – was increased in a time-dependent manner⁽²⁶⁰⁾ and CXCR4 knockout mice displayed improved coordination, reduced degeneration of dopaminergic neurons, decreased microglia and astrocyte activation, reduced BBB leakage, increased CD31 cells (endothelial cells), and decreased migration of peripheral immune cells.⁽²⁶⁵⁾ As in-vitro studies demonstrated that α -synuclein upregulated CXCL12 levels in microglia,⁽²⁶²⁾ it may be that prolonged neuronal upregulation of CXCL12 in PD-related brain recruits pathogenic CXCR4⁺ cells that contribute to disease progression.

1.5C.4 Alzheimer's Disease

AD is the most common neurodegenerative disorder and is caused by the deposition of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tau tangles that, as with the aforementioned CNS diseases, leads to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline. Patients with early AD exhibit a decrease in plasma CXCL12 that was inversely associated with CSF tau levels and positively correlating with cognitive function suggesting a negative effect of CXCL12 on brain health in AD.⁽²⁶⁶⁾ Although no significant differences were found in CSF CXCL12 levels compared to controls, it also showed a positive correlation within-patient to plasma CXCL12. Contrary reports in similar patients with AD identified an increase in CXCL12 in the CSF which was negatively associated with cognitive scores.⁽²⁶⁷⁾ Post-mortem studies in patients with confirm a decrease in CXCL12 expression in the brain while CXCR4 expression is increased and associated with

markers of postsynaptic damage and microglia activation.⁽²⁶⁸⁾ In mouse models of AD, both CXCL12 and CXCR4 expressions were increased in the brain, and CXCL12 colocalized with astrocytes, coinciding with cognitive deficits.⁽²⁶⁹⁾ However, in the same study, cognitive deficits were also reported when using AMD3100 in non-transgenic mice, although studies using AMD3100 in AD mice showed improved cognitive function and decreased neuroinflammation⁽²⁷⁰⁾ adding a mixed understanding of the interpretation of these findings. Intracerebroventricular injections of CXCL12 in AD mice reduced amyloid-beta deposits, increased microglia, and plaque-associated microglia⁽²⁷¹⁾ and pretreatment of neurons with CXCL12 increased dendrite length and reduced apoptosis in-vitro.⁽²⁷²⁾ Although these studies are far from consistent in identifying benefit or injurious mechanisms of activation, they do show a potential role for the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in the pathogenesis of AD.

1.6 Animal models of amylin-induced T2D

This introduction has looked at the known pathologic mechanisms contributing to T2D, including the role of amylin as a co-secreted factor that also induces neurovascular injury independent of T2D-mediated mechanisms. In addition, both the peripheral and CNS-localized immune responses have been reviewed, including the extensive role of CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in CNS injuries/diseases as this specific inflammatory mechanism has not been studied in amylin-induced T2D. This final section will highlight animal models of T2D.

1.6.A Mouse models of T2D

T2D is a multifaceted condition in humans, involving numerous risk factors, including genetic predisposition, age, obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and cardiovascular disease. Consequently, studying this disease in animal models becomes challenging. To gain insights into T2D development and possible treatments, various animal models have been developed. These models can be divided into groups 1) where their phenotype is derived spontaneously due to genetic manipulation, 2) diet/nutrition-induced, 3) chemically-induced, and 4) surgically-induced. Models that are spontaneous usually have deficits in the gene that encodes for the leptin or through selective breeding over generations. For example, the Goto-Kakizaki rat was generated by selectively inbreeding Wistar rats which have abnormal glucose tolerance over several generations. Leptin is a protein that is important in regulating food intake and energy expenditure. Deficits in the leptin gene lead to altered feeding, metabolism, and endocrine function leading to hyperphagia, decreased energy expenditure and obesity. Models that utilize deficits in the leptin gene include the db/db, ob/ob, Zucker fatty rat, and the JCR/A-cp rat. These animals exhibit overeating or hyperphagia, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and IR due to mutations in the leptin gene. Other models such as the KK mouse, NZO mouse, Cohen rat and GK rats are also spontaneous but instead were created through selective inbreeding for traits such as body size, hyperglycemia, hyperphagia and obesity. Like the animals with leptin deficiency, these spontaneous lines develop the characteristics of T2D listed above. Models that chemically induce T2D use streptozotocin, though this method more closely mimics type 1 diabetes (T1D). Streptozotocin is an antibiotic derived from Streptomyces achromogenes and is a derivative of nitrosourea. It causes hyperglycemia

and hyperinsulinemia though exerting its cytotoxic effects in pancreatic β cells. Models that utilize dietary changes use HFD that model obesity, hyperglycemia and insulin resistance, and glucose intolerance typically using C57BL/6J mice due to their ability to develop leptin resistance after HFD. (review in ⁽²⁷³⁾)

Although these models are very useful in their ability to provide insights into the multifaceted components of T2D they lack an important component that is involved in the pathogenesis of T2D, namely amylin. As previously described in section 1.2A, amylin is a hormone co-secreted with insulin by the pancreatic β -cells. As insulin increases, so does amylin with multiple studies showing that amylin contributes to the β cell dysfunction contributing to the pathogenesis of T2D. In our lab we employ both mouse and rat models of T2D in which human amylin is hypersecreted from the pancreases, which leads to hyperglycemia IR. The mouse model of human amylin expresses h-IAPP under the control of the insulin II promoter. The hemizygous mouse does not develop diabetic phenotype unless they have some type of stimulus such as HFD.⁽²⁷⁴⁾ The homozygous line in male mice, however, develops T2D by around 8 weeks of age. Interestingly, in the female mice only $\sim 20\%$ of the females develop the diabetic phenotype by 30 weeks of age, which is why this study uses only male mice with consistent T2D presentation. In male mice there was increased blood glucose and amylin in the plasma along with pancreatic β -cell death and aggregates of IAPP. This mouse spontaneously dies starting ~16 weeks of age.⁽²⁷⁵⁾ The h-IAPP transgenic rat (i.e., HIP rat) is our rat model of amylin-induced T2D. The homozygous rat rapidly develops diabetes and experiences decline in β -cell mass starting at ~2 months of age with no amyloid deposition in the brain.⁽²⁷⁶⁾ The hemizygous HIP rat spontaneously develops

diabetes starting between 6-12 months and progressively shows the characteristics of human diabetes including progressive loss of pancreatic β -cells mass, increase β -cell apoptosis and increase amyloid deposits in the pancreas, hearts, kidneys, and brains. Throughout this thesis I will be employing the hemizygous HIP rat model and the homozygous HIP mouse model.

1.7 Conclusion

T2D contributes to cognitive decline and accelerated the progression to AD. During T2D the immune response becomes dysregulated and contributes to its progression in the periphery, but it is unknown how the peripheral immune response contributes to cognitive decline. We have shown that the accumulation of amylin is an important factor during T2D that leads to neuroinflammation, BBB disruption and cognitive decline. Despite the critical role of peripheral immune system during T2D, how T2D impacts immune cell migration into the CNS and the role they play in cognitive decline and neuroinflammation has yet to be evaluated. To investigate the role of the peripheral immune response contributes to amylin-induced cognitive decline we must identify how T2D impacts the peripheral immune response as well as immune cell migration. We must also determine the mechanisms responsible for immune cell migration during T2D and how amylin contributes. The overall goal of this thesis is to understand how the accumulation of pancreatic amylin alters the neuroimmune response during T2D. We hypothesize that the neuroinflammation associated with amylin deposition into brain will be characterized by infiltration of immune cells into the brain.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Rats and Mice

Sprague-Dawley male rats that hypersecrete (three-fold) the pancreatic hormone human amylin in pancreatic β -cells (HIP rats) (n=18) and age-matched wildtype (WT) (n=19 rats were used in this study. Breeding pairs were purchased from Charles Rivers Laboratory. For experiments conducted on diabetic rats, we used HIP rats at ages 16-18 months.^(13, 14) HIP rats that did not develop hyperglycemia or were found to have brain tumors during dissection were excluded from the study. For experiments conducted on injected rats, we used WT rats at the age of ~14 months. HIP mice that hypersecrete human amylin in the pancreas were purchased from Jackson Laboratory. Only diabetic male mice were a part of this study at ages 5-6 months. Mice that were not hyperglycemic were excluded from this study. All experiments conducted on animals complied with the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Kentucky. Rats and mice had ad libitum access to food and water. Rats were caged 2/cage or individually according to DLAR weight standards, in ventilated cages, and mice were caged 3-5 mice/cage. Mice and rats were on a 12-hour light cycle and were randomly assigned to groups when appropriate.

2.2 Mice and rat tissue collection

In all experiments, rats and mice were anesthetized with isoflurane, blood collected by heart puncture, and then transcardially perfused with hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Thermo Fisher).

For plasma, blood was collected in 5mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)coated tubes (Vitality Medical) for rats and 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube with .5M of EDTA for mice. Blood was then centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 min at 4C. Supernatant plasma and red blood cells (RBCs) was collected and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen.

For flow cytometry, PBMCs from rats were isolated from blood by Ficoll-Paque PLUS density gradient centrifugation (cytiva –density 1.077 + 0.001 g/ml). In brief, 2 mL of blood was diluted with 3mL of HBSS, layered upon an equal amount of Ficoll-Paque plus, and centrifuged at 500 g for 30 min with brakes turned off. The buffy coat containing cells was collected and resuspended in EAE media (Roswell Park memorial institute [RPMI] supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 4-(2hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid [HEPES], sodium pyruvate, minimal essential medium [MEM] non-essential amino acid [NEAA], penicillin-streptomycin, L-glutamine and beta-mercaptoethanol) until use.

For BM, single-cell suspensions were generated by using a 25-gauge syringe to flush out cells from dissected tibia and femur bones using EAE media. BM cells were then strained through a 70um filter to remove debris, and cells were then centrifuged to generate a pellet, and resuspended in EAE media for use. Upon dissection, the spleen was collected and homogenized with a plunger through a 70 µm

strainer and washed and centrifuged at 500 g for 5 min. The remaining pelleted was suspended in 5ml of RPMI, layered on an equal amount of rat-lympholyte (Cedarlane Labs) for rats and mouse-lympholyte (Cedarlane Labs) for mice, and spun at 1000g for 20 min at room temperature (RT) with the brakes turned off. The buffy coat containing splenocytes was then collected and used for flow cytometry. Extra cells were cryopreserved in freezing media for future *in-vitro* experiments.

The brain was dissected into hemispheres, and the cerebellum was removed. One hemisphere was used for flow cytometry, and the other for immunohistochemistry was fixed in 10% formalin. For the isolation of immune cells, brains were homogenized using dounce homogenizers. The remaining homogenate was made into a 30% percoll solution and centrifuged at 500g for 30 min at RT with no breaks. The debris layer was removed, and the cell pellet was washed with EAE media, strained through a 70µm filter to remove the remaining debris, then resuspended in EAE media until use. All cells were counted using a cellometer.

2.3 Flow cytometry

Cell suspensions isolated from BM, spleens, blood, and brains were washed with cold RPMI and then washed with phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Cells were stained with live/dead marker Ghost dye-Alexa Fluro 700 (Tonbo Biosciences) for 30 min at 4°C according to the manufacturer's instructions, then washed with FACS buffer. Fc receptors were blocked using CD16/32 (Thermo Fisher) for 5 min at RT. For rats, cells were stained for immune cell markers defined in **Table 2.1**. For mice, cells were stained for immune cell markers defined in **Table 2.2** and **Table 2.3**. After staining with antibody for 30 min, cells were washed twice and resuspended in FACS buffer. BD Symphony A3 was used to acquire cell populations. Analysis was conducted with Flow v10.8 software. (FMO) controls were used to identify cell populations, and each experiment conducted had a single-stained control and negative. The gating strategy for general leukocytes in the spleen and blood of rats is outlined in **Fig. 2.1**. The gating strategy for general leukocytes in the brains of rats is outlined in **Fig. 2.2**. The gating strategy for general leukocytes in the spleens of mice is outlined in **Fig. 2.3**. The gating strategy outlined for hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) is in the BM of mice is outlined in **Fig. 2.4**.

The gating strategy for B cell populations in the spleens of mice is outlined in Fig.2.5. The gating strategy for B cell populations in the BM in mice is outlined in Fig.2.6.

Table 2.1 - Antibodies used for rats				
Antibody	Fluorochrome/Clone	Vender/Cat#		
Mouse Anti-rat CD45	APC/Cyanine 7/OX-1	BioLegend/202216		
Mouse anti-rat CD3	BV605/IF4	BD Biosciences/563949		
Mouse anti-rat CD45RA	APC/OX-33	BioLegend/202216		
Mouse anti-rat CD4	V450/OX-35	BD Biosciences/561579		
Mouse anti-rat CD8a	BUV395/OX-8	BD Biosciences/740257		
Mouse anti-rat HIS48	FITC/HIS48	eBioscience/11-0570-82		
Mouse anti-rat CD11b/c	BV510/OX-42	BD Biosciences/743978		
Ghost Dye	Red 710	Cytek/13-0871-T100		
Rabbit anti-rat CXCR4	Unconjugated	Invitrogen/PA1-224866		
Goat anti-rabbit IgG Secondary	PE	Invitrogen/P-2771MP		
Table 2.2 - Antibodies used for mice				
--------------------------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	--	--
Antibody	Fluorochrome/Clone	Vender/Cat#		
Rat Anti-mouse CD45	APC/Cyanine 7/30-F11	BD Biosciences/557659		
Rat anti-mouse TCR beta	BV605/H57-597	BD Biosciences/562840		
Rat anti-mouse CD19	APC/1D3	BD Biosciences/550992		
Rat anti-mouse CD4	BUV395/GK1.5	BD Biosciences/563790		
Rat anti-mouse CD8a	BV421/53-6.7	BD Biosciences/563898		
Rat anti-mouse Ly6g	PE/1A8	BD Biosciences/551461		
Rat anti-mouse CD11b	BV510/M1/70	BD Biosciences/562950		
Ghost Dye	Red 710	Cytek/13-0871-T100		
Mouse lineage	APC	BD Biosciences/558074		
Rat anti-mouse CD117/c-kit	BV421/2B8	BD Bioscience/562609		
Rat anti-mouse Ly6A/E/sca-1	PE/E13-161.7	BD Bioscience/553336		
Rat anti-mouse CD34	FITC/RAM34	BD Bioscience/553733		
Rat anti-mouse CD135	PE-CF594/A2F10.1	BD Bioscience/562537		

Table 2.3 - Antibodies used for B cell panel in mice				
Antibody	Fluorochrome/Clone	Vender/Cat#		
Rat Anti-mouse CD45	BUV805/30-F11	BD Biosciences/748370		
Rat anti-mouse TCR beta	PE-Cy5/H57-597	Invitrogen/15-5961-82		
Rat anti-mouse CD19	BV421/1D3	BD Biosciences/562701		
Rat anti-mouse CD185/CXCR5	BUV737/2G8	BD Biosciences/741785		
Rat anti-mouse CD23	BV605/B3B4	BioLegend/101637		
Hamster anti-mouse CD27	BV711/LG.3A10	BD Biosciences/551461		
Rat anti-mouse CD11b	BB515/M1/70	BD Biosciences/564454		
Ghost Dye	Red 780	BD Biosciences/565388		
Rat anti-mouse CD184/CXCR4	PE-Cy7/2B11	Invitrogen/25-999-182		
Rat anti-mouse CD43	PerCP-Cy5.5/S7	BD Bioscience/562865		
Rat anti-mouse CD45R/B220	PE/RA3-6B2	BD Bioscience/553090		
Hamster anti-mouse CD11c	PE-CF594/N418	BD Bioscience/565591		
Hamster anti-mouse CD80	BUV661/16-10A1	BD Bioscience/741515		
Mouse anti-mouse IgD	R718/217-170	BD Biosciences/752167		
Rat anti-mouse IgM	BV480/II/41	BD Biosciences/746681		
Rat anti-mouse CD138	BUV395/281-2	BD Biosciences/740240		
Rat anti-mouse CD21/35	BUV496/7E9	BD Biosciences/752913		



Figure 2.1: Gating strategy to identify lymphocytes in the spleen of rats. (A) Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter to exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter to exclude doublets. (D) Ghost dye negative cells to gate on live cells. (E) Lymphocytes based on side scatter and forward scatter. (F) CD45⁺ leukocytes. (G) CD3⁺ T cells and CD45RA/B220⁺ B cells. (H) CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells derived from CD3⁺ T cells. (I) His48⁺ granulocytes, Cd11b⁺ macrophages, His48⁺ Cd11b⁺ neutrophils.



Figure 2.2: Gating strategy to identify lymphocytes in the brains of rats. (A) Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter to exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter to exclude doublets. (D) Ghost dye negative cells to gate on live cells. (E) CD45+ leukocytes (F) CD3⁺ T cells and CD45RA/B220⁺ B cells. (G) CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells derived from CD3⁺ T cells. (H) His48⁺ Granulocytes, Cd11b⁺ macrophages/microglia, and His48⁺ Cd11b⁺ neutrophils.



Figure 2.3: Gating strategy to identify lymphocytes in the spleens of mice. (A)

Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter to exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter properties to also gate our doublets. (D) Ghost dye negative cells to gate on live cells. (E) CD45⁺ leukocytes (F) TCR β^+ T cells and CD19⁺ B cells (G) CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells derived from TCR β^+ T cells. (H) Cd11b⁺ macrophages and Cd11b⁺ Ly6g⁺ neutrophils.



Figure 2.4: Gating strategy to identify HSPCs in the bone marrow of mice. (A) Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter to exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter to exclude doublets. (D) C-kit⁺ and lineage⁻ cells. (E) C-kit⁺ and sca-1⁺ (LSK) cells. (F) CD135⁺ CD34⁻ cells are multipotent progenitors (MPPs), CD135⁻ CD34⁻ cells are long termhematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSCs), and CD135⁻ CD34⁺ cells are short termhematopoietic stem cells (ST-HSCs).



Figure 2.5: Gating strategy to identify B cell populations in the spleens of mice.

(A) Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter properties to exclude doublets. (D) Ghost dye negative cells to gate on live cells. (E) CD45⁺ leukocytes. (F) CD19⁺ CD45RA/B220⁻ (B1 B cells) and CD19⁺ CD45RA/B220⁺ B cells (B2 B cells).
(G) CD21/35⁺ CD23⁻ marginal zone (MZ) B cells and CD21/35 intermediate and CD23⁺ Follicular (FO) B cells. (H) IgM⁺ IgD⁺ Transitional B cells.



Figure 2.6: Gating strategy to identify B cell populations in the bone marrow of mice. (A) Time gate on the flow of cells to visualize proper acquisition of cells. (B) Singlets on side scatter to exclude doublets. (C) Singlets on forward scatter properties to exclude doublets. (D) Ghost dye negative cells to gate on live cells. (E) CD45⁺ leukocytes (F) CD45RA/B220⁺ TCR β^{-} B cells. (G) CD19⁺ CD43⁺ cells are pro B cells, CD19⁻ CD43⁺ cells are pro B cells, and CD19⁺ CD43⁻ B cells. (H) IgM⁺ CD19⁺ cells are immature B cells and IgM⁻ and CD19⁺ cells are pre B cells.

2.4 Tissue homogenization

Frozen rat brain samples were homogenized with 1% Triton buffer (25 times tissue volume) containing 20 mM Tris-hydrochloric acid (HCl), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM ethylene glycol-bis (β -aminoethyl ether) (EGTA), 1% Triton X-100 (v/v), 1% (v/v) protease and phosphatase inhibitors, pH 7.5. The homogenates were left on ice for 15 min. The homogenates were centrifuged at 22,000 × *g* for 15 min at 4 °C. The supernatant (Triton-soluble fraction) was separated from the pellet and used for western blot experiments.

2.5 Western blot

Western blot analysis was performed on brain tissue homogenate from rats as reported recently. Total protein levels were estimated using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) kit (Thermo Fisher). Anti-vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 or (VCAM-1) (1:500, MA5-31965, Thermo Fisher), anti-intracellular adhesion molecule 1 or (ICAM-1) (1:250; MA5407, Thermo Fisher), mouse anti- β actin (1:10,000; clone BA3R; MA5-15739; Thermo-Fisher), anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated (1:30,000; NA934VS; GE Healthcare) and anti-mouse IgG HRP conjugated (1:20,000; NXA931; GE Healthcare) were primary antibodies. 50 µg of protein from tissue homogenate were loaded on sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gels. Equal loading in Western blot experiments was verified by re-probing with a monoclonal anti- β actin antibody (raised in mouse, clone BA3R, Thermo Scientific; 1:2000). Protein levels were compared by densitometric analysis using ImageJ software.

2.6 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

For IHC, an adapted Quantitative multiplex Immunohistochemistry with Visual colorimetric staining to Enhance Regional protein localization (QUIVER) protocol was used to repeatedly stain a single section of tissue.⁽²⁷⁷⁾ Antibodies CXCL12 (1:100), were used with a soluble chromogenic substrate (ImmPACT AMEC Red Substrate kit (Vector Laboratories). After the first round of staining, tissue was digitized using a Zeiss Axio Scan Z.1 slide scanner to capture and digitize complete slide images at 20x magnification. Tissue was then chemically destained then serially stained for neuronal marker protein (Neun 1:250) with a permanent chromogen (DAB Substrate Kit, Peroxidase (HRP) (3,3'-diaminobenzidine) (SK-4100), and immediately co-labeled with IBA1 (1:1000, Synaptic Systems, RRID AB_2493179) and (ImmPACT AMEC Red Substrate kit (Vector Laboratories). Images were subsequently scanned, registered, deconvolved, and consolidated into a single pseudocolor image using the HALO software (Indica Labs, version 3.6).

For the quantification of cell number and colocalization for each marker, HALO software utilized the Object Colocalization algorithm to assess the overall cell number for each marker as well as number of cells colocalized in the cortex. To establish a ROI for each rat, brightfield images for each rat were used to outline the cortical region of similar size in each animal. Each brightfield image was registered, deconvolved and merged to make a single pseudo-fluorescent image. This was achieved by separating the chromogenic stain from each round of staining using the HALO deconvolution algorithm. This algorithm uses color selection and thresholding to create a single-channel image. Then using the HALO Serial Registration module,

the multiple rounds of staining were merged into a pseudo-fluorescent image. After merging images, the fluorescent Object Colocalization algorithm was used to automatically detect each marker. Parameters for marker detection were determined based on stain intensity, signal to noise ratio, and relative cell size-including processes, then applied to all sections. To ensure that only cell bodies were being counted and not aggregates of intersecting processes, a larger minimum size threshold was set (30um-10,000um). After setting detection parameters, previously outlined cortical grey matter in each section was analyzed. Results presented are based on number or cells per mm² in each section.

2.7 Amylin Aggregation and injection

Lyophilized amidated human amylin peptide (Anaspec #AS-60254-1) was dissolved in PBS (pH 7.4) to the concentration of 50 μ M. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 72 h with occasional shaking to allow amylin to form aggregates. Aggregated human amylin solution was injected into 14 months old male WT rats via tail vein (80 μ g/kg) (n = 6/group), 1x daily via tail vein for 1week. There was also rats that were injected 2x daily for 2 weeks with the same concentration of human amylin. For a total of n=28 rats. The first two groups of rats were inbred from WT colonies at the University of Kentucky, while the third and fourth group of rats were purchased from Envigo.

2.8 RNAseq analysis

Total RNA was extracted from the cerebral cortex using plastic dounce homogenizers from HIP and WT rats (n = 10 males/group) using Qiagen's RNeasy Mini Kit (Ref # 74104). Omega Bioservices performed RNAseq library preparations and sequencing using the Illumina HiSeq 2500. RNAseq data were analyzed using PartekFlow software (Partek, MO) as previously published.⁽¹⁵⁾ Briefly, RNAseq fastq files were imported, aligned to rat reference genome (Rattus norvegicus-rn7) and quantified at gene level using Ensembl105 annotation. RNAseq read counts were normalized and further analyzed for gene differential expression between HIP and WT groups using DESeq2 algorism. Between WT and HIP rats, RNAseq revealed 403 genes differentially expressed (DE) genes that had *P*-values \leq 0.05. These DEGs were analyzed using Ingenuity Pathway Analyses software (IPA, Qiagen) and further for enrichment in Gene Ontology (GO) biological processes of these DE genes using NIHs Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) tool.

2.9 Rt-PCR

RNA was isolated from the brain tissue of WT and HIP rats using Qiagen's RNeasy kit. RNA concentration was quantified using a Nanodrop. RNA was then reverse transcribed to cDNA using an iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad), followed by quantitative real-time PCR (rt-PCR) to amplify target gene primers. Primers used for genes in this study are identified in **Table 2.4**. Results from samples were compared relative to the standard curve to calculate cycle threshold (CT) in each sample using Bio-Rad CFX Maestro and re-PCR (Manager software version 3) software. Quantification of the PCR data was analyzed using the $2^{(-\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method and was normalized to the GAPDH signal.

Table 2.4 - qPCR Gene Primers			
<u>Gene</u>	Primer Sequence	<u>Product</u> size	
Lag3	F: 5'-GCA GGG CCT GTG AAG CC -3' R: 5'- GCC CTG AAG ACA CAA CTG GA- 3'	107bp	
RT1-A1	F: 5'-CTT TTG GGA AGG AGC AGA ATA CCAC -3' R: 5'- TCT CTG GGA AAG TGG CTC AAG- 3'	71bp	
RT1-Doa	F: 5'- CGT TGT TAA AGC CAC CCA ACC- 3' R: 5'- GGG GAC CCA GGA AGCT CAT TA-3'	87bp	
RT1-DB2	F: 5'- GTG ACT TCT ACC CTG GCA CC-3' R: 5'-AGA GAT CAG GTC GGT GGA CA - 3'	89bp	
RT1-S3	F: 5'-GCT GTG GTA ATG CCT TTC TGG - 3' R: 5'-ATC TCA GGG CGA GAG GTT CA - 3'	112bp	

2.10 Statistical Analysis

All individuals performing experiments were blinded to experimental conditions. Data are presented as mean \pm standard area of mean (SEM). For studies comparing WT and HIP animals, student's t-test was used. Power analyses were performed to determine the appropriate number of rats for injection experiments and rats were randomly assigned to each group. Statistical analysis of differences between groups was performed in Prism 8.1.2. Differences were considered statistically significant when P < 0.05. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001.

Chapter 3: The neuroimmune axis in T2D

3.1 Introduction

T2D increases the risk for cognitive decline and the progression of dementia-related disorders such as AD. Although it is not fully understood, some of the mechanisms responsible include hyperglycemia, insulinemia (high amounts of insulin in the blood), and neuroinflammation. Diabetes occurs in about 5-10% of the population, while T2D is the most prevalent. Patients with T2D have exhibit brain atrophy which has been linked to cognitive decline, which may suggest a more rapid cognitive decline in individuals with T2D.

The immune response plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of T2D, with studies confirming that T2D is associated with a dysregulated immune response secondary to hyperglycemia and insulinemia⁽¹³⁴⁾. While most studies focus on how T2D leads to immune activation,⁽²⁷⁸⁾ studies also show that T2D is characterized by impaired chemotaxis, leukocyte adhesion to venules, and trans-endothelial migration by leukocytes which also contribute to disease progression.^(175, 176, 279, 280) While immune cells are most known for their role in the periphery, they are also crucial in the maintenance and repair of the brain throughout life.⁽²⁸¹⁾ Originally thought to be immune privileged, immune cells actively survey the brain during homeostasis through CNS niches such as the meninges, brain skull marrow, the choroid plexus, and CSF and play essential roles in neurodevelopment and cognition.^(171, 282) In fact, mice that lack germline endogenous T cells demonstrated impaired cognitive performance, while mice that lack both B and T cells showed impaired neurogenesis, highlighting the importance of immune cells in the maintenance of a healthy brain.^(283, 283, 284)

²⁸⁴⁾ Immune cells are also important during neurodegenerative disorders, and often with a negative impact as they can contribute to the pro-inflammatory environment characterized by neuronal loss and cognitive decline.^(263, 284-289) However, in the case of T2D-induced dementia, it is unknown how immune cells contribute to neurodegeneration, neuroinflammation, and changes in dementia/cognition.

Amylin (or islet amyloid polypeptide) is a hormone peptide co-secreted with insulin by the pancreatic β -cells.⁽⁹⁾ Amylin crosses the BBB ^(290, 291) and binds to receptors on neurons in the feeding centers to regulate satiety.^(292, 293) Amylin also has amyloidogenic properties;⁽³⁴⁾ in patients with obesity or pre-diabetic insulin resistance, amylin is hypersecreted and forms amyloid in the pancreatic β -cells contributing to pancreatic β -cell dysfunction in individuals with T2D. Amyloid aggregates and incorporates into cell membranes, altering β -cell viability and function.^(11, 69) Amylin deposits in the cerebrovessels of patients with T2D and dementia^(12, 13) and rats that hypersecrete human amylin in the pancreas (HIP rat) exhibit accumulation of amylin deposition in the brain, as well as neuroinflammation and cognitive deficits.⁽¹³⁻¹⁵⁾ Together, these studies suggest a pathological function of amylin in the brain and links between T2D and amylin-induced dementia and cognitive decline, though identification of neuroinflammatory cues originating in the brain are necessary for understanding the role of the immune system in pathogenesis, as well as to develop novel immunotherapies.

One possible mediator of a peripheral-to-brain immune response in T2D is through the chemokine CXCL12 or SDF-1 α and its receptor CXCR4. CXCL12/CXCR4 are expressed in a wide range of tissues in the periphery and CNS

and expressed by multiple immune cells including T cells, B cells, and macrophages.^(203, 294, 295) The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is essential in multiple physiological processes such as leukocyte chemotaxis, cell survival, proliferation, hematopoiesis, and inflammation.⁽²⁹⁶⁻³⁰⁰⁾ It has also been shown to be important in various disease states, including cancer, diabetes, pathological pain, MS, stroke, and neurodegeneration.^(245, 250, 300-304) The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is important in B cell lymphopoiesis as loss of either CXCL12 or CXCR4 impairs B cell development. In patients with T2D, CXCL12 is increased in the serum⁽³⁰⁵⁾ though the number of CXCR4⁺ PBMCs is decreased,⁽²¹⁵⁾ supporting a link between the CXCL12/CXCR4 dysregulation and the evolving pathogenesis of T2D. In mouse models of T2D, blocking CXCR4 using AMD3100, a CXCR4-specific antagonist, reduced M1 macrophage phenotype while also improving insulin sensitivity.⁽²²¹⁾ But contrasting studies suggest that CXCL12 can also show anti-inflammatory properties through polarizing T cells to a Tregs (i.e., anti-inflammatory)⁽³⁰⁶⁾ and polarizing macrophages to an M2 phenotype⁽³⁰⁷⁾; however, these results were shown in non-diabetic models.

Studies in other CNS diseases highlight the importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in neuroinflammation and leukocyte migration, showing elevated brain levels of CXCL12 and/or CXCR4 during MS, stroke, Parkinson's disease and AD.^(245, 300, 308, 309) In autoimmune disease, CXCL12 is expressed in inflamed tissues in the CNS such as the endothelium and astrocytes and recruits CXCR4⁺ leukocytes. Whether CXCL12/CXCR4 contributes to injury or repair is highly dependent on the CNS disease being studied. For instance, blockade of CXCR4 using AMD3100 during autoimmune disease increased migration of CD45⁺ leukocytes from the perivascular spaces into the parenchyma and correlated with worsened outcomes,⁽³⁰⁰⁾ while the same CXCR4 blockade in experimental stroke reduced the infiltration of T cells into the brain, leading to improved outcomes.^(245, 250) Finally, in neurodegenerative models of PD and AD, CXCR4 blockade ameliorated neuroinflammation through modulating migrating microglia and reducing inflammatory cytokines, leading to improved cognitive outcomes.^(270, 308)

These studies suggest that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is essential in regulating leukocyte migration and neuroinflammation. However, little is known about the relationship between the accumulation of amylin and the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. Here, we tested the hypothesis that the accumulation of amyloid-forming amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral immune response that alters immune profiles in the T2D brain. Using both transgenic rat and mouse models of T2D that hypersecrete human pancreatic amylin (HIP rat and mice), we found that the accumulation of amylin decreased immune cell populations in the BM, spleen, and brain, concomitant with changes in proteins responsible for immune cell migration in the brain. We also found that the accumulation of pancreatic amylin leads to specific defects in B cell development within the BM, a previously undescribed phenomenon that may be critical for co-morbidities and pathologies secondary to the development of T2D.

3.2 Results in HIP rats

3.2.1 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin alters genes important for neuroinflammation and immune signaling in the brains of HIP rats.

To understand how the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impacts the brain, we employed RNA-sequencing in the brains of WT rats that express nonamyloidogenic rat amylin and HIP rats (n=10/group). RNA seq analysis identified 408 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) when comparing WT and HIP rats. Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin led to a range of upregulated and downregulated genes shown by volcano plot (Fig. 3.1A) and hierarchal clustering of DEGs (Figure 3.1B). When DEGs were annotated in the IPA software, multiple pathways were enriched, such as neuroinflammation, neurovascular coupling, T and B cell signaling, and neuronal signaling (Fig. 3.1C). Furthermore, when DEGs were annotated based on GO using the DAVID software, biological pathways relating to the immune response, hypoxia, and neuronal development were enriched (Fig 3.1D). There were also enriched pathways in the molecular function, such as death receptor activity, misfolded protein, and cell-to-cell adhesion (Fig 3.1E). To validate genes in the brains of HIP rats, we targeted genes in immune related pathways that were known to be important in the peripheral adaptive immune response. The genes RT1 class Ib, locus S3 (RT1-S3) and RT1 class Ia, locus A1 (RT1-A1) are genes in important in MHC I. The genes Rt1 class II, locus Db2 (RT1-Db2) and RT1 class II, locus Doa (RT1-DOa) are genes important in MHC II. MHC molecules are expressed on the surface of peripheral immune cells and immune cells in the brain such as astrocytes and microglia. They are important for the binding of antigens and presenting them to

different cells for recognition to elicit an immune response. Lymphocyte activating gene 3 (Lag3) is an inhibitory receptor that is expressed on peripheral immune cells and glia, its most known role is currently expressed on exhausted immune cells. We conducted rt-PCR on these genes, but we did not see a significant difference in these genes when comparing WT and HIP rats (**Fig. 3.2**).



Figure 3.1: Neuroinflammation and immune related pathways induced by the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin in the brains of HIP rats. (A)

Volcano plot showing the Log₁₀ (p-value) vs. Log₁₀ (fold change) of DEGs in brains of WT and HIP rats. Each dot represents a gene. Red dots indicate upregulation, and blue represents downregulation. (B) Hierarchical clustering of DEGs in brains of WT vs HIP rats. (C) Top 10 canonical pathways identified by IPA software of DEGs in brains of rats WT vs HIP. (D) Top 10 biological pathways from GO identified by DAVID software. (E) Top 10 molecular function pathways identified by DAVID software.



Figure 3.2: Impact of the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin on adaptive immunity related genes in the brains of HIP rats. Rt-PCR was used to quantify mRNA expression of immune-related genes identified by RNA-sequencing (A) RT1-Db2, (B) Lag3, (C) RT1-S3, (D) RT1-DOA, (E) and RT1-A1 in the brains of WT and HIP rats (n=8-10/group). Data are presented as means ± SEM.

3.2.2 Hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral immune response in rats

As six of the top 10 canonical pathways identified were immune/inflammation-related, we next wanted to determine the impact of the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin on the immune system. To this end, we conducted flow cytometry on cells from the spleen and blood from WT and HIP rats. Although T2D is characterized by immune dysfunction, few studies focus on how increased concentrations of human amylin in the blood impact peripheral immune cell populations. In the spleens of HIP rats, we found no significant difference between the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets, CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ DN T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils compared to WT counterparts (Fig. 3.3A). When we looked at cells/gram of CD45⁺ leukocytes in the spleen there were no changes when compared to WT counterparts; however, there was a trend towards a decrease (p = 0.0615). Among the CD45⁺ subpopulations, we found a significant decrease in CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils in the spleens of HIP rats (Fig. 3.3B). For circulating populations in the blood, there was no significant difference in the percent of total CD45⁺ cells in HIP rats but again for subpopulations we identified a significant decrease in CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells though CD4⁺ T cells significantly increased. No significant change was observed in B cells, monocytes, and neutrophils in HIP rats compared to WT counterparts (Fig.3.4).



Figure 3.3: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to splenic lymphopenia. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/group). (B) Cells/grams of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means ± SEM.



Figure 3.4: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to alterations in circulating T cells. (A) Representative flow cytometry analyses of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. (B) Percent of CD4⁺T cells in the blood of WT and HIP rats. (C) Percent of immune cell immune subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages and neutrophils) in the blood of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/group). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means ± SEM.

3.2.3 Hypersecretion of human amylin leads to deficits in immune cells migration into the CNS

We used flow cytometry to determine if the hypersection of pancreatic human amylin decreased immune cell infiltration into the CNS similar to peripheral suppression of immune populations. Prior studies from our lab found that there is amylin accumulation in the brains of HIP rats' concomitant with neuroinflammation characterized by glial activation and BBB dysfunction, with cognitive decline starting at 10-12 months and exacerbated with aging.⁽¹³⁻¹⁵⁾ It is yet to be determined how these pathologies are associated with innate and adaptive peripheral immune populations. In the brains of HIP rats, we found no significant difference between the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets, CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ DN T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils compared to WT counterparts (Fig. 3.5A). However, we identified a significant decrease of CD45⁺ immune cells in the brains of HIP rats that also exhibited depleted peripheral populations described above. Among CD45⁺ subsets, we saw a significant decrease in CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and neutrophils in the cortical hemispheres. As with the circulating profiles, we found no significant changes with B cells and macrophages/microglia, although they were trending toward a decrease in number (p=.0928) and (p=0.0502), respectively (Fig. 3.5B)

3.2.4 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human alters CXCR4 expression on CD4⁺ T cells in the spleen

Studies in T2D have shown that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is activated shown by increased plasma CXCL12 levels and decreased CXCR4 expression on PBMCs.⁽²¹³⁻²¹⁵⁾ Furthermore, patients with pre-diabetes and T2D exhibit a decreased expression of CXCR4 on PBMCs.⁽²¹⁶⁾ These studies suggests a potential deficit in the ability of immune cells to migrate and home to where they need to be potentially contributing to the pathogenies of T2D. To understand how the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impacts immune cells homing mechanisms, we first used flow cytometry to determine the percent of CXCR4-expressing cells in the spleens of HIP rats. We found a significant increase in the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing CXCR4 in HIP rats compared to WT controls (**Fig. 3.6A&B**). We did not, however, see any differences in the percentage of CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, neutrophils or macrophages expressing CXCR4 (**Fig.3.6C**) suggesting that the hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin may not be the mechanism responsible for the lack of immune cell migrating to the brain.



Figure 3.5: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to decreases in immune cell migration into the brain of HIP rats. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the brains of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cells (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the brain of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired twotailed Students t-test. Data are means ± SEM.



Figure 3.6: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to an increase of CXCR4⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. (A) Representative flow cytometry analyses of splenic CXCR4⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. (B) Percent of CXCR4 CD4⁺ T cells in the spleens of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). (C) Percent of CXCR4⁺ immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). *p < 0.05 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means ± SEM.

3.2.5 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin does not alter CXCL12 in the brain but alters CAMs

CXCL12 is the chemokine that attracts CXCR4-expressing cells, and studies have shown that CXCL12 expression in the brain is associated with an increase of immune cells in the CNS, for subpopulations either expressing CXCR4 or not.⁽²⁵³⁾ To determine if the decrease in immune cells in the HIP rat brains caused by hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin is secondary to disruptions in the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis, we used IHC to determine the expression of CXCL12 in the brain, including co-localization to NeuN⁺ neurons and Iba1⁺ microglia. We found no significant differences in the expression of CXCL12, NeuN, or Iba1 protein within the cortex. Furthermore, we found no differences in the percent of CXCL12⁺ neurons or microglia in the presence of human amylin (**Fig.3.7**).

CAMS are cell surface molecules on cerebral venules that are important in mediating the interaction between circulating immune cells and the endothelium.⁽³¹⁰⁾ Recent studies in T2D show that soluble levels of circulating CAMs are altered,^(311, 312) but it is unknown how brain vessel-specific levels are altered by amylin. Since we observed no differences in CXCL12 expression, we determined if changes in CAM expression was another mechanism responsible for decreased immune cell migration into the brain. Studies have shown that VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 are important for binding, crawling and diapedesis across the endothelium.⁽³¹³⁻³¹⁵⁾ Specifically, VCAM-1 is involved in leukocyte adhesion to the BBB while ICAM-1 is more important for diapedesis, although it is important to mention they both can mediate both binding and entry. Western blot analysis of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 shows that in the brains of HIP

rats, there was a significant increase in the expression of VCAM-1, while in ICAM-1, there was a significant decrease in ICAM-1 expression compared to WT controls (**Fig.3.8**).



Figure 3.7: Impact of hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin on CXCL12

expression. (A) Immunohistochemistry analysis of CXCL12 in the brains of WT and HIP rats and co-localization with neurons and microglia. Arrows show co-localization of CXCL12 with neurons. (B) Number of CXCL12⁺ cells, number of NeuN⁺ cells, percent of CXCL12⁺ neurons, number of Iba1⁺ cells, and percent of CXCL12⁺ microglia in brains of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). Data are means \pm SEM



Figure 3.8: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to alterations of proteins responsible for immune cell migration. (A) Representation of protein levels using western blot of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1. (B) Analysis of VCAM-1 and I-CAM-1 expression from brain tissue in WT and HIP rats (n =7/ group). Changes in protein expression were quantified to the ratio of B-actin. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means \pm SEM.

3.2.6 Aggregated human leads to an altered acute immune response in WT rats

Previous studies in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice suggest that treatment with human amylin induced Treg proliferation.⁽³¹⁶⁾ Considering these studies show that human amylin can cause changes in T cell populations, we wanted to determine the acute immune response to human amylin in WT rats. We conducted flow cytometry on WT rats intravenously injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin, as published previously over a 1 and 2 week period.^(13, 15) After 1 week of injections with human amylin we saw no significant differences in the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cells subsets or in the cells/grams of CD45⁺ leukocytes and CD45⁺ immune cell subpopulations in the spleens of rats injected with human amylin (Fig. 3.9). When we looked at circulating CD45⁺ populations in the blood of injected rats we also saw no significant differences after 1 week of injections (Fig. 3.10). We next looked at whether two weeks of injections would elicit an immune response to human amylin. After 2 weeks of injections with we saw no differences in the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cells subsets in the spleens of injected rats (Fig. 3.11A). However, we did see a significant increase in total splenic counts for CD45⁺ immune cells, with specific increases in CD4⁺ T cells while there was no change in other cell types, although there was a trend for an increase in general CD3⁺ T cells (p=0.0702; Fig. 3.11B). Surprisingly, among the circulating $CD45^+$ cells in the blood of the same animals there was a significant increase of CD4⁺ T cells with a concomitant significant decrease in $CD8^+$ T cells. As with the HIP rats under chronic human amylin exposure, there was no change to $CD3^+T$ cells, B cells, neutrophils, and monocytes compared to PBS injected (Fig. 3.12).



Fig. 3.9: Aggregated human amylin does not induce splenic leukocyte changes after 1 week of injections. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group).



1-week injection

Fig. 3.10: Aggregated human amylin does not induce circulating leukocyte changes after 1 week of injections. (A) Percent of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the blood of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group).


Fig. 3.11: Aggregated human amylin induces acute proliferation of CD4+ T cells in the spleen after 2 weeks of injections. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group). *p < 0.05 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means ± SEM.



Fig. 3.12: Aggregated human amylin induces acute proliferation of CD4+ T cells in the blood after 2 weeks of injections. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the blood of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the blood of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human

amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group). *p < 0.05 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means \pm SEM.

3.2.7 Aggregated human immune does not induce lymphocyte cell migration into the brain

Previous studies have shown that intravenous injection with human amylin into AKO was able to injure endothelial cells and induce BBB dysfunction.⁽¹³⁾ Since our prior work showed that aggregated human amylin opens the BBB, and we identified a proliferation of splenic CD4⁺ T cells and a decrease in CD8⁺ T cells, we wanted to know if that was reflected in the brains of these same animals. Flow cytometry showed that after 1 week of acute human amylin injections we saw no difference in the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cells subsets or in the total cell count of CD45⁺leukocytes and CD45⁺ immune cell subpopulations in the brains of injected rats (**Fig. 3.13**). When we looked at the two week injects, in which did elicit a peripheral immune response, we also saw no difference in the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cells subsets or in the total cell count of CD45⁺ leukocytes and CD45⁺ immune cell subpopulations in the brains of injected rats. (**Fig. 3.14**), confirming that CNS-related changes secondary to human amylin require a longer exposure time as seen in the HIP rats.

3.2.8 Aggregated human amylin alters the CXCR4 expression in the periphery but not CXCL12 in the brain

Since aggregated human amylin led to increases of CD4⁺ T cells into the spleen, we wanted to know if the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis was initiated with acute exposure. We isolated splenocytes from WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin and conducted flow cytometry to determine the amount of CXCR4-expressing immune cells. We found no significant differences in CD45⁺ general

leukocytes, nor changes in CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, neutrophils, or macrophages CXCR4 expression (**Fig. 3.15**). We also wanted to determine if the aggregated human amylin impacted the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in the brains of injected rats. IHC was used to determine the expression of CXCL12 in the brains of WT rats injected with PBS and aggregated human amylin for colocalization similar to the HIP rats. We found again no significant differences in the number of CXCL12-expressing cells, neuronal, or microglial populations. Furthermore, we found no differences in the percent of CXCL12 expressing neurons or microglia in rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (**Fig. 3.16**).



Fig. 3.13: Aggregated human amylin does impact immune cell migration after 1 week of injections. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the brains of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in

the brains of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group).



Fig. 3.14: Aggregated human amylin does not impact immune cell migration after 2 weeks of injections. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ cell immune cell subsets (CD45RA⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cells, and macrophages and neutrophils) in the blood of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/group). (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the blood of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (HA) (n = 6/ group). *p < 0.05 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means ± SEM.



2-week injection

Figure 3.15: Aggregated human amylin does not change CXCR4 expression on splenocytes. (A) Percent of CXCR4⁺ immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells. CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT rats injected with either PBS or HA (n = 5/ group). Data are means \pm SEM



Figure 3.16: Aggregated human does not lead to acute changes in CXCL12 expression in the brain. (A) Immunohistochemistry analysis of CXCL12 in the brains of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin and co-localization with neurons and microglia. Arrows show co-localization of CXCL12 with neurons. (B) Number of CXCL12⁺ cells, number of Nuen⁺ cells, percent of CXCL12⁺ neurons, number of Iba1⁺ cells, and percent of CXCL12⁺ microglia in brains of WT rats injected with PBS or aggregated human amylin (n = 5/ group). Data are means \pm SEM.

3.3 Results in HIP mice

Our studies in HIP rats show a dysregulated immune response due to the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin. As many tools to study the immune response are limited in rats, we expanded these studies to include a HIP mouse model. While this mouse model also expresses pancreatic human amylin, there are a few caveats not found in the rat model. In homozygous conditions, mice typically only last 5-7 months of age, leaving us unable to age the animals to have equivalent long-term chronic human amylin in the circulation.⁽²⁷⁵⁾ However, they still develop the diabetic phenotype, characterized by hyperglycemia, and have amylin deposits in the pancreas. The advantage, however, is that more antibodies are available in mice for flow cytometry, allowing us to better phenotype the immune response.

3.3.1 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to a dysregulated peripheral immune response in mice similar to HIP rats

For these studies, we used male HIP mice (age ~6 months). We showed that in HIP rats, there was lymphopenia in the spleens of HIP rats (**Fig. 3.3**); when we looked at the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets, we saw significant increases in CD19⁺ B cells and a significant decrease in CD4+ T cells in HIP mice compared to WT controls (**Fig. 3.17A**). When we looked at the total count of immune cells in spleens of HIP mice, we were able to replicate the results seen in HIP rats, showing that there is a significant decrease in total cell count among CD45⁺ cells. Among CD45⁺ subpopulations, we also confirmed a decrease in total CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils in HIP mice compared to WT controls (**Fig. 3.17B**).

Spleen



Figure 3.17: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to lymphopenia and alterations of the frequency of immune cells in the spleens of HIP mice. (A) Proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets (CD19⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ T cells, monocytes & neutrophils, and other cells include CD3⁺ CD19⁺ cells and CD45⁺ CD3⁻ Cd19⁻ Ly6g⁻ CD11b⁻ cells) in the spleens of WT and HIP mice. (B) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the spleens of WT and HIP mice. (n = 8-9/ group) ****p < 0.0001 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means \pm SEM.

3.3.2 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin decreases B cell frequency in the brains of mice.

Next, we wanted to know if cells were significantly decreased in the brains of HIP mice, similar to what was seen in HIP rats (**Fig. 3.5B**) Surprisingly, in the proportion of CD45⁺ immune cells subsets, we found that CD19⁺ B cells were significantly decreased in the brains of HIP mice, with no changes to other populations (**Fig. 3.18A&B**). When we looked at the total cell counts there were no significant differences in CD45⁺ immune cells and CD45⁺ immune subsets such as CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, macrophages/microglia, and neutrophils (**Fig. 3.18C**).

3.3.3 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to bone marrow failure

Studies in models such as spinal cord injury (SCI) and WHIM syndrome show that lymphopenia is usually associated with BM dysfunction and hematopoiesis. To determine if the reduced splenocyte counts with chronic human amylin expression is a true lymphopenia secondary to BM dysfunction, we conducted flow cytometry on immune cells in the BM of WT and HIP mice. We found that in proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets there was a significant increase in monocytes and neutrophils and CD4⁺ T cells in HIP mice compared to controls, suggesting a sequestration of immune cells due to the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin. Interestingly, B cells remained significantly decreased similar to the spleen and brain. (**Fig. 3.19A&B**). When we looked at the total cell counts, we again found that B cells were significantly decreased, with no changes in other immune cell populations in the BM (**Fig 3.19C**). These data suggest there is a B cell-specific lymphopenia in HIP mice.



Figure 3.18: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to decreased B
cell migration into the brain. (A) Representative flow cytometry analyses of CD19⁺
B cells in the brains of HIP mice. (B) Proportion of CD45⁺ immune cell subsets
(CD19⁺ B cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ T cells, monocytes & neutrophils,
and other cells include CD3⁺ CD19⁺ cells and CD45⁺ CD3⁻ Cd19⁻ Ly6g⁻ CD11b⁻ cells)

in the brains of WT and HIP mice. (C) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the brains of WT and HIP mice. (n = 8-9/ group) *p < 0.05 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Bar graphs show the absolute number of. Data are means \pm SEM.



Figure 3.19: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to sequestration of immune cells in the bone marrow except B cells. (A) Representative flow cytometry analyses of $TCR\beta^+$ T cells and $CD19^+$ B cells in the BM of WT and HIP mice. (B) Proportion of $CD45^+$ immune cell subsets ($CD19^+$ B cells, $CD4^+$ T cells,

CD8⁺ T cells, CD3⁺ T cells, monocytes & neutrophils, and other cells include CD3⁺ CD19⁺ cells and CD45⁺ CD3⁻ Cd19⁻ Ly6g⁻ CD11b⁻ cells) in the BM of WT and HIP mice. (C) Total cell count of immune cell subsets (CD45⁺ cells, CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) in the BM of WT and HIP mice (n = 8-9/ group). *p < 0.05, and **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means \pm SEM.

3.3.4 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to deficits in hematopoiesis

Studies have shown that diabetes can alter hematopoiesis, but it is unknown how the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin contributes to this dysfunction. We wanted to determine if defects in hematopoiesis contributed to the decreased immune cells in the periphery in HIP mice, or decreased representation of B cells within the BM. Using flow cytometry on cells from the BM, we looked for HSPCS. We found that in the BM, there was a significant increase in MPPs (**Fig. 3.14A&B**) and a significant decrease in long term-hematopoietic stem cells (LT-HSCs) cells in HIP mice compared to WT controls. We did not see any difference in c-kit⁺ sca-1⁺ (LSK) cells, markers on early developing hematopoietic stem cells, and short termhematopoietic stem cells. (ST-HSCs) cells (**Fig. 3.14A&C**).

3.3.5 Direct evidence of dysregulation of B cell development in HIP mice

The marked decrease in the B cell populations seen in the spleen, brain, and BM led us to hypothesize that these decreases resulted from defects in B cell development. B cell development occurs in the BM and is initiated from the hematopoietic stem cells that differentiate into common lymphoid progenitors, then follow the order of pre-pro B cells, pro-B cells, pre-B cells, and immature B cells. When we look at the proportion of B220⁺ B cells in the BM we found that there is a significant increase in pre-pro and immature B cells, while there was a decrease in pre B cells in HIP mice compared to controls (**Fig. 3.21A**). When we looked at the total count of developing B cells, we found that in the BM of HIP mice, there was a significant decrease in total B cells, pre-pro B cells, Pro B cells, pre B cells, and

immature B cells compared to WT mice (**Fig. 3.21B**). Furthermore, maturation of B cells continues in lymphoid organs such as the spleen, so we also looked at developing B cell populations in the spleen. We found that in the proportion of B cells in the spleens of HIP mice, there was significant decreases in follicular B cells and an increase in marginal zone B cells (**Fig. 3.22A**). When we looked at the total count for these populations, there was a significant decrease in total B cells, transitional B cells and follicular B cells with no changes to marginal B cells compared to WT counterparts (**Fig. 3.22B**). These data suggest that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to B cell development deficits.

3.3.6 Hypersecretion of pancreatic human leads to alters the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis on B cells in mice

The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is also important in B cell lymphopoiesis and we wanted to determine if the expression of CXCR4 expression on these B cell progenitors was altered in HIP mice. Using flow cytometry, we found that the expression of CXCR4 was increased on these developing B cell populations in the BM, such as pro B, pre-B, and immature B cells, with no changes in expression on pre pro B cells (**Fig. 3.16A**). There were also increases of CXCR4 on developing B cells in the spleen, such as marginal B cells with no changes in the follicular B cells and transitional B cells, although transitional B cell CXCR4 expression was trending towards an increase (p = 0.0753) (**Fig. 3.16B**).

Bone Marrow



Figure 3.20: Hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin of HSPCs in the bone marrow

of HIP mice. (A) Representative flow cytometry analyses of MPPs, LT-HSCs, and ST-HSCs in the BM of WT and HIP mice. (B) Percent of MPP cells in the bone marrow of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). (C) Percent of HSPCs such as LSK cells, c-kit⁺ cells. LT-HSCs and ST-HSCs in the bone marrow of WT and HIP rats (n = 8-9/ group). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 as determined using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are means \pm SEM.



Figure 3.21: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impairs B cell lymphopoiesis in the bone marrow of HIP mice. (A) Proportion of developing $B220^+$ B cells such as pre-pro B cells, pro B cells, pre B cells, and immature B cells in the BM of WT and HIP mice (n=8/group). (B) The total cell counts of developing B cells such pre-pro B cells, pro B cells, pre B cells, and immature B (n=8/group). **p < 0.01, ***p < .001, and ****p < 0.0001 as determine using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means ± SEM.







Figure 3.23: Hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to increased expression of CXCR4 on developing B cells HIP mice. (A) Geometrical mean of CXCR4 on developing B cells such as, pre-pro B cells, pro B cells, pre B cells and immature B cells in the BM of WT and HIP mice (n=8/group). (B) The geometrical mean of CXCR4 on developing B cells such as transitional B cells, follicular B cells, and marginal B cells in the spleen of WT and HIP mice (n=8/group). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, and ****p < 0.0001 as determine using unpaired two-tailed Students t-test. Data are presented as means ± SEM.

Chapter 4: Conclusion & Discussion

4.1 Conclusion

Previous studies show that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline in rats (reviewed in Chapter 1), and T2D is well known for causing a disturbance in the immune response in both humans and animal models⁽¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹⁾. However, how human amylin contributes to this immune dyshomeostasis is poorly understood. In this current chapter, we observed that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin led to alterations in genes responsible for neuroinflammation, neurovascular coupling, and the immune response in the brains of HIP rats. These data were the first indication that human amylin played a role in altering the neuroimmune axis. We then found that in both rats and mice, the hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin led to lymphopenia in the spleen, followed by alterations of T cell subsets in the circulation. This peripheral lymphopenia led to a decrease in immune cells that migrated to the brain in rats but not mice, though mice did exhibit lower parenchymal B cell frequency.

We next sought to understand mechanisms contributing to change in immune cell distribution with chronic human amylin exposure. First, using IHC, we observed the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis was not responsible for this reduced migration into the brain in HIP rats. We confirmed that acute injections with human amylin were able to elicit an immune response but also did not impact immune cell migration into the brain, nor did it activate the CXCR4 axis. In moving to HIP mice to capitalize on additional immunophenotyping tools, we found that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin in mice led to the sequestration of immune cells in the BM associated

with B cell development and hematopoiesis deficits, which led to a decrease in B cells in the BM, spleen, and brain that was also associated with defects in the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis within the BM. Collectively, our studies suggest a role for lymphopenia and BM failure as a contributing factor to altered neuroinflammation caused by the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin, an immunophenotype occurring in a model of T2D-mediated cognitive decline.

4.2 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on altered gene expression in the brains of HIP rats

Previous studies in the lab show that in the brains of 12-month-old HIP rats, there is an increase of genes important for M1 microglia/macrophages, which were associated with an increase of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-6, and a decrease in the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10; all changes associated with cognitive decline.⁽¹⁴⁾ This led us to question: what genes in the brain were associated with the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin? We now demonstrate using RNA-seq that the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin alters genes responsible for neuronal signaling, neuroinflammation, and the immune response, the latter two important for protection and tissue repair in response to CNS injury.⁽¹⁹⁾ Chronic neuroinflammation is associated with neurodegeneration mediated by the activation of resident immune cells of the CNS as well as peripheral immune cells, further contributing to the development of neurodegenerative disorders and cognitive decline.^(317, 318) This finding provides additional evidence for the role of pancreatic human amylin in contributing to neuroinflammation and related pathological signaling in the brain.

RNA seq analysis highlighted several specific pathways related to immune signaling due to the accumulation of pancreatic amylin, such as antigen presentation, B cell development, the Th1 pathway, and the PD-1, PD-L1 pathway. However, it is important to note we did not see any differences in validation using rt-PCR. Antigen presentation in the CNS is mostly carried out by microglia, which express MHC II in response to injury, allowing them to present antigens to CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells.⁽³¹⁹⁾ Studies in mice on HFD have shown that upregulation of MHC II on microglia is associated with poor cognition.⁽³²⁰⁾ Furthermore, MHC II is upregulated on microglia in patients with AD and is also associated with cognition.^(321, 322) Another pathway highlighted was B cell development, which was interesting because it is currently unknown what the roles of B cells are in the diabetic brain while studies in AD are controversial for whether the deletion of B cells is beneficial ⁽³²³⁾ or detrimental.⁽³²⁴⁾ However, the peripheral aspects of how pancreatic human amylin impacts B cells will be discussed later in this chapter. Th1 was another immune pathway highlighted. As discussed in Chapter 1, Th1 are mainly IFN-y producing T-cells that are increased in mice on HFD,^(157, 164) but their role in the brain during T2D is mostly unknown. Our data suggest a potential role for IFN-y during the progression of T2D and the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin. In the brain studies have suggested that IFN-y is necessary for CNS immune surveillance and repair by infiltrating T cells,⁽³²⁵⁾ suggesting a compensatory mechanism to recruit T cells to the brain. The final major immune-related pathway activated by human amylin was the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) pathway. PD1 and PD-L1 are mainly expressed on activated immune cells and are important in the immune checkpoint pathway by

regulating the immune response through suppression. In the periphery, they are mainly associated with cancer and exhausted T cells.⁽³²⁶⁾ In the brain, they are expressed on the endothelium and glial cells and are associated with neuroinflammation ⁽³²⁷⁾ but have not previously been associated with T2D. As such, these findings further provide evidence for the detrimental role of the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin; they are also the initial evidence for the hypothesis that pancreatic human amylin disturbs the neuroimmune axis during the progression of T2D and T2D-induced cognitive decline.

4.3 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on the peripheral immune response in HIP rats.

Studies have shown that in both patients with T2D and mouse models of T2D, immune cells including CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils are increased in the AT and circulation.^(126, 140, 156, 158) However, studies have also shown that T2D can also be associated with lymphopenia.⁽³²⁸⁾ In our studies we found the latter: the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin in rats decreased T and B cell populations and myeloid cells in the spleen of HIP rats. Although most studies attribute the dysregulation of the immune response to hyperglycemia, individuals with T2D also have increased amounts of amylin in circulation, which has been ignored as a potential contributing factor to the immune response. As aggregated human amylin is well known to cause apoptosis in various cell types,^(59, 60) immune cells could be undergoing apoptosis due to the increased amount of amylin in circulation in patients with T2D and HIP rats from our studies.

An example of this is the decrease in CD8⁺ T cells: Studies in mice on HFD show that pro-inflammatory CD8⁺ T cells are increased in the AT preceding CD4⁺ T cell alterations, and CD8⁺ T cells are also associated with IR and obesity as blocking CD8⁺ T cells improved diabetic phenotypes.⁽¹⁶⁶⁾ As the only difference between our study and others is the accumulation of pancreatic amylin, this suggests a potential role of pancreatic amylin in CD8⁺ T cell survival. It is currently unknown how amylin impacts immune cells in general; CD8⁺ T cells could be more sensitive to amylin than other immune cell subsets in circulation. This finding was further supported in our experiments where rats injected with aggregated human amylin for 2 weeks showed a decrease in CD8⁺ T cells compared to PBS-injected rats (**Fig. 3.12**). The same could be true for B cells, neutrophils, and macrophages as they were also found to be decreased in the spleens of HIP rats with chronic amylin exposure.

When we looked in the circulation, contrary to what we saw in the spleen, we saw an increase in CD4⁺ T cells, however the decrease in CD8⁺ T cells in HIP rats remained. CD4⁺ T cells are increased in patients with T2D and mouse models of T2D and are usually pro-inflammatory T cells, such as Th1 and Th17 cells. In particular, Th1 and Th17 cells have been reported to be associated with insulin resistance and severity of T2D by contributing to the chronic pro-inflammatory environment.^(157, 161, 162) This finding of increased CD4⁺ T cells in circulation was also supported in rats injected with aggregated human amylin, showing an increase in CD4⁺ T cells in the spleen and blood. These findings suggest that pancreatic human amylin potentially plays a role in the proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells, but further studies need to determine the phenotype of these cells.

4.4 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on the peripheral immune cell migration to the brain in HIP rats.

Our study found that similar to what was seen in the spleen of HIP rats, there was a decrease in immune cells in the brains of HIP rats. Studies have shown that T2D is characterized by decreased leukocyte adherence and transendothelial migration,⁽¹⁷⁵⁾ preventing immune cells from reaching their target tissue or environment. However, one study showed that HFD can lead to an increase in immune cells in the brain, ostensibly through an upregulation of these same mechanisms.⁽¹⁷³⁾ Due to the scarce amount of studies focused on how diabetes impacts immune cell migration into the brain and, furthermore, how pancreatic amylin contributes to this, we relied on AD models and models that have used diabetes as a co-morbidity for insight into how immune cells are altered in the brain under conditions of neuroinflammation and cognitive decline as well as T2D. In mouse models of AD, studies show there is increase in inflammatory T cells that contribute to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline,^(317, 318) suggesting that in neurodegenerative diseases there is increase of immune cell infiltration into the brain. In contrast, studies using diabetic mice infected with WNV show that diabetes decreased the recruitment of CD45⁺ immune cells and specifically CD8⁺ T cells in the brain.⁽¹⁷⁷⁾ This study suggested that there is a defect in immune cell migration into the CNS due to T2D. However, contradicting studies have shown that in diabetic mice that received an ischemic stroke, immune cells in the brain increase, such as $CD4^+ T$ cells, $CD8^+ T$ cells, B cells, and neutrophils.⁽¹⁷⁸⁾ In light of these AD-related studies and due to our prior work showing neuroinflammation in HIP rats, we hypothesized that there would be an increase of immune cells into the brain, which turned out untrue. This suggests that the peripheral

immune response is important and critical to the immune response reflected in the brain. Meaning that the peripheral environment – including lymphopenia secondary to chronic human amylin exposure – takes precedent over brain-localized neuroinflammation and general parenchymal immune responses.

This next led us to want to understand a potential mechanism for the reduced immune cells into the brain. The study in WNV showed that there was a decrease in the CAMs (ICAM-1 and VCAM-1), which was associated with a decrease in immune cell migration.⁽¹⁷⁷⁾ As mentioned in Chapter 2, ICAM and VCAMs are important in leukocyte migration across the BBB. However, in most studies, ^(177, 329) their expression levels are usually expressed in the same degree, for example, if VCAM is down, then ICAM is down, as also shown in the study in WNV and T2D. However, in our study, VCAM-1 was increased while ICAM-1 was decreased. As they both are important in the overall process of leukocyte migration across the BBB, studies have suggested that ICAM-1 is the main contributor to the diapedesis across the endothelium, while VCAM-1 is more important in the adhesion of T cells to the endothelium.⁽³¹³⁻³¹⁵⁾ These studies suggest that during the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin, immune cells may have the ability to adhere to the BBB, but due to the loss of ICAM-1, they cannot diapedese, providing a potential mechanism for decreased immune cells in the brain. However, no other studies have investigated the relationship between immune cell migration and CAM expression during T2D, showing a need for more studies focusing on how T2D impacts immune cell migration into the CNS. Our study suggests a specific role for pancreatic human amylin in reducing immune cell migration into the CNS though altering CAM expression in the

brain, potentially contributing to neuroinflammation and cognitive deficits as previously reported.

The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is implicated in many physiological processes in various conditions, including T2D, with one of the most-studied mechanisms being control over immune cell migration. In fact, studies in patients with T2D show that there is a decrease in expression of CXCR4 on PBMCs.⁽²¹⁵⁾ In our study, we found that CD4⁺ T cells have an increased expression of CXCR4 in the spleens, which suggests that immune cells' surface expression of CXCR4 may differ once cells reach their target organ vs. expression levels in the circulation. Furthermore, it suggests that pancreatic human amylin is able to modulate migration proteins on immune cells in the periphery. No studies to date have shown how T2D or amylin impacts CXCL12 expression in the brain; in our study, we did not identify differences between CXCL12 expression. When rats were injected with aggregated human amylin, we also did not see any acute differences in CXCR4 expression in splenocytes or CXCL12 expression in the brain, suggesting that acute amylin aggregation does not induce changes in the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis.

4.5 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on lymphopenia and bone marrow failure in HIP mice

When we employed HIP mice to get a better understanding of the peripheral immune response secondary to pancreatic human amylin, we found similar results to HIP rats with decreases in splenic immune cell subsets, further suggesting that the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin induces lymphopenia. Studies in diseases such as SCI and WHIM syndrome have shown that lymphopenia is usually associated with BM failure, which can lead to the sequestration of HSPCs and immune cells in the

BM.^(212, 330) Mature immune cells develop in the BM from a pool of HSPCs through a process called hematopoiesis.⁽³³¹⁾ Under homeostatic conditions, this process is well regulated through the CXCL12-CXCR4 axis, and under pathological conditions, CXCL12 and CXCR4 are increased, leading to impairment of hematopoiesis and immune cell mobilization. Both mouse and human studies show that T2D impairs HSPC mobilization,⁽³³²⁾ and we identified specific decreases in HSPCs such as LT-HSC, as well as increases in MPP. We also found sequestration of immune cells such as CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and macrophages in the BM of HIP mice, suggesting that the accumulation of pancreatic amylin is associated with BM dysfunction. However, this did not extend to B cells as they were still decreased as they were in the spleen, which was also seen in the brains of HIP mice, providing the first pieces of evidence that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin may lead directly to B cell defects.

4.6 The implications of pancreatic human amylin on B lymphopoiesis in HIP mice

B cell lymphopoiesis is a well-controlled process that occurs in the BM, and studies have shown that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is essential in both B cell development and mobilization from the BM.^(332, 333) We found that pancreatic hypersecretion of amylin leads to a defect in B cell development in the BM and spleen characterized by a decrease in developmental B cell populations. Furthermore, these B cell populations had an increase of CXCR4 expression, which will tether these cells in the BM environment that is expressing CXCL12, suggesting that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to defects in B cell lymphopoiesis through the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. To date, there are no studies showing that T2D or amylogenic disorders impair B cell development. Studies have shown that disorders in thyroid hormones in mice deficient in

growth hormones, including prolactin, insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1), thyrotropin, and thyroxine, can impair B lymphopoiesis.⁽³³⁴⁾ As pancreatic human amylin is a hormone, it could be added to the list of hormones impairing B lymphopoiesis. In the context of T2D, the current understanding is that B cells are major drivers of the pathogenesis of T2D, contributing to the inflammatory response and insulin resistance.⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ This study adds an interesting contradiction, showing that discrete hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin yields fewer B cells though it is still associated with T2D. B cell-deficient mice on HFD show improved IR and decreased inflammatory cytokines. Although there are fewer B cells, they could still be contributing to the inflammatory milieu as we currently don't know their inflammatory phenotype but should investigate in future studies.

4.7 Targeting hematopoiesis, lymphopenia, and bone marrow failure

HSPCs are essential for producing and replenishing different types of blood cells, which include immune cells in the BM. Under homeostatic conditions, blood cells go through coordinated differentiation and mobilization to maintain normal levels of circulating immune cells.⁽³³¹⁾ In conditions such as aging,⁽³³⁵⁾ SCI,⁽³³⁰⁾ WHIM syndrome,⁽²¹²⁾ and T2D,⁽³³⁶⁾ these processes are impaired, leading to BM failure characterized by sequestration of immune cells, hematopoietic dysfunction, and lymphopenia. In patients with T2D, HSPCs are reduced by up to 40% and are associated with poor mobilization of HSPCs.⁽³³⁷⁾ However, it is mostly unknown how disorders of hematopoiesis and BM failure impact immune cell migration into the brain, neuroinflammation, and cognitive decline. As we see defects of hematopoiesis, lymphopenia, and BM failure in animals that have been shown to have neuroinflammation and cognitive decline,^(13, 14) we believe that harnessing therapies

geared toward these symptoms may be a promising therapeutic to human amylin-induced neuropathology.

To this end, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is a process in which healthy hematopoietic stem cells are administered to patients with BM dysfunction.⁽³³⁸⁾ It is a common procedure to treat blood disorders and cancers, in which over 60,00 are performed annually.⁽³³⁹⁾ Once administered, they are accompanied by a mobilizing agent, allowing the cells to escape the BM and circulate. One of the most common and well-known mobilizing agents is granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). C-GSF induces mobilization by decreasing CXCL12 and upregulating CXCR4.⁽³⁴⁰⁾ Most transplants that are accompanied by C-GSF are successful. However, studies have shown that in patients with T2D, there are still patients who exhibit low mobilization even after administration with C-GSF due to dysfunction of mesenchymal and perivascular neural cell dysfunction in the BM, possible again related to elevated amylin levels disrupting BM function but not generally investigated.^(336, 341, 342)

AS HSPCs are regulated by the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis, inhibitors of CXCR4 have emerged as a therapeutic candidate to overcome immune deficiency disorders due to BM failure. AMD3100, an Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved CXCR4 antagonist, induces a rapid mobilization of HSPCS.⁽²⁹⁹⁾ Studies in SCI have shown that the administration of AMD310 was able to release HSPCS and leukocytes from the BM.⁽³³⁰⁾ In patients with WHIM syndrome, ADM3100 reverses immunodeficiency safely⁽³⁴³⁾ while studies in T1D confirm that AMD3100 is able to induce the mobilization of HSPCS.⁽³³⁶⁾ Although studies are lacking in T2D, AMD3100 has been beneficial in diabetic wound healing through mobilizing endothelial progenitor cells that promote

healing to the site of injury.⁽³⁴⁴⁾ In other models of neurodegeneration, AMD3100 is neuroprotective by reducing neuroinflammation, BBB dysfunction, cognitive decline, and reduced immune cell migration.⁽²⁴⁵⁾ Studies in AD have also confirmed that AMD3100 reduces cognitive decline through increased recruitment of BM-derived microglia cells in the brain.⁽²⁷⁰⁾ Together, these studies 1) show a need for increased investigation in patients with T2D who are experiencing immunodeficiency due to BM failure; and 2) a potential future direction for therapeutics to counter lymphopenia and hematopoiesis deficits, which in turn could alleviate neuroinflammation and cognitive decline caused by the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin.

4.8 Targeting Inflammation & Immunotherapies

Immunomodulatory biologics as therapeutics have gained traction in both animal studies and clinical trials over the years.⁽³⁴⁵⁾ However, in the case of T2D, some of these therapeutics have not been considered, and if so, they don't focus on how it affects the immune response, neuroinflammation, and cognitive decline that T2D can lead to. As discussed in Chapter 1, in T2D there is an increase in inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, with pancreatic human amylin specifically increasing IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-6 in monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells.⁽⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰⁾ In the brains of HIP rats, there is an increase of IL-1 β in neurons, increased pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6, and a decrease in anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10.^(14, 100) These cytokines are released by both immune and non-immune cells and contribute to the immune response, neuroinflammation, and cognitive decline, suggesting that inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokines, administration of anti-inflammatory cytokines, and/or modulating immune cell phenotypes are all promising therapeutic targets.

IL-1 β is one of the most studied pro-inflammatory cytokines regarding T2D. In animal models and patients with T2D, antagonism of IL-1 reduces hyperglycemia and inflammation.^(82, 83) and although amyloid-forming amylin was not considered in these models, they show promise for IL-1 as a potential therapeutic. Surprisingly, IL-1 β is also important in hematopoiesis. Studies in aging found that the BM environment is characterized by increases in IL-1β and is associated with BM failure.⁽³⁴⁶⁾ They also show that chronic injections with IL-1 β are able to induce BM dysfunction, and blocking of IL- 1β reversed BM dysfunction.⁽³⁴⁶⁾ As we and others have shown, T2D and the hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin led to increases in IL-1 β ; this could be a potential contributing factor to BM dysfunction and lymphopenia seen in our studies. Furthermore, studies in AD that block IL-1 β using NRLP3 inhibitors rescue learning and memory deficits and reduce neuroinflammation and A β plaques^{.(347)} Together these studies suggest that IL-1 β inhibitors are an attractive therapeutic option to reverse BM failure, which may result in reversing lymphopenia and help immune cells migrate to the brain, potentially leading to neuroprotection. Future studies should focus on whether the blockade of IL-1 β in HIP animals leads to reversing BM failure and if this is associated with reversing B lymphopoieses, as no studies have explored this connection. As these studies suggest that IL-1 β blockade will reverse BM failure, it should be explored if it also reverses lymphopenia, increases immune cell migration to the brain, and is associated with improvements in cognitive decline and neuroinflammation in HIP animals.

Another immunotherapy shown to reduce IL-1 β levels is PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors. Currently, PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors are FDA-approved for cancer and have been successful in increasing anti-tumor immunity.⁽³⁴⁸⁾ Confirming potential efficacy in T2D, studies in
patients with T2D show that CD8⁺ T cells expressing PD-1 have impaired bioenergetics and cytokine production.⁽³⁴⁹⁾ Furthermore, our RNAseq results discussed in Chapter 3 show that the PD-1/PD-L1 pathways are enriched in HIP rats' brains. However, as of yet no studies have considered these inhibitors as therapeutics for patients with T2D. This may be due to concerns that drugs in this category have been known to increase blood sugar and, in some cases, can lead to T1D, but the rate of this was lower than 3% and nonexistent in other drugs.⁽³⁵⁰⁾ Also, studies have shown that the use of these inhibitors can lead to severe lymphopenia.⁽³⁵¹⁾ Studies in AD found that the use of PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors led to an increase in cognition and a decrease in amylin plaques in the brain.⁽³⁵²⁾ They also found that systemic T cells were increased, which was associated with an increase of monocyte-derived macrophages in the brain, suggesting the beneficial effects of both circulating T cells and the migration of macrophages in the brain. Furthermore, as mentioned, the inhibitor reduced brain levels of IL-1 β . Due to the risk of lymphopenia associated with PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors, this drug may not be the best for our model since the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin already leads to lymphopenia. However, it is still unknown how this drug impacts BM dysfunction and B lymphopoiesis. The upregulation of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway in HIP brains and studies in AD showing its ability to decrease IL-1 β and improve cognitive decline suggests it is a potential therapeutic candidate, but the side effects make it controversial.

Another cytokine impacted by the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin is IL-10. IL-10 is a cytokine with anti-inflammatory properties known for its role in preventing inflammation. It is secreted by multiple cell types, the most prominent producers being Th2 cells and Tregs.⁽³⁵³⁾ In patients with T2D, IL-10 is decreased and

mutations in the IL-10 gene is associated with T2D.⁽³⁵⁴⁾ In the brains of HIP rats, IL-10 is decreased and is associated with neuroinflammation and cognitive decline.⁽¹⁴⁾ These studies provide a rationale for IL-10 as a potential therapeutic target. Multiple studies show that the administration of IL-10 is beneficial in autoimmune disorders, inflammatory diseases, cancer, and CNS disorders.⁽³⁵⁵⁻³⁵⁷⁾ One of the mechanisms of action behind IL-10 therapy is the increase of Tregs. Tregs are known anti-inflammatory immunosuppressants, with their increase's protective in many CNS diseases.^(356, 357) T regs are also important in hematopoiesis and B cell development. Mice deficient in Tregs lead to B cell development and hematopoiesis deficits, which were rescued by transplantation of normal BM cells.^(358, 359) Furthermore, studies have shown they are important for suppressing pathogenic Th17 cells, which are increased in T2D.⁽³⁶⁰⁾ Unfortunately, studies in animal models and humans with T2D have shown that Tregs are decreased limiting their benefit during chronic neuroinflammation.^(113, 361) Though studies in AD have shown that IL-10 therapy exacerbated AD-increased plaque burden and behavior deficits,⁽³⁶²⁾ IL-10 decreased neuroinflammation, BBB leakage, infarct volume while increasing IL-10⁺ Tregs in the brain in TBI and stroke.^(356, 357) This provides a rationale, however, that administration of IL-10 may be enough to prevent peripheral inflammation and increase Tregs, which could reverse BM failure and deficits in B lymphopoieses in HIP animals.

Another potential therapeutic that can increase Tregs is IL-2. IL-2 is a cytokine produced by immune cells that plays a critical role in the modulation of the immune system, including for Treg survival and growth.⁽³⁶³⁾ IL-2 therapies shown promise in patients with cancer, but in high doses cause adverse reactions, which caused studies to

focus on low dose IL-2 treatments.⁽³⁶⁴⁾ In the CNS, IL-2 therapy decreased Aβ plaque coverage and rescued memory deficits through the expansion of Tregs.⁽³⁶⁵⁾ Furthermore, astrocyte-targeted IL-2 gene therapy was neuroprotective in stroke and TBI by increasing brain-localized Tregs.⁽³⁶⁶⁾ While studies in T1D found that low-dose IL-2 therapy is a promising therapeutic target through increased Tregs, ^(367, 368) this relationship is poorly understood in T2D with only one study showing that IL-2 was increased in patients with T2D.⁽³⁶⁹⁾ However, the ability of IL-2 to expand Tregs similar to IL-10 makes it a potential therapeutic to reduce inflammation, reverse BM failure, and deficits in B lymphopoiesis in HIP animals.

4.9 Lifestyle choices as a therapeutic

Although therapeutics are important in helping individuals with T2D, one therapy that shouldn't be ignored is lifestyle intervention(s). Lifestyle factors such as smoking, drinking, physical activity and diet play a critical role in the management and prevention of T2D.⁽³⁷⁰⁾ For example, T2D studies in mice and humans show that exercise is able to reverse insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, and associated complications.^(371, 372) Studies have also shown that exercise can improve hematopoiesis, but it is unknown how this impact B cell development.^(373, 374) Furthermore, in patients with T2D physical activity slows cognitive decline.⁽³⁷⁵⁾ Studies have also shown that in patients with T2D that a healthier diet such as a Mediterranean diet or high fiber diet is also beneficial in management.^(376, 377) Although it is unknown how exercise and diet play in preventing the accumulation of amylin, we can suggest that it would also be protective in these circumstances.

4.10 Sex-based differences

Sex differences exist in both the immune response and during the development of T2D, but this is still understudied specifically for the immune response during T2D. Regarding T2D, men are diagnosed with T2D more than women and are diagnosed at an earlier age than women attributed to the fact that estrogen is protective from T2D.⁽³⁷⁸⁾ Hormone replacement therapy reduces T2D incidence in postmenopausal women and enhances insulin sensitivity in women with T2D.⁽³⁷⁹⁾ In HIP rats, females have significantly lower amounts of plasma amylin than male HIP rats and develop hyperglycemia much later than male HIP rats,⁽¹³⁾ contributing to the idea that estrogen is protective during T2D, but it is currently unknown how estrogen impacts amylin aggregation.

Regarding hematopoiesis and BM function studies not many studies have shown the sexual dimorphism that may exist. One study did show that HSPCs divide more frequently, while they found no differences in the amount of HSPC progenitor cells in the BM.⁽³⁸⁰⁾ However, studies do show that HSPCs can be regulated by sex hormones. For example, estradiol has been found to regulate dendritic cell differentiation in BM cells.⁽³⁸¹⁾ Another study found that the deletion of estrogen receptors was able to decrease developing B cell populations with no change to HPSCs.⁽³⁸²⁾ These data suggest that sexual dimorphism could play important roles in hematopoiesis and B cell development.

Generally, females have higher CD4⁺ T cells and CD4/CD8 ratios than males.⁽³⁸³⁾ Following in-vitro stimulation, females have more activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells than men, while men have higher Th17 cells and fewer Th1 cells than women.⁽³⁸⁴⁾ Studies show that treatment of CD4⁺ T cells with estrogen decreased Th17 cells and increased the

proportion of Tregs,⁽³⁸⁵⁾ a generally anti-inflammatory effect of estrogen. These studies highlight how the immune response is sex-dependent and give insight into why men and women develop and progress through diseases differently. Women with impaired glucose tolerance exhibit increases in B-1 B cells,⁽³⁸⁶⁾ which is an anti-inflammatory B cell subset while studies in obesity show there are sex differences in Tregs in AT that was regulated by sex hormones such as estrogen and androgen.⁽³⁸⁷⁾ These findings highlight the influence of sexual dimorphism in immune cell function inside and outside of the context of T2D.

When it comes to CNS disorders, there are also known sex differences that occur. For example, women are more likely to develop AD and MS^(388, 389) than males, while males develop PD at higher rates than women.⁽³⁹⁰⁾ Studies focused on T2D-induced cognitive decline show that women are at increased risk for cognitive decline compared to males.⁽³⁹¹⁾ These studies further add to the notion that sex differences need to be included due to the fact that after menopause, women also become more likely to develop disorders.⁽³⁹²⁾ Future studies in HIP animals should focus on how these sex differences impact the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin, including the time course of neuropathology, and the impact on the neuroimmune axis response.

4.11 Technical & Experimental Limitations

Following the completion of these studies, we acknowledge that the experiments as designed have limitations. The use of animals that hypersecrete human amylin provides more physiological relevance when studying the pathogenesis of T2D. In humans, amylin is co-secreted with insulin from the pancreas and contributes to the pathogenesis of T2D,⁽⁹⁾ making this model unique and not just another hyperglycemic or

obesity model. However, since the hypersecretion of pancreatic amylin in this model also leads to hyperglycemia, it is difficult to determine the exact role that human amylin plays independently. In this model, hyperglycemia and insulinemia are accompanied by the hypersecretion of amylin, which all contribute to the pathology in these animals. Thus, we are not able to delineate which pathology is only caused by the hypersecretion of human amylin. Therefore, in the future, it may be necessary to compare HIP animals to animals that are only hyperglycemia and insulinemia to gain insight into which pathologies are human amylin-causing.

Despite clear sex-based differences in both the immune system and T2D pathology, we used only male rats in our experiments. As mentioned in earlier sections, female HIP rats do not express human amylin to the same magnitude as HIP males, developing hyperglycemia much later in life and making it hard to study the impact on the accumulation of human amylin.⁽¹³⁾ However, as mentioned, post-menopause, the severity of T2D increases, and associated diabetic complications increase as well.⁽³⁷⁸⁾ Although female HIP rats may need more time to develop the same pathologies as males, studies should be conducted to determine how they differ at those time points to determine what the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin leads to in post-menopause females.

Another limitation of our study is our inability to validate immune genes from our RNAseq experiment. Commonly after RNAseq rt-PCR is used to validate genes and ensure the results are true. In the genes we chose to validate, we did not see any significant differences between WT and HIP rats. This does not automatically suggest that the results from this experiment are invalid. It could suggest that there were problems

during rt-PCR as many critical steps during rt-PCR can impact accuracy as well as interpretation of results, such as the quality of the mRNA and amplification efficiency.⁽³⁹³⁾ Furthermore, for the genes we chose to validate, the primers used were uncommon, and we could not find published primers for our species, so we had to create our own primers using BLAST. This could lead to using primers different from the gene encoded during RNA-seq experiments. Finally, the expression level of the genes we chose to validate was low in the brain, which could lead to inconsistent and inaccurate results. For future studies, well-established and published genes should be used for the validation of RNA-seq, particularly in HIP mice.

Our human amylin injection experiments also had their limitations. We initially started the injections with WT rats bred from our current in-house colonies. To repeat this study, rats of similar age were purchased from Envigo. It was important to control for age which impacts spleen size and thus the number of cells from each animal, risking consistent results for flow cytometry analysis. However, purchased aged rats are usually breeders, meaning, in some cases, rats' age is determined by weight. In this case, the rats we ordered are aged by weight; in some cases, you may not be getting the correct age, and even if all rats are not equal, our rats at age 12 could be around 800 grams, while that same age at another vivarium could be 500 grams, which could contribute to how they respond to amylin and their immune response. Studies have shown that rodents from different vendors with the same genotype have significantly different variations in the microbiome,⁽³⁹⁴⁾ which suggests that their immune response to insults would be different as well. Though we confirmed with the vendor that all rats ordered were the same age as our in-house rats, they were still significantly smaller leading to differences. Furthermore,

as injections took place during different times, the human amylin ordered was more than likely from different batches, which could contribute to different effects seen in injected animals. Therefore, in the future, for experiments of this nature, rats should either be all bred in-house or all purchased from the same vendor for the same weight/age, and the same batch for amylin should be used in all animals to prevent variability.

Finally, our study started in HIP rats, which allowed us to understand how longterm accumulation of pancreatic amylin impacts the neuroimmune response. However, for flow cytometry, the availability of antibodies is limited in rats. Therefore, we switched to mice to better understand the immune response though there are some drawbacks to using mice. For example, HIP mice do not survive as long as HIP rats.⁽³⁹⁵⁾ Meaning, pathology seen in HIP mice may be indicative of what happens early on in HIP rats. Furthermore, HIP rats are heterozygous for the human amylin gene while the mice are homozygous, so there may be differences in levels of secretion, but this was necessary due to the fact that heterozygous mice do not spontaneously develop diabetes. Heterozygous mice need a stimulus such as HFD, which turns the model into an obesity model of T2D. Therefore, to compare the two, HIP rats need to be used at earlier stages to determine if the immune response develops the same as HIP mice.

4.12 Remaining questions and concluding remarks

4.12A What are the phenotypes of the T and B cells?

The studies in this thesis show that there are alterations in T cell and B cell populations. As mentioned in Chapter 1, many types of T cells (e.g., Th1, Th2, Th17, T regs) are altered during T2D. We did not phenotype for these cells, leaving us unable to

determine how pancreatic human amylin alters these cell types. Although we can suggest which of these cell types may be altered in our model, surprising results such as CD8⁺ T cells being decreased in HIP rats and rats injected with human amylin suggest that human amylin can impact certain cell types very differently. One of the key cells that would be important to monitor is Tregs. As mentioned, they have functions in hematopoiesis, B lymphopoiesis, and neuroinflammation and could add another potential mechanism explaining the pathology seen in HIP animals.^(13, 14) The same for B cells; although we were able to look for different types of B cells, we don't know their inflammatory profile. B cells could express both pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines that are important during the pathogenesis of T2D, and it could be important to note how the accumulation of pancreatic humans alters cytokine production from all responding subsets.

4.12B What is the impact of the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin on skull bone marrow and meningeal lymphatics?

The meninges surround the CNS and harbor various immune cells that survey the CNS borders to maintain homeostasis, and it is important during neuroinflammation, tissue repair, and neuronal activity.^(396, 397) The meninges also have lymphatic vessels that are important for draining solutes from the CSF to cervical lymph nodes.⁽³⁹⁸⁾ In addition to roles in regulating CSF, these lymphatics are important in regulating the immune response in meninges.⁽³⁹⁹⁾ Studies have shown that loss of meningeal lymphatics leads to cognitive impairment and drainage capacity, and in AD models leads to the accumulation of A β plaques.⁽⁴⁰⁰⁾ While these studies identify the importance of meningeal lymphatics in neuroinflammation and cognitive decline, it is mostly unknown how T2D or how the accumulation of pancreatic amylin impacts meningeal lymphatics. It may be possible that

in HIP rats there is disruption of meningeal lymphatics that alter the clearance of human amylin from the brain. Furthermore, the meninges are connected to the skull marrow, which harbors immature B cells in a novel BM niche^(401, 402). In the meninges, B cells represent the main immune cell type, are phenotypically similar to BM B cells, and can develop in the skull marrow similar to the BM.⁽⁴⁰³⁾ Studies in MS have shown that defects that occur in the BM are almost identical in the skull marrow and contribute to pathology in the brain.⁽⁴⁰⁴⁾ These studies suggest that the deficits in hematopoiesis and B cell development may also be simultaneously occurring in the skull BM in HIP animals. Future, studies should focus on the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin impacts meningeal lymphatics and the immune response that occurs within.

4.13 Thesis Summary: The major findings in this work and their implications in the field

T2D leads to neuroinflammation, thus leading to cognitive decline and increasing the risk for developing AD.⁽⁶⁾ Pancreatic human amylin has been shown to be a contributing factor to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline during T2D.⁽⁷⁾ However, to date there are no drug treatments available that are focused on reducing neuroinflammation or pathology caused by the accumulation of pancreatic human amylin, nor are there any immune therapies targeted at reducing neuroinflammation or T2D induced pathology. As immune cells are now recognized to have both neurotoxic⁽³¹⁷⁾ and neuroprotective properties,⁽³⁶⁶⁾ immune biologics should be considered for T2D as it is clearly characterized by a dysregulated immune response.

Previous studies showed that in diabetic HIP rats there was an increase in neuroinflammation, BBB dysfunction and cognitive decline.⁽¹³⁾ Given that studies in

neurodegeneration have shown that these pathologies are associated with an increase of immune cells into the brain, we hypothesized that in HIP rats there would be a dysregulated neuroimmune response, which would lead to an increase in immune cells that was associated with neuroinflammation and cognitive decline as previously reported. Instead, we discovered that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin actually led to splenic lymphopenia that translated to a reduction of immune cells in the brain. We found that this decreased immune cell migration into the brain was associated with altered CAM expressions which are essential for allowing immune cells across the BBB. Lastly, we discovered that the hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin can lead to BM failure characterized by the sequestration of immune cells and deficits in B lymphopoiesis and hematopoiesis, which is mediated by the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. These data are the first to demonstrate an amylin-mediated role in the peripheral and CNS immune response during the pathogenesis of T2D, which could potentially contribute to neuroinflammation and cognitive decline.

Our studies highlight novel therapeutic targets for T2D – because if the immune deficits revealed can be reversed it may in turn reduce neuroinflammation and cognitive decline. Future studies might consider 1.) Identifying therapeutic compounds that can reverse lymphopenia and B cell development deficits; and 2.) how these cells can be modulated to be neuroprotective. Overall, the studies conducted in this thesis highlight the importance of holistically investigating the neuroimmune axis, from development through recruitment to the parenchyma, as they are critical in contribution to the development of diabetic cognitive decline.



Figure 4.1: Mechanisms of peripheral and CNS immune alterations due to hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin as it related to neuroinflammation and cognitve decline.

The hypersecretion of pancreatic human amylin leads to increase in insulin, as it is cosecreted with amylin leading to hypergycemia. We have shown this leads to alterations in immune populations in the bone marrow, circulation and spleen. This in turn leads to a decrease in immune cell populations migrating into the brain due to alteration in CAMS. These alteration potentially contribute to neuroinflammation, plaque deposition, BBB disruption and cognitive decline.

References

- 1. S. Y. Tan *et al.*, Type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus: A review on current treatment approach and gene therapy as potential intervention. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* **13**, 364-372 (2019).
- 2. M. A. B. Khan *et al.*, Epidemiology of Type 2 Diabetes Global Burden of Disease and Forecasted Trends. *J Epidemiol Glob Health* **10**, 107-111 (2020).
- 3. D. S. W. Ting *et al.*, Development and Validation of a Deep Learning System for Diabetic Retinopathy and Related Eye Diseases Using Retinal Images From Multiethnic Populations With Diabetes. *JAMA* **318**, 2211-2223 (2017).
- 4. J. Weller, A. Budson, Current understanding of Alzheimer's disease diagnosis and treatment. *F1000Res* **7**, (2018).
- 5. C. Takizawa, P. L. Thompson, A. van Walsem, C. Faure, W. C. Maier, Epidemiological and economic burden of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic literature review of data across Europe and the United States of America. *J Alzheimers Dis* **43**, 1271-1284 (2015).
- 6. A. Ott *et al.*, Diabetes mellitus and the risk of dementia: The Rotterdam Study. *Neurology* **53**, 1937-1942 (1999).
- 7. G. J. Biessels, F. Despa, Cognitive decline and dementia in diabetes mellitus: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* **14**, 591-604 (2018).
- 8. N. Verma, F. Despa, Contributing Factors to Diabetic Brain Injury and Cognitive Decline. *Diabetes Metab J* **43**, 560-567 (2019).
- 9. P. Westermark, A. Andersson, G. T. Westermark, Islet amyloid polypeptide, islet amyloid, and diabetes mellitus. *Physiol Rev* **91**, 795-826 (2011).
- 10. A. Lorenzo, B. Razzaboni, G. C. Weir, B. A. Yankner, Pancreatic islet cell toxicity of amylin associated with type-2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature* **368**, 756-760 (1994).
- 11. C. A. Jurgens *et al.*, beta-cell loss and beta-cell apoptosis in human type 2 diabetes are related to islet amyloid deposition. *Am J Pathol* **178**, 2632-2640 (2011).
- 12. K. Jackson *et al.*, Amylin deposition in the brain: A second amyloid in Alzheimer disease? *Ann Neurol* **74**, 517-526 (2013).
- 13. H. Ly *et al.*, Brain microvascular injury and white matter disease provoked by diabetes-associated hyperamylinemia. *Ann Neurol* **82**, 208-222 (2017).
- 14. S. Srodulski *et al.*, Neuroinflammation and neurologic deficits in diabetes linked to brain accumulation of amylin. *Mol Neurodegener* **9**, 30 (2014).
- 15. N. Verma *et al.*, Abeta efflux impairment and inflammation linked to cerebrovascular accumulation of amyloid-forming amylin secreted from pancreas. *Commun Biol* **6**, 2 (2023).
- 16. V. Grossmann *et al.*, Profile of the Immune and Inflammatory Response in Individuals With Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **38**, 1356-1364 (2015).
- 17. Y. Zhang *et al.*, Astragaloside IV supplementation attenuates cognitive impairment by inhibiting neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetic mice. *Front Aging Neurosci* **14**, 1004557 (2022).

- 18. M. H. Lin *et al.*, The GLP-1 receptor agonist exenatide ameliorates neuroinflammation, locomotor activity, and anxiety-like behavior in mice with diet-induced obesity through the modulation of microglial M2 polarization and downregulation of SR-A4. *Int Immunopharmacol* **115**, 109653 (2023).
- 19. X. Zang, S. Chen, J. Zhu, J. Ma, Y. Zhai, The Emerging Role of Central and Peripheral Immune Systems in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front Aging Neurosci* 14, 872134 (2022).
- 20. J. Lauritsen, M. Romero-Ramos, The systemic immune response in Parkinson's disease: focus on the peripheral immune component. *Trends Neurosci* **46**, 863-878 (2023).
- 21. E. L. Opie, THE RELATION OE DIABETES MELLITUS TO LESIONS OF THE PANCREAS. HYALINE DEGENERATION OF THE ISLANDS OE LANGERHANS. *J Exp Med* **5**, 527-540 (1901).
- 22. A. Weichselbaum, E. Stangl, Zur Kenntnis der feineren Veränderungen des Pankreas bei Diabetes mellitus. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift* **14**, 968-972 (1901).
- 23. N. Gellerstedt, Die elektive, insuläre (Para-) Amyloidose der Bauchspeicheldrüse. Zugleich ein Beitrag zur Kenntnis der "senilen Amyloidose". Beitr Path Anat 101, 1-13 (1938).
- 24. J. H. Ahronheim, The Nature of the Hyaline Material in the Pancreatic Islands in Diabetes Mellitus. *Am J Pathol* **19**, 873-882 (1943).
- 25. G. J. Cooper *et al.*, Purification and characterization of a peptide from amyloidrich pancreases of type 2 diabetic patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**, 8628-8632 (1987).
- 26. P. Westermark *et al.*, Amyloid fibrils in human insulinoma and islets of Langerhans of the diabetic cat are derived from a neuropeptide-like protein also present in normal islet cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**, 3881-3885 (1987).
- 27. G. J. Cooper *et al.*, Amylin found in amyloid deposits in human type 2 diabetes mellitus may be a hormone that regulates glycogen metabolism in skeletal muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **85**, 7763-7766 (1988).
- 28. A. Lukinius, E. Wilander, G. T. Westermark, U. Engström, P. Westermark, Colocalization of islet amyloid polypeptide and insulin in the B cell secretory granules of the human pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* **32**, 240-244 (1989).
- 29. S. E. Kahn *et al.*, Evidence of cosecretion of islet amyloid polypeptide and insulin by beta-cells. *Diabetes* **39**, 634-638 (1990).
- M. Miyazato *et al.*, Identification and characterization of islet amyloid polypeptide in mammalian gastrointestinal tract. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 181, 293-300 (1991).
- 31. P. J. Wookey *et al.*, Amylin as a growth factor during fetal and postnatal development of the rat kidney. *Kidney Int* **53**, 25-30 (1998).
- 32. H. Mulder *et al.*, Islet amyloid polypeptide (amylin) is expressed in sensory neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience* **15**, 7625-7632 (1995).
- 33. L. Fan, G. Westermark, S. J. Chan, D. F. Steiner, Altered gene structure and tissue expression of islet amyloid polypeptide in the chicken. *Mol Endocrinol* **8**, 713-721 (1994).

- 34. P. Westermark, U. Engstrom, K. H. Johnson, G. T. Westermark, C. Betsholtz, Islet amyloid polypeptide: pinpointing amino acid residues linked to amyloid fibril formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **87**, 5036-5040 (1990).
- 35. T. A. Lutz, Roles of amylin in satiation, adiposity and brain development. *Forum Nutr* **63**, 64-74 (2010).
- 36. P. C. Butler *et al.*, Effects of meal ingestion on plasma amylin concentration in NIDDM and nondiabetic humans. *Diabetes* **39**, 752-756 (1990).
- 37. T. A. Lutz, Amylinergic control of food intake. *Physiol Behav* **89**, 465-471 (2006).
- 38. R. D. Reidelberger *et al.*, Amylin receptor blockade stimulates food intake in rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **287**, R568-574 (2004).
- 39. T. A. Lutz *et al.*, Lesion of the area postrema/nucleus of the solitary tract (AP/NTS) attenuates the anorectic effects of amylin and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) in rats. *Peptides* **19**, 309-317 (1998).
- 40. M. Fry, T. D. Hoyda, A. V. Ferguson, Making sense of it: roles of the sensory circumventricular organs in feeding and regulation of energy homeostasis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **232**, 14-26 (2007).
- 41. G. Christopoulos *et al.*, Multiple amylin receptors arise from receptor activitymodifying protein interaction with the calcitonin receptor gene product. *Mol Pharmacol* **56**, 235-242 (1999).
- 42. L. M. McLatchie *et al.*, RAMPs regulate the transport and ligand specificity of the calcitonin-receptor-like receptor. *Nature* **393**, 333-339 (1998).
- 43. R. Muff, N. Buhlmann, J. A. Fischer, W. Born, An amylin receptor is revealed following co-transfection of a calcitonin receptor with receptor activity modifying proteins-1 or -3. *Endocrinology* **140**, 2924-2927 (1999).
- 44. D. L. Hay, G. Christopoulos, A. Christopoulos, D. R. Poyner, P. M. Sexton, Pharmacological discrimination of calcitonin receptor: receptor activitymodifying protein complexes. *Mol Pharmacol* **67**, 1655-1665 (2005).
- 45. M. Morfis *et al.*, Receptor activity-modifying proteins differentially modulate the G protein-coupling efficiency of amylin receptors. *Endocrinology* **149**, 5423-5431 (2008).
- 46. J. A. Fischer, R. Muff, W. Born, Functional relevance of G-protein-coupledreceptor-associated proteins, exemplified by receptor-activity-modifying proteins (RAMPs). *Biochem Soc Trans* **30**, 455-460 (2002).
- 47. T. Riediger, H. A. Schmid, T. Lutz, E. Simon, Amylin potently activates AP neurons possibly via formation of the excitatory second messenger cGMP. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **281**, R1833-1843 (2001).
- 48. A. Mollet, S. Gilg, T. Riediger, T. A. Lutz, Infusion of the amylin antagonist AC 187 into the area postrema increases food intake in rats. *Physiol Behav* **81**, 149-155 (2004).
- 49. T. A. Lutz, A. Mollet, P. A. Rushing, T. Riediger, E. Scharrer, The anorectic effect of a chronic peripheral infusion of amylin is abolished in area postrema/nucleus of the solitary tract (AP/NTS) lesioned rats. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **25**, 1005-1011 (2001).

- 50. R. P. D. C.C Miller, A.A Young, G.L Edwards Lesion of the area postrema (AP) attenuates hindbrain cFos expression after amylin treatment. *Soc. Neuroscie.*, 2130 (1998).
- 51. N. E. Rowland, E. C. Crews, R. M. Gentry, Comparison of Fos induced in rat brain by GLP-1 and amylin. *Regul Pept* **71**, 171-174 (1997).
- 52. N. E. Rowland, R. M. Richmond, Area postrema and the anorectic actions of dexfenfluramine and amylin. *Brain Res* **820**, 86-91 (1999).
- 53. P. P. Khin, J. H. Lee, H.-S. Jun, Pancreatic Beta-cell Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes. *European Journal of Inflammation* **21**, 1721727X231154152 (2023).
- 54. S. E. Kahn, M. E. Cooper, S. Del Prato, Pathophysiology and treatment of type 2 diabetes: perspectives on the past, present, and future. *Lancet* **383**, 1068-1083 (2014).
- 55. S. Despa *et al.*, Hyperamylinemia contributes to cardiac dysfunction in obesity and diabetes: a study in humans and rats. *Circ Res* **110**, 598-608 (2012).
- 56. N. Verma *et al.*, Diabetic microcirculatory disturbances and pathologic erythropoiesis are provoked by deposition of amyloid-forming amylin in red blood cells and capillaries. *Kidney Int* **97**, 143-155 (2020).
- 57. T. Tomita, Apoptosis in pancreatic β-islet cells in Type 2 diabetes. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci* **16**, 162-179 (2016).
- 58. H. J. Hiddinga, N. L. Eberhardt, Intracellular amyloidogenesis by human islet amyloid polypeptide induces apoptosis in COS-1 cells. *Am J Pathol* **154**, 1077-1088 (1999).
- 59. T. D. O'Brien, P. C. Butler, D. K. Kreutter, L. A. Kane, N. L. Eberhardt, Human islet amyloid polypeptide expression in COS-1 cells. A model of intracellular amyloidogenesis. *Am J Pathol* **147**, 609-616 (1995).
- 60. S. Zhang, J. Liu, E. L. Saafi, G. J. Cooper, Induction of apoptosis by human amylin in RINm5F islet beta-cells is associated with enhanced expression of p53 and p21WAF1/CIP1. *FEBS Lett* **455**, 315-320 (1999).
- 61. B. Konarkowska, J. F. Aitken, J. Kistler, S. Zhang, G. J. Cooper, Thiol reducing compounds prevent human amylin-evoked cytotoxicity. *FEBS J* **272**, 4949-4959 (2005).
- 62. S. Zraika *et al.*, Oxidative stress is induced by islet amyloid formation and timedependently mediates amyloid-induced beta cell apoptosis. *Diabetologia* **52**, 626-635 (2009).
- 63. S. Zhang, J. Liu, G. MacGibbon, M. Dragunow, G. J. Cooper, Increased expression and activation of c-Jun contributes to human amylin-induced apoptosis in pancreatic islet beta-cells. *J Mol Biol* **324**, 271-285 (2002).
- 64. S. Zhang, J. Liu, M. Dragunow, G. J. Cooper, Fibrillogenic amylin evokes islet beta-cell apoptosis through linked activation of a caspase cascade and JNK1. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 52810-52819 (2003).
- 65. S. L. Subramanian *et al.*, cJUN N-terminal kinase (JNK) activation mediates islet amyloid-induced beta cell apoptosis in cultured human islet amyloid polypeptide transgenic mouse islets. *Diabetologia* **55**, 166-174 (2012).
- 66. R. L. Hull *et al.*, Amyloid formation in human IAPP transgenic mouse islets and pancreas, and human pancreas, is not associated with endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Diabetologia* **52**, 1102-1111 (2009).

- 67. A. Abedini *et al.*, RAGE binds preamyloid IAPP intermediates and mediates pancreatic β cell proteotoxicity. *J Clin Invest* **128**, 682-698 (2018).
- 68. B. Meusser, C. Hirsch, E. Jarosch, T. Sommer, ERAD: the long road to destruction. *Nat Cell Biol* **7**, 766-772 (2005).
- 69. C. J. Huang *et al.*, Induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced beta-cell apoptosis and accumulation of polyubiquitinated proteins by human islet amyloid polypeptide. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **293**, E1656-1662 (2007).
- 70. S. Costes *et al.*, beta-cell dysfunctional ERAD/ubiquitin/proteasome system in type 2 diabetes mediated by islet amyloid polypeptide-induced UCH-L1 deficiency. *Diabetes* **60**, 227-238 (2011).
- 71. S. Casas *et al.*, Impairment of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is a downstream endoplasmic reticulum stress response induced by extracellular human islet amyloid polypeptide and contributes to pancreatic beta-cell apoptosis. *Diabetes* **56**, 2284-2294 (2007).
- 72. S. Morita *et al.*, Autophagy protects against human islet amyloid polypeptideassociated apoptosis. *J Diabetes Investig* **2**, 48-55 (2011).
- 73. J. F. Rivera *et al.*, Human-IAPP disrupts the autophagy/lysosomal pathway in pancreatic beta-cells: protective role of p62-positive cytoplasmic inclusions. *Cell Death Differ* **18**, 415-426 (2011).
- 74. N. Shigihara *et al.*, Human IAPP-induced pancreatic beta cell toxicity and its regulation by autophagy. *J Clin Invest* **124**, 3634-3644 (2014).
- 75. J. Kim *et al.*, Amyloidogenic peptide oligomer accumulation in autophagydeficient beta cells induces diabetes. *J Clin Invest* **124**, 3311-3324 (2014).
- 76. J. F. Rivera, S. Costes, T. Gurlo, C. G. Glabe, P. C. Butler, Autophagy defends pancreatic beta cells from human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced toxicity. *J Clin Invest* **124**, 3489-3500 (2014).
- 77. J. Kim *et al.*, An autophagy enhancer ameliorates diabetes of human IAPPtransgenic mice through clearance of amyloidogenic oligomer. *Nat Commun* **12**, 183 (2021).
- 78. A. D. Pradhan, J. E. Manson, N. Rifai, J. E. Buring, P. M. Ridker, C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA* **286**, 327-334 (2001).
- 79. J. Spranger *et al.*, Inflammatory cytokines and the risk to develop type 2 diabetes: results of the prospective population-based European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam Study. *Diabetes* **52**, 812-817 (2003).
- 80. C. Herder *et al.*, Inflammation and type 2 diabetes: results from KORA Augsburg. *Gesundheitswesen* **67 Suppl 1**, S115-121 (2005).
- 81. C. A. Dinarello, The role of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist in blocking inflammation mediated by interleukin-1. *N Engl J Med* **343**, 732-734 (2000).
- 82. C. M. Larsen *et al.*, Interleukin-1-receptor antagonist in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* **356**, 1517-1526 (2007).
- 83. J. A. Ehses *et al.*, IL-1 antagonism reduces hyperglycemia and tissue inflammation in the type 2 diabetic GK rat. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 13998-14003 (2009).

- 84. B. D. Gitter, L. M. Cox, C. D. Carlson, P. C. May, Human amylin stimulates inflammatory cytokine secretion from human glioma cells. *Neuroimmunomodulation* **7**, 147-152 (2000).
- 85. S. L. Yates *et al.*, Amyloid beta and amylin fibrils induce increases in proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine production by THP-1 cells and murine microglia. *J Neurochem* **74**, 1017-1025 (2000).
- 86. S. L. Masters *et al.*, Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by islet amyloid polypeptide provides a mechanism for enhanced IL-1beta in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Immunol* **11**, 897-904 (2010).
- 87. M. Blencowe *et al.*, IAPP-induced beta cell stress recapitulates the islet transcriptome in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **65**, 173-187 (2022).
- 88. M. Anello *et al.*, Functional and morphological alterations of mitochondria in pancreatic beta cells from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* **48**, 282-289 (2005).
- 89. S. Puri, D. A. Cano, M. Hebrok, A role for von Hippel-Lindau protein in pancreatic beta-cell function. *Diabetes* **58**, 433-441 (2009).
- 90. A. Ilaiwy *et al.*, Human amylin proteotoxicity impairs protein biosynthesis, and alters major cellular signaling pathways in the heart, brain and liver of humanized diabetic rat model in vivo. *Metabolomics* **12**, (2016).
- 91. C. Montemurro *et al.*, IAPP toxicity activates HIF1alpha/PFKFB3 signaling delaying beta-cell loss at the expense of beta-cell function. *Nat Commun* **10**, 2679 (2019).
- 92. M. Liu *et al.*, Amylin deposition activates HIF1alpha and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2, 6-biphosphatase 3 (PFKFB3) signaling in failing hearts of non-human primates. *Commun Biol* **4**, 188 (2021).
- 93. P. H. Maxwell, The HIF pathway in cancer. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **16**, 523-530 (2005).
- 94. L. Iommarini, A. M. Porcelli, G. Gasparre, I. Kurelac, Non-Canonical Mechanisms Regulating Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 Alpha in Cancer. *Front Oncol* **7**, 286 (2017).
- 95. A. Merelli *et al.*, Understanding the Role of Hypoxia Inducible Factor During Neurodegeneration for New Therapeutics Opportunities. *Curr Neuropharmacol* **16**, 1484-1498 (2018).
- 96. K. Cheng *et al.*, Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha regulates beta cell function in mouse and human islets. *J Clin Invest* **120**, 2171-2183 (2010).
- 97. M. d. L. Sousa Fialho *et al.*, Activation of HIF1α Rescues the Hypoxic Response and Reverses Metabolic Dysfunction in the Diabetic Heart. *Diabetes* **70**, 2518-2531 (2021).
- 98. S. Ros, A. Schulze, Balancing glycolytic flux: the role of 6-phosphofructo-2kinase/fructose 2,6-bisphosphatases in cancer metabolism. *Cancer Metab* **1**, 8 (2013).
- 99. J. Min *et al.*, β-cell-specific deletion of PFKFB3 restores cell fitness competition and physiological replication under diabetogenic stress. *Communications Biology* 5, 248 (2022).

- 100. N. Verma *et al.*, Intraneuronal Amylin Deposition, Peroxidative Membrane Injury and Increased IL-1beta Synthesis in Brains of Alzheimer's Disease Patients with Type-2 Diabetes and in Diabetic HIP Rats. *J Alzheimers Dis* **53**, 259-272 (2016).
- 101. X. X. Xi *et al.*, High-Fat Diet Increases Amylin Accumulation in the Hippocampus and Accelerates Brain Aging in hIAPP Transgenic Mice. *Front Aging Neurosci* **11**, 225 (2019).
- 102. J. N. Fawver *et al.*, Islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP): a second amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res* **11**, 928-940 (2014).
- 103. M. E. Oskarsson *et al.*, In vivo seeding and cross-seeding of localized amyloidosis: a molecular link between type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer disease. *Am J Pathol* **185**, 834-846 (2015).
- N. Schultz, E. Byman, M. Fex, M. Wennstrom, Amylin alters human brain pericyte viability and NG2 expression. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 37, 1470-1482 (2017).
- 105. N. Schultz, E. Byman, B. Netherlands Brain, M. Wennstrom, Levels of retinal IAPP are altered in Alzheimer's disease patients and correlate with vascular changes and hippocampal IAPP levels. *Neurobiol Aging* **69**, 94-101 (2018).
- 106. H. Ly *et al.*, The association of circulating amylin with β -amyloid in familial Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)* **7**, e12130 (2021).
- 107. E. A. Winkler, A. P. Sagare, B. V. Zlokovic, The pericyte: a forgotten cell type with important implications for Alzheimer's disease? *Brain Pathol* **24**, 371-386 (2014).
- 108. A. P. Sagare *et al.*, Pericyte loss influences Alzheimer-like neurodegeneration in mice. *Nature Communications* **4**, 2932 (2013).
- 109. N. N. Naseri, H. Wang, J. Guo, M. Sharma, W. Luo, The complexity of tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett* **705**, 183-194 (2019).
- 110. I. Martinez-Valbuena *et al.*, Amylin as a potential link between type 2 diabetes and alzheimer disease. *Ann Neurol* **86**, 539-551 (2019).
- 111. N. Schultz, E. Byman, B. Netherlands Brain, M. Wennstrom, Levels of Retinal Amyloid-beta Correlate with Levels of Retinal IAPP and Hippocampal Amyloidbeta in Neuropathologically Evaluated Individuals. *J Alzheimers Dis* 73, 1201-1209 (2020).
- 112. M. Zeyda *et al.*, Human adipose tissue macrophages are of an anti-inflammatory phenotype but capable of excessive pro-inflammatory mediator production. *Int J Obes* (*Lond*) **31**, 1420-1428 (2007).
- 113. M. Feuerer *et al.*, Lean, but not obese, fat is enriched for a unique population of regulatory T cells that affect metabolic parameters. *Nat Med* **15**, 930-939 (2009).
- 114. D. B. Harmon *et al.*, Protective Role for B-1b B Cells and IgM in Obesity-Associated Inflammation, Glucose Intolerance, and Insulin Resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **36**, 682-691 (2016).
- 115. D. Cipolletta, P. Cohen, B. M. Spiegelman, C. Benoist, D. Mathis, Appearance and disappearance of the mRNA signature characteristic of Treg cells in visceral adipose tissue: age, diet, and PPARγ effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**, 482-487 (2015).
- C. Yunna, H. Mengru, W. Lei, C. Weidong, Macrophage M1/M2 polarization. *Eur J Pharmacol* 877, 173090 (2020).

- 117. R. C. Paolicelli *et al.*, Microglia states and nomenclature: A field at its crossroads. *Neuron* **110**, 3458-3483 (2022).
- 118. J. M. Wentworth *et al.*, Pro-inflammatory CD11c+CD206+ adipose tissue macrophages are associated with insulin resistance in human obesity. *Diabetes* **59**, 1648-1656 (2010).
- 119. J. R. Acosta *et al.*, Increased fat cell size: a major phenotype of subcutaneous white adipose tissue in non-obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **59**, 560-570 (2016).
- C. S. Tam *et al.*, Short-term overfeeding may induce peripheral insulin resistance without altering subcutaneous adipose tissue macrophages in humans. *Diabetes* 59, 2164-2170 (2010).
- 121. R. Cancello *et al.*, Reduction of macrophage infiltration and chemoattractant gene expression changes in white adipose tissue of morbidly obese subjects after surgery-induced weight loss. *Diabetes* **54**, 2277-2286 (2005).
- 122. K. Kazankov *et al.*, Macrophage activation marker soluble CD163 and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* **30**, 1293-1300 (2015).
- 123. K. Samaras, A. Viardot, N. K. Botelho, A. Jenkins, R. V. Lord, Immune cellmediated inflammation and the early improvements in glucose metabolism after gastric banding surgery. *Diabetologia* **56**, 2564-2572 (2013).
- 124. A. Viardot, R. V. Lord, K. Samaras, The effects of weight loss and gastric banding on the innate and adaptive immune system in type 2 diabetes and prediabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **95**, 2845-2850 (2010).
- 125. J. I. Odegaard, A. Chawla, Alternative macrophage activation and metabolism. *Annu Rev Pathol* **6**, 275-297 (2011).
- 126. S. P. Weisberg *et al.*, Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* **112**, 1796-1808 (2003).
- 127. H. Xu *et al.*, Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* **112**, 1821-1830 (2003).
- 128. C. N. Lumeng, J. L. Bodzin, A. R. Saltiel, Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest* **117**, 175-184 (2007).
- 129. J. M. Bruun, A. S. Lihn, S. B. Pedersen, B. Richelsen, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release is higher in visceral than subcutaneous human adipose tissue (AT): implication of macrophages resident in the AT. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **90**, 2282-2289 (2005).
- 130. M. Spite *et al.*, Deficiency of the leukotriene B4 receptor, BLT-1, protects against systemic insulin resistance in diet-induced obesity. *J Immunol* **187**, 1942-1949 (2011).
- 131. R. Shah *et al.*, Fractalkine is a novel human adipochemokine associated with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **60**, 1512-1518 (2011).
- 132. I. Shimizu *et al.*, Semaphorin3E-induced inflammation contributes to insulin resistance in dietary obesity. *Cell Metab* **18**, 491-504 (2013).
- 133. O. M. Finucane *et al.*, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor deficiency ameliorates high-fat diet induced insulin resistance in mice with reduced adipose inflammation and hepatic steatosis. *PLoS One* **9**, e113369 (2014).

- 134. A. Berbudi, N. Rahmadika, A. I. Tjahjadi, R. Ruslami, Type 2 Diabetes and its Impact on the Immune System. *Curr Diabetes Rev* **16**, 442-449 (2020).
- 135. S. Pavlou, J. Lindsay, R. Ingram, H. Xu, M. Chen, Sustained high glucose exposure sensitizes macrophage responses to cytokine stimuli but reduces their phagocytic activity. *BMC Immunol* **19**, 24 (2018).
- 136. V. Granger, M. Peyneau, S. Chollet-Martin, L. de Chaisemartin, Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Autoimmunity and Allergy: Immune Complexes at Work. *Front Immunol* **10**, 2824 (2019).
- 137. A. M. Megiovanni *et al.*, Polymorphonuclear neutrophils deliver activation signals and antigenic molecules to dendritic cells: a new link between leukocytes upstream of T lymphocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* **79**, 977-988 (2006).
- 138. C. Costantini *et al.*, Human neutrophils interact with both 6-sulfo LacNAc+ DC and NK cells to amplify NK-derived IFN{gamma}: role of CD18, ICAM-1, and ICAM-3. *Blood* **117**, 1677-1686 (2011).
- 139. H. R. Hampton, J. Bailey, M. Tomura, R. Brink, T. Chtanova, Microbe-dependent lymphatic migration of neutrophils modulates lymphocyte proliferation in lymph nodes. *Nat Commun* **6**, 7139 (2015).
- V. Elgazar-Carmon, A. Rudich, N. Hadad, R. Levy, Neutrophils transiently infiltrate intra-abdominal fat early in the course of high-fat feeding. *J Lipid Res* 49, 1894-1903 (2008).
- 141. S. Talukdar *et al.*, Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. *Nat Med* **18**, 1407-1412 (2012).
- 142. J. Huang *et al.*, Distinct neutrophil counts and functions in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes, latent autoimmune diabetes in adults, and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* **35**, e3064 (2019).
- 143. H. Zhang *et al.*, White blood cell subtypes and risk of type 2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications* **31**, 31-37 (2017).
- 144. M. Kuroki *et al.*, Identification and comparison of residues critical for celladhesion activities of two neutrophil CD66 antigens, CEACAM6 and CEACAM8. *J Leukoc Biol* **70**, 543-550 (2001).
- 145. A. J. van Oostrom, J. P. van Wijk, T. P. Sijmonsma, T. J. Rabelink, M. Castro Cabezas, Increased expression of activation markers on monocytes and neutrophils in type 2 diabetes. *Neth J Med* **62**, 320-325 (2004).
- 146. M. J. Sampson, I. R. Davies, J. C. Brown, K. Ivory, D. A. Hughes, Monocyte and neutrophil adhesion molecule expression during acute hyperglycemia and after antioxidant treatment in type 2 diabetes and control patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **22**, 1187-1193 (2002).
- 147. W. M. T. Kuwabara, C. N. F. Yokota, R. Curi, T. C. Alba-Loureiro, Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes mellitus induce lipopolysaccharide tolerance in rat neutrophils. *Scientific Reports* **8**, 17534 (2018).
- 148. Q. Lin *et al.*, Abnormal Peripheral Neutrophil Transcriptome in Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Patients. *J Diabetes Res* **2020**, 9519072 (2020).
- 149. J. S. Tan, J. L. Anderson, C. Watanakunakorn, J. P. Phair, Neutrophil dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *J Lab Clin Med* **85**, 26-33 (1975).
- 150. R. M. Wilson, W. G. Reeves, Neutrophil phagocytosis and killing in insulindependent diabetes. *Clin Exp Immunol* **63**, 478-484 (1986).

- 151. A. Carestia *et al.*, NETosis before and after Hyperglycemic Control in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients. *PLoS One* **11**, e0168647 (2016).
- 152. L. Menegazzo *et al.*, NETosis is induced by high glucose and associated with type 2 diabetes. *Acta Diabetol* **52**, 497-503 (2015).
- 153. M. B. Joshi *et al.*, High glucose modulates IL-6 mediated immune homeostasis through impeding neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *FEBS Lett* **587**, 2241-2246 (2013).
- 154. L. Wang *et al.*, Hyperglycemia Induces Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Formation Through an NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Pathway in Diabetic Retinopathy. *Front Immunol* **9**, 3076 (2018).
- 155. H. Yang *et al.*, Obesity increases the production of proinflammatory mediators from adipose tissue T cells and compromises TCR repertoire diversity: implications for systemic inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol* **185**, 1836-1845 (2010).
- 156. D. A. Winer *et al.*, B cells promote insulin resistance through modulation of T cells and production of pathogenic IgG antibodies. *Nat Med* **17**, 610-617 (2011).
- 157. S. Winer *et al.*, Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med* **15**, 921-929 (2009).
- 158. T. McLaughlin *et al.*, T-cell profile in adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **34**, 2637-2643 (2014).
- 159. R. L. Travers, A. C. Motta, J. A. Betts, A. Bouloumié, D. Thompson, The impact of adiposity on adipose tissue-resident lymphocyte activation in humans. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **39**, 762-769 (2015).
- 160. S. Zhang *et al.*, The Alterations in and the Role of the Th17/Treg Balance in Metabolic Diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology* **12**, (2021).
- 161. M. Jagannathan-Bogdan *et al.*, Elevated proinflammatory cytokine production by a skewed T cell compartment requires monocytes and promotes inflammation in type 2 diabetes. *J Immunol* **186**, 1162-1172 (2011).
- 162. E. Fabbrini *et al.*, Association between specific adipose tissue CD4+ T-cell populations and insulin resistance in obese individuals. *Gastroenterology* **145**, 366-374.e361-363 (2013).
- 163. S. Pereira *et al.*, Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by FOXP3+ Treg cells, IL-10, and TGF- β in metabolically healthy class III obese individuals. *Nutrition* **30**, 784-790 (2014).
- 164. V. Z. Rocha *et al.*, Interferon-gamma, a Th1 cytokine, regulates fat inflammation: a role for adaptive immunity in obesity. *Circ Res* **103**, 467-476 (2008).
- 165. N. Zhang, M. J. Bevan, CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. *Immunity* **35**, 161-168 (2011).
- 166. S. Nishimura *et al.*, CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med* **15**, 914-920 (2009).
- 167. V. N. Montes *et al.*, T cell activation inhibitors reduce CD8+ T cell and proinflammatory macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue of obese mice. *PLoS One* **8**, e67709 (2013).
- 168. T. Nagasawa, Microenvironmental niches in the bone marrow required for B-cell development. *Nat Rev Immunol* **6**, 107-116 (2006).

- 169. S. L. Nutt, B. L. Kee, The transcriptional regulation of B cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* **26**, 715-725 (2007).
- 170. J. DeFuria *et al.*, B cells promote inflammation in obesity and type 2 diabetes through regulation of T-cell function and an inflammatory cytokine profile. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 5133-5138 (2013).
- 171. X. Chen, D. M. Holtzman, Emerging roles of innate and adaptive immunity in Alzheimer's disease. *Immunity* **55**, 2236-2254 (2022).
- 172. R. Shechter, A. London, M. Schwartz, Orchestrated leukocyte recruitment to immune-privileged sites: absolute barriers versus educational gates. *Nat Rev Immunol* **13**, 206-218 (2013).
- 173. L. B. Buckman *et al.*, Obesity induced by a high-fat diet is associated with increased immune cell entry into the central nervous system. *Brain Behav Immun* 35, 33-42 (2014).
- 174. M. J. Butler *et al.*, CD8(+) T cells contribute to diet-induced memory deficits in aged male rats. *Brain Behav Immun* **109**, 235-250 (2023).
- 175. H. R. Hill, N. H. Augustine, M. L. Rallison, J. I. Santos, Defective monocyte chemotactic responses in diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Immunol* **3**, 70-77 (1983).
- J. Waltenberger, J. Lange, A. Kranz, Vascular endothelial growth factor-Ainduced chemotaxis of monocytes is attenuated in patients with diabetes mellitus: A potential predictor for the individual capacity to develop collaterals. *Circulation* 102, 185-190 (2000).
- 177. M. Kumar *et al.*, Reduced immune cell infiltration and increased proinflammatory mediators in the brain of Type 2 diabetic mouse model infected with West Nile virus. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* **11**, 80 (2014).
- 178. F. Zhang *et al.*, Augmented Brain Infiltration and Activation of Leukocytes After Cerebral Ischemia in Type 2 Diabetic Mice. *Front Immunol* **10**, 2392 (2019).
- 179. K. Tziomalos *et al.*, Type 2 diabetes is associated with a worse functional outcome of ischemic stroke. *World J Diabetes* **5**, 939-944 (2014).
- M. D. Sweeney, Z. Zhao, A. Montagne, A. R. Nelson, B. V. Zlokovic, Blood-Brain Barrier: From Physiology to Disease and Back. *Physiol Rev* 99, 21-78 (2019).
- 181. D. Y. Yoo *et al.*, Chronic type 2 diabetes reduces the integrity of the blood-brain barrier by reducing tight junction proteins in the hippocampus. *J Vet Med Sci* **78**, 957-962 (2016).
- 182. Q. Zhao *et al.*, HDAC3 inhibition prevents blood-brain barrier permeability through Nrf2 activation in type 2 diabetes male mice. *J Neuroinflammation* **16**, 103 (2019).
- 183. S. Rom *et al.*, Hyperglycemia-Driven Neuroinflammation Compromises BBB Leading to Memory Loss in Both Diabetes Mellitus (DM) Type 1 and Type 2 Mouse Models. *Mol Neurobiol* 56, 1883-1896 (2019).
- Q. Wang *et al.*, FGF21 Attenuates High-Fat Diet-Induced Cognitive Impairment via Metabolic Regulation and Anti-inflammation of Obese Mice. *Mol Neurobiol* 55, 4702-4717 (2018).
- 185. M. Muneeb, S. M. Mansou, S. Saleh, R. A. Mohammed, Vitamin D and rosuvastatin alleviate type-II diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction by

modulating neuroinflammation and canonical/noncanonical Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *PLoS One* **17**, e0277457 (2022).

- 186. O. F. Elabi *et al.*, DPP-4 Inhibitor and Sulfonylurea Differentially Reverse Type 2 Diabetes-Induced Blood-Brain Barrier Leakage and Normalize Capillary Pericyte Coverage. *Diabetes* **72**, 405-414 (2023).
- 187. T. S. Salameh, W. G. Mortell, A. F. Logsdon, D. A. Butterfield, W. A. Banks, Disruption of the hippocampal and hypothalamic blood-brain barrier in a dietinduced obese model of type II diabetes: prevention and treatment by the mitochondrial carbonic anhydrase inhibitor, topiramate. *Fluids Barriers CNS* 16, 1 (2019).
- J. Qiao, C. M. Lawson, K. F. G. Rentrup, P. Kulkarni, C. F. Ferris, Evaluating blood-brain barrier permeability in a rat model of type 2 diabetes. *J Transl Med* 18, 256 (2020).
- 189. Z. Xu *et al.*, The quantification of blood-brain barrier disruption using dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in aging rhesus monkeys with spontaneous type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Neuroimage* **158**, 480-487 (2017).
- 190. J. M. Starr *et al.*, Increased blood-brain barrier permeability in type II diabetes demonstrated by gadolinium magnetic resonance imaging. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* **74**, 70-76 (2003).
- 191. L. Zhang *et al.*, MicroRNA-219 decreases hippocampal long-term potentiation inhibition and hippocampal neuronal cell apoptosis in type 2 diabetes mellitus mice by suppressing the NMDAR signaling pathway. *CNS Neurosci Ther* **25**, 69-77 (2019).
- 192. X. Guo *et al.*, HMGB1/TLR4 promotes apoptosis and reduces autophagy of hippocampal neurons in diabetes combined with OSA. *Life Sci* **239**, 117020 (2019).
- 193. K. Little *et al.*, Disruption of cortical cell type composition and function underlies diabetes-associated cognitive decline. *Diabetologia* **66**, 1557-1575 (2023).
- 194. Y. Shi *et al.*, DNA binding protein HMGB1 secreted by activated microglia promotes the apoptosis of hippocampal neurons in diabetes complicated with OSA. *Brain Behav Immun* **73**, 482-492 (2018).
- 195. Q. Li *et al.*, Impaired lipophagy induced-microglial lipid droplets accumulation contributes to the buildup of TREM1 in diabetes-associated cognitive impairment. *Autophagy* **19**, 2639-2656 (2023).
- 196. C. E. Hughes, R. J. B. Nibbs, A guide to chemokines and their receptors. *Febs j* **285**, 2944-2971 (2018).
- 197. C. L. Sokol, A. D. Luster, The chemokine system in innate immunity. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **7**, (2015).
- 198. A. Bajetto, R. Bonavia, S. Barbero, T. Florio, G. Schettini, Chemokines and their receptors in the central nervous system. *Front Neuroendocrinol* **22**, 147-184 (2001).
- H. Nomiyama, N. Osada, O. Yoshie, Systematic classification of vertebrate chemokines based on conserved synteny and evolutionary history. *Genes to Cells* 18, 1-16 (2013).

- 200. T. Nagasawa, H. Kikutani, T. Kishimoto, Molecular cloning and structure of a pre-B-cell growth-stimulating factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **91**, 2305-2309 (1994).
- 201. C. C. Bleul, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, J. M. Casasnovas, A. Aiuti, T. A. Springer, A highly efficacious lymphocyte chemoattractant, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1). *The Journal of experimental medicine* **184**, 1101-1109 (1996).
- 202. R. Janssens, S. Struyf, P. Proost, The unique structural and functional features of CXCL12. *Cell Mol Immunol* **15**, 299-311 (2018).
- 203. E. M. García-Cuesta *et al.*, The Role of the CXCL12/CXCR4/ACKR3 Axis in Autoimmune Diseases. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* **10**, 585 (2019).
- T. Nagasawa *et al.*, Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. *Nature* 382, 635-638 (1996).
- 205. Z. Liang *et al.*, CXCR4/CXCL12 axis promotes VEGF-mediated tumor angiogenesis through Akt signaling pathway. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **359**, 716-722 (2007).
- 206. K. K. Liu, K. Dorovini-Zis, Regulation of CXCL12 and CXCR4 expression by human brain endothelial cells and their role in CD4+ and CD8+ T cell adhesion and transendothelial migration. *J Neuroimmunol* **215**, 49-64 (2009).
- 207. K. Tachibana *et al.*, The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is essential for vascularization of the gastrointestinal tract. *Nature* **393**, 591-594 (1998).
- 208. E. Oberlin *et al.*, The CXC chemokine SDF-1 is the ligand for LESTR/fusin and prevents infection by T-cell-line-adapted HIV-1. *Nature* **382**, 833-835 (1996).
- 209. Y. Feng, C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy, E. A. Berger, HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 272, 872-877 (1996).
- 210. B. Wu *et al.*, Structures of the CXCR4 chemokine GPCR with small-molecule and cyclic peptide antagonists. *Science* **330**, 1066-1071 (2010).
- 211. Q. Ma *et al.*, Impaired B-lymphopoiesis, myelopoiesis, and derailed cerebellar neuron migration in CXCR4-and SDF-1-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **95**, 9448-9453 (1998).
- 212. A. V. Gulino *et al.*, Altered leukocyte response to CXCL12 in patients with warts hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome. *Blood* **104**, 444-452 (2004).
- 213. R. Derakhshan *et al.*, Increased circulating levels of SDF-1 (CXCL12) in type 2 diabetic patients are correlated to disease state but are unrelated to polymorphism of the SDF-1 β gene in the Iranian population. *Inflammation* **35**, 900-904 (2012).
- 214. A. Tufa *et al.*, Inflammatory mediators profile in patients hospitalized with COVID-19: A comparative study. *Front Immunol* **13**, 964179 (2022).
- 215. C. G. Egan *et al.*, Generalised reduction of putative endothelial progenitors and CXCR4-positive peripheral blood cells in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **51**, 1296-1305 (2008).
- A. A. Nathan *et al.*, Impaired glucose tolerance alters functional ability of peripheral blood-derived mononuclear cells in Asian Indian men. *Diab Vasc Dis Res* 12, 13-22 (2015).

- 217. P. M. Humpert *et al.*, SDF-1 genotype influences insulin-dependent mobilization of adult progenitor cells in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **28**, 934-936 (2005).
- 218. Z. Liu, J. F. Habener, Stromal cell-derived factor-1 promotes survival of pancreatic beta cells by the stabilisation of beta-catenin and activation of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2). *Diabetologia* **52**, 1589-1598 (2009).
- 219. Z. Liu, V. Stanojevic, S. Avadhani, T. Yano, J. F. Habener, Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1)/chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4 (CXCR4) axis activation induces intra-islet glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) production and enhances beta cell survival. *Diabetologia* **54**, 2067-2076 (2011).
- 220. N. Grdović *et al.*, CXC chemokine ligand 12 protects pancreatic β-cells from necrosis through Akt kinase-mediated modulation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 activity. *PLoS One* **9**, e101172 (2014).
- 221. D. Kim *et al.*, CXCL12 secreted from adipose tissue recruits macrophages and induces insulin resistance in mice. *Diabetologia* **57**, 1456-1465 (2014).
- 222. L. Liao *et al.*, Identification of Key Genes from the Visceral Adipose Tissues of Overweight/Obese Adults with Hypertension through Transcriptome Sequencing. *Cytogenet Genome Res* **162**, 541-559 (2022).
- 223. K. N. Amin *et al.*, miR-23c regulates wound healing by targeting stromal cellderived factor-1α (SDF-1α/CXCL12) among patients with diabetic foot ulcer. *Microvasc Res* **127**, 103924 (2020).
- 224. T. E. Restivo, K. A. Mace, A. H. Harken, D. M. Young, Application of the chemokine CXCL12 expression plasmid restores wound healing to near normal in a diabetic mouse model. *J Trauma* **69**, 392-398 (2010).
- 225. K. A. Gallagher *et al.*, Diabetic impairments in NO-mediated endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and homing are reversed by hyperoxia and SDF-1 alpha. *J Clin Invest* **117**, 1249-1259 (2007).
- X. Luo, X. Wang, Z. Xia, S. K. Chung, C. W. Cheung, CXCL12/CXCR4 axis: an emerging neuromodulator in pathological pain. *Reviews in the Neurosciences* 27, 83-92 (2016).
- 227. J. Hur *et al.*, The identification of gene expression profiles associated with progression of human diabetic neuropathy. *Brain* **134**, 3222-3235 (2011).
- 228. D. Ashjari *et al.*, The axis of long non-coding RNA MALAT1/miR-1-3p/CXCR4 is dysregulated in patients with diabetic neuropathy. *Heliyon* **8**, e09178 (2022).
- 229. V. Thakur, J. Sadanandan, M. Chattopadhyay, High-Mobility Group Box 1 Protein Signaling in Painful Diabetic Neuropathy. *Int J Mol Sci* **21**, (2020).
- 230. D. M. Menichella *et al.*, CXCR4 chemokine receptor signaling mediates pain in diabetic neuropathy. *Mol Pain* **10**, 42 (2014).
- 231. N. D. Jayaraj *et al.*, Reducing CXCR4-mediated nociceptor hyperexcitability reverses painful diabetic neuropathy. *J Clin Invest* **128**, 2205-2225 (2018).
- 232. N. Samsu, Diabetic Nephropathy: Challenges in Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *Biomed Res Int* **2021**, 1497449 (2021).
- 233. C. F. Lu *et al.*, Serum stromal cell-derived factor-1 levels are associated with diabetic kidney disease in type 2 diabetic patients. *Endocr J* **68**, 1101-1107 (2021).
- 234. S. G. Sayyed *et al.*, Podocytes produce homeostatic chemokine stromal cellderived factor-1/CXCL12, which contributes to glomerulosclerosis, podocyte loss

and albuminuria in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **52**, 2445-2454 (2009).

- 235. M. N. Darisipudi *et al.*, Dual blockade of the homeostatic chemokine CXCL12 and the proinflammatory chemokine CCL2 has additive protective effects on diabetic kidney disease. *Am J Pathol* **179**, 116-124 (2011).
- S. M. Stuckey, L. K. Ong, L. E. Collins-Praino, R. J. Turner, Neuroinflammation as a Key Driver of Secondary Neurodegeneration Following Stroke? *Int J Mol Sci* 22, (2021).
- 237. Y. S. Kim *et al.*, Association between serum stromal cell-derived factor-1α and long-term outcome of acute ischemic stroke. *Eur Neurol* **67**, 363-369 (2012).
- 238. X. Huang, M. Wan, Q. Yang, X. Ding, Z. Zhou, The stromal cell-derived factor-1 α (SDF-1 α)/cysteine-X-cysteine chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) axis: a possible prognostic indicator of acute ischemic stroke. *J Int Med Res* **47**, 1897-1907 (2019).
- 239. P. Liu, J. W. Xiang, S. X. Jin, Serum CXCL12 levels are associated with stroke severity and lesion volumes in stroke patients. *Neurol Res* **37**, 853-858 (2015).
- 240. R. C. Schutt, M. D. Burdick, R. M. Strieter, B. Mehrad, E. C. Keeley, Plasma CXCL12 levels as a predictor of future stroke. *Stroke* **43**, 3382-3386 (2012).
- 241. M. Han, B. Ma, R. She, Y. Xing, X. Li, Correlations Between Serum CXCL9/12 and the Severity of Acute Ischemic Stroke, a Retrospective Observational Study. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* **19**, 283-292 (2023).
- 242. X. L. Gu, L. Liu, X. D. Lu, Z. R. Liu, Serum CXCL12 Levels as a Novel Predictor of Future Stroke Recurrence in Patients with Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Mol Neurobiol* 53, 2807-2814 (2016).
- 243. X. Cheng, Y. J. Lian, Y. Q. Ma, N. C. Xie, C. J. Wu, Elevated Serum Levels of CXC Chemokine Ligand-12 Are Associated with Unfavorable Functional Outcome and Mortality at 6-Month Follow-up in Chinese Patients with Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Mol Neurobiol* 54, 895-903 (2017).
- 244. Y. Zhang *et al.*, SDF-1/CXCR7 Chemokine Signaling is Induced in the Peri-Infarct Regions in Patients with Ischemic Stroke. *Aging Dis* **9**, 287-295 (2018).
- 245. K. Ruscher *et al.*, Inhibition of CXCL12 signaling attenuates the postischemic immune response and improves functional recovery after stroke. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **33**, 1225-1234 (2013).
- 246. S. Wang *et al.*, Brain endothelial CXCL12 attracts protective natural killer cells during ischemic stroke. *J Neuroinflammation* **20**, 8 (2023).
- 247. Y. Li *et al.*, cxcl12-engineered endothelial progenitor cells enhance neurogenesis and angiogenesis after ischemic brain injury in mice. *Stem Cell Res Ther* **9**, 139 (2018).
- 248. Y. Li *et al.*, Postacute stromal cell-derived factor-1α expression promotes neurovascular recovery in ischemic mice. *Stroke* **45**, 1822-1829 (2014).
- 249. L. Mao *et al.*, Endogenous endothelial progenitor cells participate in neovascularization via CXCR4/SDF-1 axis and improve outcome after stroke. *CNS Neurosci Ther* **20**, 460-468 (2014).
- 250. U. M. Selvaraj *et al.*, Preconditioning-induced CXCL12 upregulation minimizes leukocyte infiltration after stroke in ischemia-tolerant mice. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **37**, 801-813 (2017).

- 251. K. J. Wu *et al.*, A Novel CXCR4 Antagonist CX549 Induces Neuroprotection in Stroke Brain. *Cell Transplant* **26**, 571-583 (2017).
- 252. M. Pashenkov, M. Söderström, H. Link, Secondary lymphoid organ chemokines are elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid during central nervous system inflammation. *J Neuroimmunol* **135**, 154-160 (2003).
- 253. M. Krumbholz *et al.*, Chemokines in multiple sclerosis: CXCL12 and CXCL13 up-regulation is differentially linked to CNS immune cell recruitment. *Brain* **129**, 200-211 (2006).
- 254. X. Chen *et al.*, Identification of blood-derived candidate gene markers and a new 7-gene diagnostic model for multiple sclerosis. *Biol Res* **54**, 12 (2021).
- 255. N. M. Moll *et al.*, Imaging correlates of leukocyte accumulation and CXCR4/CXCL12 in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* **66**, 44-53 (2009).
- 256. E. E. McCandless *et al.*, Pathological expression of CXCL12 at the blood-brain barrier correlates with severity of multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* **172**, 799-808 (2008).
- 257. R. Zilkha-Falb, N. Kaushansky, N. Kawakami, A. Ben-Nun, Post-CNSinflammation expression of CXCL12 promotes the endogenous myelin/neuronal repair capacity following spontaneous recovery from multiple sclerosis-like disease. *J Neuroinflammation* **13**, 7 (2016).
- 258. R. E. Kohler *et al.*, Antagonism of the chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CXCR4 reduces the pathology of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Pathol* **18**, 504-516 (2008).
- 259. J. R. Patel, E. E. McCandless, D. Dorsey, R. S. Klein, CXCR4 promotes differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitors and remyelination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 11062-11067 (2010).
- 260. M. Shimoji, F. Pagan, E. B. Healton, I. Mocchetti, CXCR4 and CXCL12 expression is increased in the nigro-striatal system of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotox Res* **16**, 318-328 (2009).
- 261. V. Bagheri, H. Khorramdelazad, G. Hassanshahi, A. Moghadam-Ahmadi, A. Vakilian, CXCL12 and CXCR4 in the Peripheral Blood of Patients with Parkinson's Disease. *Neuroimmunomodulation* **25**, 201-205 (2018).
- 262. Y. Li *et al.*, CXCL12 is involved in α-synuclein-triggered neuroinflammation of Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* **16**, 263 (2019).
- 263. D. Gate *et al.*, CD4(+) T cells contribute to neurodegeneration in Lewy body dementia. *Science* **374**, 868-874 (2021).
- 264. Y. Li *et al.*, Parkinson's disease peripheral immune biomarker profile: a multicentre, cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *J Neuroinflammation* **19**, 116 (2022).
- 265. J. Ma *et al.*, CXCR4 knockout induces neuropathological changes in the MPTPlesioned model of Parkinson's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* **1869**, 166597 (2023).
- 266. C. Laske, K. Stellos, G. W. Eschweiler, T. Leyhe, M. Gawaz, Decreased CXCL12 (SDF-1) plasma levels in early Alzheimer's disease: a contribution to a deficient hematopoietic brain support? *J Alzheimers Dis* 15, 83-95 (2008).

- 267. A. Kulczyńska-Przybik *et al.*, The Relationships between Cerebrospinal Fluid Glial (CXCL12, CX3CL, YKL-40) and Synaptic Biomarkers (Ng, NPTXR) in Early Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* **24**, (2023).
- 268. C. Sanfilippo, P. Castrogiovanni, R. Imbesi, G. Nunnari, M. Di Rosa, Postsynaptic damage and microglial activation in AD patients could be linked CXCR4/CXCL12 expression levels. *Brain Res* **1749**, 147127 (2020).
- 269. A. Parachikova, C. W. Cotman, Reduced CXCL12/CXCR4 results in impaired learning and is downregulated in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiol Dis* **28**, 143-153 (2007).
- 270. Y. Gavriel, I. Rabinovich-Nikitin, A. Ezra, B. Barbiro, B. Solomon, Subcutaneous Administration of AMD3100 into Mice Models of Alzheimer's Disease Ameliorated Cognitive Impairment, Reduced Neuroinflammation, and Improved Pathophysiological Markers. *J Alzheimers Dis* **78**, 653-671 (2020).
- 271. Q. Wang *et al.*, Stromal cell-derived factor 1 α decreases β -amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Brain Res* **1459**, 15-26 (2012).
- 272. D. Raman *et al.*, Chemokines, macrophage inflammatory protein-2 and stromal cell-derived factor-1α, suppress amyloid β-induced neurotoxicity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 256, 300-313 (2011).
- 273. K. Srinivasan, P. Ramarao, Animal models in type 2 diabetes research: an overview. *Indian J Med Res* **125**, 451-472 (2007).
- 274. M. Couce *et al.*, Treatment with growth hormone and dexamethasone in mice transgenic for human islet amyloid polypeptide causes islet amyloidosis and beta-cell dysfunction. *Diabetes* **45**, 1094-1101 (1996).
- 275. J. Janson *et al.*, Spontaneous diabetes mellitus in transgenic mice expressing human islet amyloid polypeptide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**, 7283-7288 (1996).
- 276. A. E. Butler *et al.*, Diabetes due to a progressive defect in beta-cell mass in rats transgenic for human islet amyloid polypeptide (HIP Rat): a new model for type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **53**, 1509-1516 (2004).
- 277. R. K. Shahidehpour *et al.*, The localization of molecularly distinct microglia populations to Alzheimer's disease pathologies using QUIVER. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* **11**, 45 (2023).
- 278. M. Santopaolo *et al.*, Activation of Bone Marrow Adaptive Immunity in Type 2 Diabetes: Rescue by Co-stimulation Modulator Abatacept. *Front Immunol* **12**, 609406 (2021).
- 279. M. Delamaire *et al.*, Impaired leucocyte functions in diabetic patients. *Diabet Med* **14**, 29-34 (1997).
- 280. S. E. Geerlings, A. I. Hoepelman, Immune dysfunction in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* **26**, 259-265 (1999).
- M. Schwartz, M. A. Abellanas, A. Tsitsou-Kampeli, S. Suzzi, The brain-immune ecosystem: Implications for immunotherapy in defeating neurodegenerative diseases. *Neuron* 110, 3421-3424 (2022).
- 282. G. T. Norris, J. Kipnis, Immune cells and CNS physiology: Microglia and beyond. *J Exp Med* **216**, 60-70 (2019).
- 283. J. Kipnis, H. Cohen, M. Cardon, Y. Ziv, M. Schwartz, T cell deficiency leads to cognitive dysfunction: implications for therapeutic vaccination for schizophrenia

and other psychiatric conditions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 8180-8185 (2004).

- 284. Y. Ziv *et al.*, Immune cells contribute to the maintenance of neurogenesis and spatial learning abilities in adulthood. *Nat Neurosci* **9**, 268-275 (2006).
- 285. C. Garber *et al.*, T cells promote microglia-mediated synaptic elimination and cognitive dysfunction during recovery from neuropathogenic flaviviruses. *Nat Neurosci* **22**, 1276-1288 (2019).
- M. S. Subbarayan, C. Hudson, L. D. Moss, K. R. Nash, P. C. Bickford, T cell infiltration and upregulation of MHCII in microglia leads to accelerated neuronal loss in an alpha-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 17, 242 (2020).
- 287. A. Mildner *et al.*, Distinct and non-redundant roles of microglia and myeloid subsets in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci* **31**, 11159-11171 (2011).
- 288. A. Lampron, P. M. Pimentel-Coelho, S. Rivest, Migration of bone marrowderived cells into the central nervous system in models of neurodegeneration. *J Comp Neurol* **521**, 3863-3876 (2013).
- 289. D. Mrdjen *et al.*, High-Dimensional Single-Cell Mapping of Central Nervous System Immune Cells Reveals Distinct Myeloid Subsets in Health, Aging, and Disease. *Immunity* **48**, 599 (2018).
- 290. W. A. Banks, A. J. Kastin, L. M. Maness, W. Huang, J. B. Jaspan, Permeability of the blood-brain barrier to amylin. *Life Sci* 57, 1993-2001 (1995).
- 291. W. A. Banks, A. J. Kastin, Differential permeability of the blood-brain barrier to two pancreatic peptides: insulin and amylin. *Peptides* **19**, 883-889 (1998).
- 292. K. Beaumont, M. A. Kenney, A. A. Young, T. J. Rink, High affinity amylin binding sites in rat brain. *Mol Pharmacol* **44**, 493-497 (1993).
- 293. C. S. Potes, T. A. Lutz, T. Riediger, Identification of central projections from amylin-activated neurons to the lateral hypothalamus. *Brain Res* **1334**, 31-44 (2010).
- 294. G. Banisadr *et al.*, Neuroanatomical distribution of CXCR4 in adult rat brain and its localization in cholinergic and dopaminergic neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**, 1661-1671 (2002).
- 295. R. S. Klein, J. B. Rubin, Immune and nervous system CXCL12 and CXCR4: parallel roles in patterning and plasticity. *Trends Immunol* **25**, 306-314 (2004).
- 296. C. C. Bleul, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, J. M. Casasnovas, A. Aiuti, T. A. Springer, A highly efficacious lymphocyte chemoattractant, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1). J Exp Med 184, 1101-1109 (1996).
- 297. S. Man *et al.*, CXCL12-induced monocyte-endothelial interactions promote lymphocyte transmigration across an in vitro blood-brain barrier. *Sci Transl Med* 4, 119ra114 (2012).
- 298. T. Yano, Z. Liu, J. Donovan, M. K. Thomas, J. F. Habener, Stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1)/CXCL12 attenuates diabetes in mice and promotes pancreatic beta-cell survival by activation of the prosurvival kinase Akt. *Diabetes* **56**, 2946-2957 (2007).

- 299. H. E. Broxmeyer *et al.*, Rapid mobilization of murine and human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. *J Exp Med* **201**, 1307-1318 (2005).
- 300. E. E. McCandless, Q. Wang, B. M. Woerner, J. M. Harper, R. S. Klein, CXCL12 limits inflammation by localizing mononuclear infiltrates to the perivascular space during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 177, 8053-8064 (2006).
- 301. Y. Shi, D. J. Riese, 2nd, J. Shen, The Role of the CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 Chemokine Axis in Cancer. *Front Pharmacol* **11**, 574667 (2020).
- 302. M. Vidakovic *et al.*, The Importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 Axis in Therapeutic Approaches to Diabetes Mellitus Attenuation. *Front Immunol* **6**, 403 (2015).
- 303. X. Luo, X. Wang, Z. Xia, S. K. Chung, C. W. Cheung, CXCL12/CXCR4 axis: an emerging neuromodulator in pathological pain. *Rev Neurosci* 27, 83-92 (2016).
- 304. L. W. Bonham *et al.*, CXCR4 involvement in neurodegenerative diseases. *Transl Psychiatry* **8**, 73 (2018).
- 305. R. Derakhshan *et al.*, Increased circulating levels of SDF-1 (CXCL12) in type 2 diabetic patients are correlated to disease state but are unrelated to polymorphism of the SDF-1beta gene in the Iranian population. *Inflammation* **35**, 900-904 (2012).
- 306. M. Meiron, Y. Zohar, R. Anunu, G. Wildbaum, N. Karin, CXCL12 (SDF-1alpha) suppresses ongoing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by selecting antigen-specific regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* **205**, 2643-2655 (2008).
- 307. K. Beider *et al.*, Multiple myeloma cells recruit tumor-supportive macrophages through the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis and promote their polarization toward the M2 phenotype. *Oncotarget* **5**, 11283-11296 (2014).
- 308. Y. Li *et al.*, CXCL12 is involved in alpha-synuclein-triggered neuroinflammation of Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* **16**, 263 (2019).
- 309. A. T. Weeraratna *et al.*, Alterations in immunological and neurological gene expression patterns in Alzheimer's disease tissues. *Exp Cell Res* **313**, 450-461 (2007).
- 310. G. Ren, A. I. Roberts, Y. Shi, Adhesion molecules: key players in Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression. *Cell Adh Migr* **5**, 20-22 (2011).
- 311. S. Qiu *et al.*, Association between circulating cell adhesion molecules and risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Atherosclerosis* **287**, 147-154 (2019).
- 312. G. A. Hegazy, Z. Awan, E. Hashem, N. Al-Ama, A. B. Abunaji, Levels of soluble cell adhesion molecules in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with macrovascular complications. *J Int Med Res* **48**, 300060519893858 (2020).
- 313. O. Steiner *et al.*, Differential roles for endothelial ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 in shear-resistant T cell arrest, polarization, and directed crawling on blood-brain barrier endothelium. *J Immunol* **185**, 4846-4855 (2010).
- 314. M. Abadier *et al.*, Cell surface levels of endothelial ICAM-1 influence the transcellular or paracellular T-cell diapedesis across the blood-brain barrier. *Eur J Immunol* **45**, 1043-1058 (2015).
- 315. M. Laschinger, B. Engelhardt, Interaction of alpha4-integrin with VCAM-1 is involved in adhesion of encephalitogenic T cell blasts to brain endothelium but

not in their transendothelial migration in vitro. *J Neuroimmunol* **102**, 32-43 (2000).

- 316. X. X. Zhang *et al.*, Human amylin induces CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the protection from autoimmune diabetes. *Immunol Res* **66**, 179-186 (2018).
- 317. X. Chen *et al.*, Microglia-mediated T cell infiltration drives neurodegeneration in tauopathy. *Nature* **615**, 668-677 (2023).
- 318. J. Groh *et al.*, Accumulation of cytotoxic T cells in the aged CNS leads to axon degeneration and contributes to cognitive and motor decline. *Nature Aging* **1**, 357-367 (2021).
- S. T. T. Schetters, D. Gomez-Nicola, J. J. Garcia-Vallejo, Y. Van Kooyk, Neuroinflammation: Microglia and T Cells Get Ready to Tango. *Front Immunol* 8, 1905 (2017).
- 320. S. Hao, A. Dey, X. Yu, A. M. Stranahan, Dietary obesity reversibly induces synaptic stripping by microglia and impairs hippocampal plasticity. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* **51**, 230-239 (2016).
- 321. P. L. McGeer, S. Itagaki, H. Tago, E. G. McGeer, Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neuroscience letters* **79**, 195-200 (1987).
- 322. A. Parachikova *et al.*, Inflammatory changes parallel the early stages of Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiology of aging* **28**, 1821-1833 (2007).
- 323. K. Kim *et al.*, Therapeutic B-cell depletion reverses progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Communications* **12**, 2185 (2021).
- 324. W. Feng *et al.*, B lymphocytes ameliorate Alzheimer's disease-like neuropathology via interleukin-35. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* **108**, 16-31 (2023).
- 325. G. Kunis *et al.*, IFN-γ-dependent activation of the brain's choroid plexus for CNS immune surveillance and repair. *Brain* **136**, 3427-3440 (2013).
- 326. Y. Han, D. Liu, L. Li, PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: current researches in cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* **10**, 727-742 (2020).
- 327. S. Manenti *et al.*, PD-1/PD-L Axis in Neuroinflammation: New Insights. *Frontiers in Neurology* **13**, (2022).
- 328. Y. Cheng, L. Yue, Z. Wang, J. Zhang, G. Xiang, Hyperglycemia associated with lymphopenia and disease severity of COVID-19 in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Complications* **35**, 107809 (2021).
- 329. A. Soriano *et al.*, VCAM-1, but Not ICAM-1 or MAdCAM-1, Immunoblockade Ameliorates DSS-Induced Colitis in Mice. *Laboratory Investigation* **80**, 1541-1551 (2000).
- 330. R. S. Carpenter *et al.*, Spinal cord injury causes chronic bone marrow failure. *Nat Commun* **11**, 3702 (2020).
- 331. S. Pinho, P. S. Frenette, Haematopoietic stem cell activity and interactions with the niche. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **20**, 303-320 (2019).
- T. Nagasawa *et al.*, Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. *Nature* 382, 635-638 (1996).

- 333. T. Egawa *et al.*, The earliest stages of B cell development require a chemokine stromal cell-derived factor/pre-B cell growth-stimulating factor. *Immunity* **15**, 323-334 (2001).
- S. Park, X. Zhu, M. Kim, L. Zhao, S. Y. Cheng, Thyroid Hormone Receptor α1 Mutants Impair B Lymphocyte Development in a Mouse Model. *Thyroid* **31**, 994-1002 (2021).
- 335. M. Maryanovich *et al.*, Adrenergic nerve degeneration in bone marrow drives aging of the hematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nat Med* **24**, 782-791 (2018).
- 336. F. Ferraro *et al.*, Diabetes impairs hematopoietic stem cell mobilization by altering niche function. *Sci Transl Med* **3**, 104ra101 (2011).
- 337. G. P. Fadini *et al.*, Time course and mechanisms of circulating progenitor cell reduction in the natural history of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **33**, 1097-1102 (2010).
- 338. L. A. Marquez-Curtis, A. R. Turner, S. Sridharan, M. Z. Ratajczak, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, The ins and outs of hematopoietic stem cells: studies to improve transplantation outcomes. *Stem Cell Rev Rep* **7**, 590-607 (2011).
- 339. A. Janowska-Wieczorek, L. A. Marquez-Curtis, N. Shirvaikar, M. Z. Ratajczak, The role of complement in the trafficking of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *Transfusion* **52**, 2706-2716 (2012).
- 340. I. Petit *et al.*, G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. *Nat Immunol* **3**, 687-694 (2002).
- 341. G. P. Fadini *et al.*, Diabetes impairs stem cell and proangiogenic cell mobilization in humans. *Diabetes Care* **36**, 943-949 (2013).
- 342. G. P. Fadini *et al.*, Diabetes Limits Stem Cell Mobilization Following G-CSF but Not Plerixafor. *Diabetes* **64**, 2969-2977 (2015).
- 343. D. H. McDermott *et al.*, Plerixafor for the Treatment of WHIM Syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine* **380**, 163-170 (2019).
- 344. Y. Nishimura *et al.*, CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 accelerates impaired wound healing in diabetic mice. *J Invest Dermatol* **132**, 711-720 (2012).
- M. Strzelec, J. Detka, P. Mieszczak, M. K. Sobocińska, M. Majka, Immunomodulation—a general review of the current state-of-the-art and new therapeutic strategies for targeting the immune system. *Frontiers in Immunology* 14, (2023).
- 346. C. A. Mitchell *et al.*, Stromal niche inflammation mediated by IL-1 signalling is a targetable driver of haematopoietic ageing. *Nat Cell Biol* **25**, 30-41 (2023).
- 347. N. Lonnemann *et al.*, The NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor OLT1177 rescues cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **117**, 32145-32154 (2020).
- 348. Y. Jiang, M. Chen, H. Nie, Y. Yuan, PD-1 and PD-L1 in cancer immunotherapy: clinical implications and future considerations. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* **15**, 1111-1122 (2019).
- 349. I. Nojima *et al.*, Dysfunction of CD8 + PD-1 + T cells in type 2 diabetes caused by the impairment of metabolism-immune axis. *Sci Rep* **10**, 14928 (2020).
- 350. A. Kotwal, C. Haddox, M. Block, Y. C. Kudva, Immune checkpoint inhibitors: an emerging cause of insulin-dependent diabetes. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & amp; Care* **7**, e000591 (2019).

- 351. D. Tomsitz *et al.*, Development of Lymphopenia during Therapy with Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors Is Associated with Poor Outcome in Metastatic Cutaneous Melanoma. *Cancers (Basel)* **14**, (2022).
- 352. K. Baruch *et al.*, PD-1 immune checkpoint blockade reduces pathology and improves memory in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* **22**, 135-137 (2016).
- 353. M. Saraiva, A. O'Garra, The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **10**, 170-181 (2010).
- 354. S. Naz *et al.*, Association of Interleukin 10 (IL-10) Gene with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus by Single Nucleotide Polymorphism of Its Promotor Region G/A 1082. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr* **30**, 285-289 (2020).
- 355. X. Wang, K. Wong, W. Ouyang, S. Rutz, Targeting IL-10 Family Cytokines for the Treatment of Human Diseases. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **11**, (2019).
- 356. M. Shanaki-Bavarsad, B. Almolda, B. González, B. Castellano, Astrocytetargeted Overproduction of IL-10 Reduces Neurodegeneration after TBI. *Exp Neurobiol* **31**, 173-195 (2022).
- 357. M. Piepke *et al.*, Interleukin-10 improves stroke outcome by controlling the detrimental Interleukin-17A response. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* **18**, 265 (2021).
- 358. V. Camacho *et al.*, Bone marrow Tregs mediate stromal cell function and support hematopoiesis via IL-10. *JCI Insight* **5**, (2020).
- 359. A. Pierini *et al.*, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells maintain the bone marrow microenvironment for B cell lymphopoiesis. *Nature Communications* **8**, 15068 (2017).
- 360. S. Othy *et al.*, Regulatory T cells suppress Th17 cell Ca²⁺ signaling in the spinal cord during murine autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **117**, 20088-20099 (2020).
- 361. Y. C. Qiao *et al.*, Changes of Regulatory T Cells and of Proinflammatory and Immunosuppressive Cytokines in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Diabetes Res* **2016**, 3694957 (2016).
- 362. P. Chakrabarty *et al.*, IL-10 alters immunoproteostasis in APP mice, increasing plaque burden and worsening cognitive behavior. *Neuron* **85**, 519-533 (2015).
- 363. L. Barron *et al.*, Cutting edge: mechanisms of IL-2-dependent maintenance of functional regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* **185**, 6426-6430 (2010).
- 364. T. Jiang, C. Zhou, S. Ren, Role of IL-2 in cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* **5**, e1163462 (2016).
- 365. S. Alves *et al.*, Interleukin-2 improves amyloid pathology, synaptic failure and memory in Alzheimer's disease mice. *Brain* **140**, 826-842 (2017).
- 366. L. Yshii *et al.*, Astrocyte-targeted gene delivery of interleukin 2 specifically increases brain-resident regulatory T cell numbers and protects against pathological neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* **23**, 878-891 (2022).
- J.-Y. Zhang *et al.*, Low-dose IL-2 reduces IL-21+ T cell frequency and induces anti-inflammatory gene expression in type 1 diabetes. *Nature Communications* 13, 7324 (2022).
- 368. S. Dong *et al.*, The effect of low-dose IL-2 and Treg adoptive cell therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes. *JCI Insight* **6**, (2021).

- 369. S. Suri *et al.*, Role of interleukin-2 and interleukin-18 in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol* **33**, 185-190 (2021).
- 370. Y. Zhang *et al.*, Combined lifestyle factors and risk of incident type 2 diabetes and prognosis among individuals with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetologia* **63**, 21-33 (2020).
- G. A. Bronczek *et al.*, Resistance exercise training improves glucose homeostasis by enhancing insulin secretion in C57BL/6 mice. *Scientific Reports* 11, 8574 (2021).
- 372. S. R. Colberg *et al.*, Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement. *Diabetes Care* **33**, e147-167 (2010).
- 373. B. Shen *et al.*, A mechanosensitive peri-arteriolar niche for osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis. *Nature* **591**, 438-444 (2021).
- 374. J. J. Vanhie *et al.*, The role of exercise-and high fat diet-induced bone marrow extracellular vesicles in stress hematopoiesis. *Front Physiol* **13**, 1054463 (2022).
- Y. Rabinowitz *et al.*, Physical Activity Is Associated with Slower Cognitive Decline in Older Adults with Type 2 Diabetes. *J Prev Alzheimers Dis* 10, 497-502 (2023).
- 376. L. Chen *et al.*, High-fiber diet ameliorates gut microbiota, serum metabolism and emotional mood in type 2 diabetes patients. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **13**, 1069954 (2023).
- 377. S. Martín-Peláez, M. Fito, O. Castaner, Mediterranean Diet Effects on Type 2 Diabetes Prevention, Disease Progression, and Related Mechanisms. A Review. *Nutrients* **12**, (2020).
- 378. A. Kautzky-Willer, M. Leutner, J. Harreiter, Sex differences in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **66**, 986-1002 (2023).
- K. L. Margolis *et al.*, Effect of oestrogen plus progestin on the incidence of diabetes in postmenopausal women: results from the Women's Health Initiative Hormone Trial. *Diabetologia* 47, 1175-1187 (2004).
- 380. D. Nakada *et al.*, Oestrogen increases haematopoietic stem-cell self-renewal in females and during pregnancy. *Nature* **505**, 555-558 (2014).
- 381. E. Carreras *et al.*, Estradiol acts directly on bone marrow myeloid progenitors to differentially regulate GM-CSF or Flt3 ligand-mediated dendritic cell differentiation. *J Immunol* **180**, 727-738 (2008).
- T. S. Thurmond *et al.*, Role of estrogen receptor alpha in hematopoietic stem cell development and B lymphocyte maturation in the male mouse. *Endocrinology* 141, 2309-2318 (2000).
- 383. S. S. Uppal, S. Verma, P. S. Dhot, Normal values of CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte subsets in healthy indian adults and the effects of sex, age, ethnicity, and smoking. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom* **52**, 32-36 (2003).
- 384. S. L. Klein, K. L. Flanagan, Sex differences in immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* **16**, 626-638 (2016).
- 385. R. Y. Chen *et al.*, Estradiol inhibits Th17 cell differentiation through inhibition of ROR γ T transcription by recruiting the ER α /REA complex to estrogen response elements of the ROR γ T promoter. *J Immunol* **194**, 4019-4028 (2015).

- 386. C. Deng *et al.*, The Imbalance of B-Lymphocyte Subsets in Subjects with Different Glucose Tolerance: Relationship with Metabolic Parameter and Disease Status. *J Diabetes Res* **2017**, 5052812 (2017).
- 387. A. Vasanthakumar *et al.*, Sex-specific adipose tissue imprinting of regulatory T cells. *Nature* **579**, 581-585 (2020).
- 388. N. T. Aggarwal, M. M. Mielke, Sex Differences in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurol Clin* **41**, 343-358 (2023).
- 389. P. K. Coyle, What Can We Learn from Sex Differences in MS? *J Pers Med* **11**, (2021).
- 390. S. Cerri, L. Mus, F. Blandini, Parkinson's Disease in Women and Men: What's the Difference? *J Parkinsons Dis* **9**, 501-515 (2019).
- 391. C. Verhagen, J. Janssen, G. J. Biessels, O. E. Johansen, L. G. Exalto, Females with type 2 diabetes are at higher risk for accelerated cognitive decline than males: CAROLINA-COGNITION study. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 32, 355-364 (2022).
- 392. V. Raman, V. Kose, S. Somalwar, K. S. Dwidmuthe, S. Rao, Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome and Its Association With Menopausal Symptoms in Post-Menopausal Women: A Scoping Review. *Cureus* 15, e39069 (2023).
- 393. M. A. Pombo, Y. Zheng, Z. Fei, G. B. Martin, H. G. Rosli, Use of RNA-seq data to identify and validate RT-qPCR reference genes for studying the tomato-Pseudomonas pathosystem. *Scientific Reports* **7**, 44905 (2017).
- 394. L. L. Long *et al.*, Shared and distinctive features of the gut microbiome of C57BL/6 mice from different vendors and production sites, and in response to a new vivarium. *Lab Anim (NY)* **50**, 185-195 (2021).
- 395. A. V. Matveyenko, P. C. Butler, Islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP) transgenic rodents as models for type 2 diabetes. *Ilar j* **47**, 225-233 (2006).
- 396. B. Engelhardt, P. Vajkoczy, R. O. Weller, The movers and shapers in immune privilege of the CNS. *Nat Immunol* **18**, 123-131 (2017).
- 397. K. Alves de Lima, J. Rustenhoven, J. Kipnis, Meningeal Immunity and Its Function in Maintenance of the Central Nervous System in Health and Disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* **38**, 597-620 (2020).
- 398. X. Chen *et al.*, Cerebral amyloid angiopathy is associated with glymphatic transport reduction and time-delayed solute drainage along the neck arteries. *Nat Aging* **2**, 214-223 (2022).
- 399. S. Da Mesquita, Z. Fu, J. Kipnis, The Meningeal Lymphatic System: A New Player in Neurophysiology. *Neuron* **100**, 375-388 (2018).
- 400. S. Da Mesquita *et al.*, Functional aspects of meningeal lymphatics in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **560**, 185-191 (2018).
- F. Herisson *et al.*, Direct vascular channels connect skull bone marrow and the brain surface enabling myeloid cell migration. *Nat Neurosci* 21, 1209-1217 (2018).
- 402. S. Mundt *et al.*, Conventional DCs sample and present myelin antigens in the healthy CNS and allow parenchymal T cell entry to initiate neuroinflammation. *Sci Immunol* **4**, (2019).
- 403. S. Brioschi *et al.*, Heterogeneity of meningeal B cells reveals a lymphopoietic niche at the CNS borders. *Science* **373**, (2021).
404. K. Shi *et al.*, Bone marrow hematopoiesis drives multiple sclerosis progression. *Cell* **185**, 2234-2247.e2217 (2022).

Vita

Edric D. Winford

Doctoral Candidate

Department of Neuroscience

Educational Institutions

University of Missouri-Columbia, Columbia, MO 2012-2017

B.A in Biology

University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY 2017-Present

Doctor of Philosophy, Neuroscience

Scholastic and Professional Honors

McCullers Scholar

Lyman T Johnson Torch Bearer Award

Outstanding Research Presentation, Barnstable Brown Diabetes and Obesity Research Day

Southern Eastern Conference (SEC) Emerging Scholar

The American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental

Therapeutics (ASPET) Mentoring Network

Neuroscience Scholars Program (NSP) Associate

Diversity Supplement, NINDS

Volunteer and Service

Search Committee - Vice Dean for Diversity Equity Inclusion, College of Medicine

Program Committee – African American Research Training Scholars Program (AARTS)

Planning Committee - Ubuntu: Minority Graduate Student Orientation

Recruitment & Retention Chair- Black Graduate and Professional Student Association.

Search Committee - Coordinator for Center for Graduate and Professional Diversity Initiatives

Near Peer Mentor - ASPET SURF undergraduate research program

Peer Mentor - NIH IMSD undergraduate research program

Professional Publications

Nirmal Verma[#], Gopal Viswanathan Velmurugan#, **Edric Winford**, Han Ly, Deepak Kotiya, Gopal Viswanathan Velmurugan, Noah Leibold, Laura Radulescu, Sanda Despa, Kuey C. Chen, Linda J Van Eldik⁵, Peter T. Nelson⁵, Donna M. Wilcock, Gregory A. Jicha, David K. Powel, Jeffrey H Walton, Manuel F. Navedo[,] Matthew A. Nystoriak, Claire Troakes, Henrik Zetterberg, John Hardy, Tammaryn Lashley, Andrew J. Murray, Ann M Stowe, Larry B.Goldstein, Geert Jan Biessels, and Florin Despa. "Inflammation and reduced cerebral AB clearance induced by pancreatic amylin." *Communication Biology*. 2022. #-co-first author.

Davis, S.M., Collier, L.A., **Winford, E.D**., Leonardo, C.C., Ajmo, C.T., Foran, E.A., Kopper, T.J., Gensel, J.C. and Pennypacker, K.R., 2018. "Leukemia Inhibitory Factor modulates the peripheral immune response in a rat model of emergent large vessel occlusion." *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *15*(1), 288.

Adam D. Bachstetter, Jenny Lutshumba, **Edric Winford**, Erin L Abner, Barbra J. Martin, Jordan P. Harp, Linda J. Van Eldik, Frederick A. Schmitt, Donna M. Wilcock, Ann M Stowe, Gregory A. Jicha, Barbara S. Nikolajczyk. "T-cell immunodeficiency in women with mild cognitive impairment" *Brain Communications*. 2023

Edric D. Winford